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revenge but in bringing about a change in the other 
person. He finally came to the conclusion that he would 
not retaliate but actually convey his good wishes to both 
the client and to Bhaskar.

He met them both pleasantly and cheerfully wished them 
the best for the future and assured them of his support 
in case of any need. He assured the client that going to 
Bhaskar was like going to Avinash’s family member and 
that he held no grudge or spite. To Bhaskar he offered 
him access to all the client’s files, papers, documents and 
other things lying in his office and assured him of all help 
in any matter in future. Both the client and Bhaskar were 
deeply touched. Bhaskar, being an old friend, realised 
his grave error and broke down and profusely apologised 
for having taken this step and offered to step out, which 
Avinash lovingly refused. Their friendship became thicker 
and Bhaskar was a wiser person thereafter.

Can this act of Avinash be considered ahimsa? Most 
certainly yes.

Ahimsa, as is commonly understood, means practising 
non-violence but it is much more than that. It is not 
restricted to the physical dimension. Real ahimsa is 
practised in thought, word and deed. Restricting and 
controlling our physical violent reactions is fine but it is 
incomplete without verbal and mental congruence with 
that control. Thus if Avinash had not had a showdown, 
it was good, but the real ahimsa was achieved when he 
harboured no ill feelings in his mind and went to make 
peace. This was not easy at all. In fact, mental ahimsa 
is exponentially more difficult than physical ahimsa. But 
when practised and implemented, the power that it can 
wield is immeasurable and infinite.

The classic example is that of Mahatma Gandhi himself. 
His body was lean and frail and perhaps even a little lad 
could have easily knocked him down, but the strength 
which he drew from his ahimsa was able to move 
millions of people across India at his call and for any 
cause suggested by him. That was because he practised 

There were two old friends Bhaskar and Avinash who 
were inseparable. Both became professional lawyers. 
However, as it so happens in life, Bhaskar, who was 
not doing so well in his professional practice, got an 
opportunity to provide his services to a big client who was 
actually Avinash’s client for several years. The client had 
approached Bhaskar to turn over his entire business from 
Avinash to him in the hope of getting more economical 
rates from Bhaskar.

Bhaskar was fully aware that it would be a deceitful and 
despicable act if he took over this client’s work and he 
wrestled with his conscience for over two days to be 
able to say ‘no’. Eventually, he lost the battle with his 
conscience and agreed to take over the brief. He did this 
clandestinely so that Avinash would not know that he had 
done so.

Avinash initially did not realise that it was Bhaskar who 
had taken over the client, but truth always surfaces 
somehow. A few days later he came to know from one 
of his friends working with the client that it was Bhaskar 
who had betrayed him. His natural reaction was 
intense anger and hatred towards Bhaskar, which was 
understandable. He wanted to retaliate by having a 
showdown with Bhaskar and cutting off all ties with him 
and exploring ways of seeking revenge by damaging 
Bhaskar’s relationship with the client. He was in a position 
to do that because in the past he had served that client for 
many years and therefore he knew a lot of things about 
the client which would have been sufficient to compel him 
to return to him.

The temptation to take these severe vindictive steps was 
very strong and it took him a long time to resist it, but 
eventually he did. He decided to look at the past lovely 
relationship with Bhaskar and the ‘good’ part within him 
urged him not to destroy that. When his mind started 
thinking such positive thoughts, the creativity of his mind 
also increased. He had heard a saying in Gujarati (Sachu 
bal badlo levama nahin, pan samhena manas ma badlav 
lavama chhe) meaning that real strength is not in taking 

NAMASKAAR
CHETAN DALAL

Chartered Accountant

THE REAL MEANING OF AHIMSA
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congruence of thought, word and deed in ahimsa. Ahimsa 
was strongly advocated by Mahatma Gandhi during our 
freedom movement and there is no doubt that perhaps 
this was the single strongest weapon which gave us our 
independence. It is best illustrated by the Dandi March 
when hundreds of Indians stoically endured the Britishers’ 
beatings without retaliation.

Though the conduct of ahimsa may externally appear to 
be a sign of weakness and surrender, actually it is exactly 
the opposite. To practice ahimsa one needs superlative 
strength and self-control. It is said that real power or 

strength is not that which one can exhibit in a wrestling 
match or a battle of any kind, but it is that which is needed 
to curb one’s anger, hatred, emotions and power itself. 
Ahimsa is that supreme power which is needed not to 
control another person, but one’s own self. The biggest 
battle in life is the conquest over one’s own self.

Therefore, friends, let’s try to bring peace in our minds. 
Our words and deeds will automatically follow suit. Do 
not be perturbed by insults, taunts, or situations where 
anger and hatred are automatic consequences. The only 
antidote for such negative emotions is love.

विक्लिो िीर्यहीनो रः स दैिमनुिर्यर े।
िीराः सम्ाविरातमानो न दैिं परु्यपासर॥े

Only the timid and the weak leave things to destiny (daivam) but the strong and the 
self-confident never bank on destiny or luck (bhagya) 

— (Valmiki Raamaayan  2.23.16)
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EDITORIAL
I hope you and your near and dear ones are well during the 
most challenging health emergency that this generation 
has seen.

A nation is the widest form of society that we identify with 
and manage. Individuals form families; and families make 
a community, a city and a nation state. Geographically, 
politically and psychologically we have reached thus far 
in the evolution of mankind. A nation is the sum total of all 
the differences that we have been able to bring together 
in a cohesive, interwoven unit. A nation is meant to bridge 
differences, like a thread that holds together different 
flowers in a garland. Differences assume less importance 
and get subsumed in the larger reality of a nation. 
Backgrounds, ethnicities, religions, languages, 
histories and all other nuances must find their 
culmination in a nation. This in my view makes ‘India, 
that is Bharat’, as per the first Article of our Constitution.

India is the last ancient, continuously surviving 
civilization, and it finds its common denominator within 
an incomparable variety. For example, there are many 
scripts and languages which are influenced by or rotted 
in Sanskrit; a common set of civilizational values still 
becomes the binding force – a SamanVayaKaari Shakti.

We are also faced with threats. As citizens we should 
be able to see trouble when politics and media focus on 
our differences and portray them as divisions. Unlike 
the Indian approach, the Cartesian approach sees the 
universe made up of smaller fragments that are simply 
put together but do not have a common continuum. For 
example, in ‘modern’ India ‘identity’ is made to stand out. 
Identity grants benefits – social and religious identities 
get concessions, jobs, educational reservation, and so 
on. So people keep lesser identity in the forefront above 
all else. This sorry state of affairs in our country also 
results in throwing merit into the dustbin and accentuating 
separation to an unimaginable extent.

Another threat is colonisation of the Indian mind that is 
perpetuated. In the words of Shri Amitabh Bachchan, 
we are still ‘respectful and tolerant to colonial 

‘INDIA, THAT IS BHARAT’

indoctrination’. He was speaking about branding of 
words at the IAA World Congress and gave the example 
of Thiruvananthapuram which till recently was known as 
Trivandrum. He said, Trivandrum meant nothing. Whereas 
Thiruvananthapuram means Thiru Anantha Puram – 
Shelter of the Infinite. Today, many ‘educated’ Indians 
twist phonetics of Indian words by messing the longs as 
shorts and the shorts as longs in imitation. Yog is Yogaa, 
Raamaayan is Raamayanaa, Himaalay is Himalaayaa. 
During a session I attended, this turned out to be quite 
embarrassing and funny when a person introduced the 
next speaker as Kamini, when her name was Kaamini. 
Many Dishonest words give dishonest results, Bachchanji 
said. He gave the example of Rabindranath Thakur who is 
known as Tagore although his family name is Thakur and 
their house was in Thakur Baadi. Such usage changes the 
‘meaning, perception, concept, consideration, viewpoint’ 
of words. We need to pay attention to this and reclaim the 
true import of words and their beautiful meanings.

Lastly, as Indians we have to ask – how do we see 
ourselves and what makes us feel proud of who 
we are? A generation ago it was three Es – English, 
Education and Employment. But that is changing. The 
biggest success stories today are not necessarily rooted 
in the three Es. In the last three decades, we have seen 
a surge in enterprise, education, and confidence despite 
government interference and even obstruction. Yet, we 
are still aspiring to be AtmaNirbhar. AtmaNirbhar comes 
from the word Bhar, which means full or complete – the 
confidence that comes from the feeling of being full or 
complete in one’s true identity. How can we feel full 
and complete and interact with a globalised world with 
a feeling of incompleteness or lack or neediness? How 
can we be rooted in our civilizational ethos and apply it 
to the current context? These are some questions as we 
approach our 74th Independence Day!

Raman Jokhakar
Editor
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This is my first communication to you through this 
column and I must tell you that I feel honoured and 
humbled on being elected President of our Society 
for the year 2020-21. I assure you with a deep sense 
of commitment that with such an enthusiastic team 
of Office-Bearers and Managing Committee members, 
I will do my best to continue the good work done 
year after year by Team BCAS in the best interests 
of our members. I also convey my deep and 
sincere thanks to all past presidents and seniors for 
reposing their trust and faith in me and considering me fit 
to take up this prestigious and responsible position. Some 
of my thoughts for the year are elaborately expressed in 
the Annual Plan published elsewhere in this Journal.

I consider myself and my team to be extremely fortunate 
that our term started with the 72nd Founding Day lecture 
delivered by the incomparable Mr. Deepak Parekh, CA 
and Chairman of HDFC Limited. He showered accolades 
on us by stating that
●  72 years is a very long period for a voluntary organisation, 
not just to exist, but to thrive
● You have all stayed true to your vision of BCAS. I was 
surprised to see how apt is your vision statement of being 
a principle-centred and learning-oriented organisation 
which is proactive to change, and
● It is this vision that has held this group together over 
the years.
So motivating and encouraging! His statement that 
he is not the owner of HDFC but just an employee till 
recently was so humbling. It is such simplicity, ethical 
entrepreneurship and vision that can create large and 
globally-respected organisations and brands.

Since mid-March, 2020, we have conducted almost the 
entire range of events from lecture meetings and panel 
discussions to workshops, and even virtual Residential 
Refresher / study courses (including group discussions), 
in this manner. It is observed that digital makes the 
contents and the participants much more systematic, 
structured and disciplined. The faculties are at ease with 
knowledge-sharing from their own location without hectic 
travelling and logistics issues. The personal touch and 
warmth, fellowship and recreation is surely missed in case 
of RRCs and other residential programmes, however, the 

commitment, dedication and hard work of the volunteers 
remain the same with the change of platform from physical 
to digital.

In retrospect, how true are the words of the wise who said: 
Reinvention is never easy. One must devise an entirely 
new way of working, without the reassurance that comes 
with replicating already existing best practices. This isn’t 
just about finding new applications for the technology; 
India needs to anticipate its impact as well. Yet, this 
is precisely how every previous transformation has 
played out and it is this attitude of flexibility, courage and 
judicious risk-taking that will let India be in the forefront of 
the Fourth Industrial Revolution.*

The CA exams for May, 2020 were postponed and finally 
cancelled, to be merged with the November exams. This 
raises the issue of preparedness for the future possibilities 
of conducting CA exams online. I am sure the regulators 
have moved into action mode to convert this challenge 
into an opportunity.

August is full of festivities like Janmashtami, Ganeshotsav 
and Independence Day. It would be advisable to restrict 
ourselves and celebrate within the family. Today, the 
health, safety and well-being of one’s self as well as of 
others are of utmost importance. We can pray to Lord 
Ganesha to free us from this unprecedented situation so 
that next year we would celebrate in a normal manner. 
For Independence Day we can seek our independence – 
physical and psychological – from the lockdown situation 
so that normalcy returns to our lives.

Friends, please feel free to write to me at president@
bcasonline.org.

* Bridgital Nation - Solving Technology’s People Problem, 
by N. Chandrasekaran and Roopa Purushothaman

With Best Regards,

CA Suhas Paranjpe
President

FROM THE PRESIDENT
My Dear Members,
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DATA-DRIVEN INTERNAL AUDIT – I

BACKGROUND
The basics of Internal Audit remain the same – add value 
and manage risk; but it cannot operate in isolation, and 
just as technology continues to revolutionise the way 
we do business in the 21st century, Internal Audit is not 
immune from disruption.

The business environment is changing rapidly in the face 
of the data revolution. IDC predicts that worldwide data 
will increase by 61% and reach 175 zetta bytes by 2025. 
What is new is the ubiquity and volume of data. From 
big data to data science to predictive analytics, data is 
everywhere.

Management today makes use of tools and technologies 
like ERP, analytics, visualisation, artificial intelligence, 
etc., and converts available data into information for 
better, more informed decisions impacting the business. 
Should the Internal Auditor be left behind?

Internal Audit is one of the professions where 
developments affecting data (data availability, data 
sources, data analysis, etc.) are particularly important 
and impactful.

The opening lines of the popular science fiction serial of 
the 1970s, ‘Star Trek – Space, The Final Frontier’, are: 
These are the voyages of the Star Ship Enterprise. 
Its five-year mission – to explore strange new worlds, 
to seek out new life and new civilizations, to boldly 
go where no man has gone before. Those words are 
etched in our minds.

To draw a parallel to that, the future of Internal Audit is 
to explore and apply new tools and technologies. Not just 
for the sake of ‘me too’ but to be relevant and –
• do more (continuously add value) with less resources;
• be in tune with audit tools and technology, similar 
to those being adopted by businesses (increasingly, 
management is now working with 4th and 5th generation 
tools and technologies and auditors cannot use 
1st or 2nd generation tools and technologies any 
more);
• continuously upgrade skills in the face of this data 
revolution.

TOWARDS A DATA-DRIVEN FUTURE – 
SURVEY
CaseWare IDEA Inc., Canada conducted a survey in late 
2019 wherein about 400 Internal Audit professionals from 
junior auditors to the C-Suite level were surveyed and 
responses were gathered from around the world on their 
approach to audit through the lens of technology.

To offer an unbiased assessment of the state of Internal 
Audit in 2020, this survey was tool agnostic.

DEEPJEE SINGHAL | MANISH PIPALIA
Chartered Accountants
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Geographic Distribution
The survey was promoted globally across multiple 
channels. Although a plurality (42%) of respondents 
operate out of North America, the survey results reflect 
the views of audit professionals from all major global 
geographic regions, including Asia Pacific (20%), Latin 
America (17%), Europe (11%), Africa (8%), and the 
Middle East (2%).
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TOPICS COVERED IN THE SURVEY
Feedback was sought from the respondents on the 
following areas:
• Current and planned elements of Internal Audit 
approaches;
• Most significant Internal Audit challenges;
• Compliance demands;
• Data analytics in Internal Audit;
• Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning in Internal 
Audit activities;
• Cloud Technology in Internal Audit;
• Training and adoption of audit technology;
• Priorities for 2020, and much more.

Findings of the survey
The survey findings suggested that individuals and 
leadership within the Internal Audit profession are aware 
of the unique opportunities that are being offered by new 
technologies and data analytics, but they are struggling 
to:

• Embrace and adopt these new technologies
• Train internal audit staff on technology tools
• Move from traditional, manual processes to data-driven 
   auditing processes.

Compliance demands – a perennial challenge for Internal 
Audit – continue to rank as one of the top priorities for 
auditors and data ethics is taken seriously by most 
respondents.

The year ahead for Internal Audit will be marked by:
• The adoption of data analysis technology,
• The optimisation of existing audit technology,
• Training auditors on audit technology.

Many of these challenges and priorities are interconnected 
and together they represent a global movement towards 
data-driven audit.

Top challenges – an overview
In the survey, audit professionals were asked to address 
their biggest audit challenges currently, and the answers 
reflect the views of respondents as they stood at the 
close of 2019. When asked to name their top Internal 
Audit challenges, three clear priorities emerged as the 
top challenges faced by auditors, regardless of role or 
geographic location.

Leading the charge was the need to move from traditional, 
manual processes to data-driven audit, a priority which 

62% of respondents named as a top audit challenge. 
Close behind were the need to adopt new technology 
(57%) and addressing the skills shortage (47%).

Need for adoption of data-driven audit
Data-driven audit uses technology, big data, data 
analytics, and even predictive analytics, to make auditing 
a data-centric, risk-sensitive, technology-enabled, 
continuous activity.

Data-driven auditing is an approach marked by:
• The use of data analytics technology;
• A decreased reliance on manual tools and processes 
(e.g., traditional spreadsheets and sampling);
• Results-based decision-making that enables both the 
auditor and the client to find more value in an audit;
• Using these approaches to enable management to 
minimise risk.

Data-driven audit shirks conventional, manual 
approaches to auditing to realise a future of data-based 
decision-making.

BENEFITS OF DATA ANALYTICS – KEY 
POINTS
Clients, customers and investors alike have little 
tolerance when controls fail to reveal erroneous 
data used in operational decisions and financial 
reporting. Undetected errors in systems and data 
can also yield opportunities for fraud and abuse. 
The best tool that can be used to determine the reliability 
and integrity of information systems is data analysis 
software.

Audit results gleaned from competent data analysis 
activities by Internal Audit can shine a light on the issues 
lying within the organisation’s data. When properly 
used by trained audit staff, data analysis software 
can be incorporated into audit plans to provide both 
assurance and consulting service opportunities to the 
organisation’s information systems and thus become the 
true cornerstone of an effective audit function.

Some of the key benefits of the use of data analytics are:
• In-depth review of process-generated data rather than 
traditional sample checks which are ineffective and 
inefficient;
• Ability to reveal surprises and insights which the client 
management never knew about – true value add;
• Possibility to go beyond controls and focus on cost 
saving and revenue maximisation;
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• Concurrent use of data analytics in audit significantly 
reduces compliance costs;
• Framework to automate complex Management Control 
‘MIS’ reports through Automatic Routines – ‘Macros’.

DATA ANALYTICS MATURITY DECISION 
FOR INTERNAL AUDIT
Different types of data analytics
Organisations need to consider different types of data 
analytics:
• Descriptive analytics interprets historical data;
• Predictive analytics predicts future outcomes based 
on historical data;
• Diagnostic analytics examines the data and asks 
‘why?’
• Prescriptive analytics identifies the best course of 
action based on the analysis of data.

The data analytics maturity scale
Whatever the benefits of automating data analytics, the 
organisation needs to determine at the strategic level 
how data analytics might best contribute to its audit goals.

This strategic activity can benefit from considering data 
analytics in terms of ‘maturity’ stages below:
Traditional Auditing: Data analytics may be used but 
is mainly descriptive and applied during the planning 
phase.
• Ad Hoc Integrated Analytics: This may include both 
descriptive and diagnostic analytics at the planning and 
execution phases (e.g., identifying outliers), but is carried 

out in an ad hoc rather than systematic manner.
• Continuous Risk Assessment and Auditing: This 
may include all types or categories of data analytics in 
a pre-defined automated set. This set provides ongoing 
data to auditors.
• Integrated Continuous Auditing and Continuous 
Monitoring: A full set of automated analytics is deployed 
and permits continuous monitoring by management, as 
well as a continuous data flow to the audit shop. The 
systems are largely seamless and integrated.
• Continuous Assurance of Enterprise Risk 
Management: A full set of automated analytics is 
deployed, as with level 4. In addition, there is a further 
emphasis on aligning continuous data analysis with 
strategic enterprise goals. The internal audit plan is 
‘dynamic’ in response to risk fluctuation.

CONCLUSION
The road for internal auditing in 2020 and beyond would 
be:
* Upgrade skill-sets and become aware; explore and 
apply available and emerging tools and techniques;
* Adopt a data-driven approach to auditing, using tools 
and technologies like audit apps, data analytics, machine 
learning, artificial intelligence, etc.;
* To add value to the organisation and be a trusted 
business adviser to management.

The second part of this article will cover practical cases 
with steps for using analytics and conducting data-driven 
audits. 
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‘MUTUALLY ASSURED DESTRUCTION’ 
IN CORPORATE LENDING

Mutually assured destruction is a term normally associated 
with nuclear war.

Its origins go back to the post-World War II era when the 
then three superpowers of the world – the USA, the Soviet 
Union and China – engaged in a race to spend billions of 
dollars to build nuclear weapons. Other countries including 
India followed suit. But these countries quickly realised 
that if and when there is a nuclear engagement between 
two nuclear-armed countries, it will lead to disruption and 
destruction on such a large scale that perhaps it would 
destroy life for generations to come. And the destruction 
may not be limited only to the countries engaged in the 
war, but perhaps to the entire humanity. This potential 
destruction caused by a nuclear war is what came to be 
known in the US as ‘mutually assured destruction’. The 
acronym for this, ‘MAD’, is very, very apt!

‘MAD’ is a term which today can be widely applied in 
several areas, including the Indian Corporate Lending 
scenario. Just as in nuclear war everyone destroys 
everyone else, the stakeholders in this industry have 
acted in such a way that they have ended up in a ‘MAD’ 
state.

WHY THE PLETHORA OF NPAs
Today in the lending industry in India there is a plethora 
of NPAs. We have seen the biggest names in the industry 
crumble, we have seen insolvencies like never before 
and we have seen unprecedented destruction of wealth. 
The question to be asked is how did we land up in this 
scenario? What was it that led to this? To answer this 
question, we need to start by looking at corporate lending 
prior to the NPAs and prior to the build-up of all those 
bad loans. To understand this better, there is a need to 
comprehend a very simple methodology that any lender 
uses while lending money to a corporate. This model is 
called EIC – basically, economy, industry and company. 
A lender will look at not only the company, its promoters, 
its business, cash flows, etc., but also look at it in 
reference to the industry in which it operates. Thereafter, 
the industry is analysed based on the prevalent economic 
scenario.

There is now one more ‘E’ to this model and that is 
environment or the global environment / economic 
state. The key point is that none of these elements, i.e., 
company / industry / economy can or should be analysed 
in a silo. The analysis always has to be comprehensive 
(or in toto, if you wish).

Statements such as ‘India should grow at 5% or 8% or 
10%’ are very naïve, to say the least. All we need to do 
is to look around and ask which countries have grown at 
this pace, or have even grown at all over the last decade? 
And, what has growth brought? Has it ensured equal 
distribution of wealth amongst all people? Has it pulled 
people out of poverty? If not, what good is this growth? 
India, after all, is not a bubble which floats around by 
itself. Its economic state is a result of what happens 
around the world. This is typically what is called ‘big 
picture dynamics’. Unfortunately, when we forget the big 
picture and try to look at the short term and view things in 
a silo, it inevitably leads to trouble and destruction.

So, along with the EIC model, traditionally any lender 
would also looked at the all-important three Cs – 
Company (promoters, business, products, etc.), Cash 
flow (serviceability) and Collateral (back-up). This EIC+3 
Cs pretty much worked fine for many years.

Then there was a huge change in the demand-supply 
dynamic that came in with licenses being distributed to 
a huge number of NBFCs, small finance banks, MFIs, 
etc. All these players wanted a piece of the very under-
penetrated but very attractive Indian market. The Indian 
market though very large, had a certain segment that the 
whole industry was after. This segment was already being 
catered to by banks. But now these new players also 
wanted to break in. The question for these new lenders 
was what USP could they offer to lure these customers 
away? Then began a rat race to grab the all-coveted 
market share of borrowers.

And this is what led to the creation of a series of new, 
innovative, flashy, unthought-of financial solutions under 
the domain of structured finance. Structured finance 

SHRUTI MONE
Financial Analyst
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typically features off-balance sheet funding, name-lending, 
zero coupon bonds, etc. Some of these structures were 
very attractive to the borrowers because they allowed 
them to raise debt without disclosing additional leverage 
on their financials. While there was nothing inherently 
wrong with these structures, what went wrong was 
that the lenders who were lending under these models 
completely forgot and ignored the EIC+3 Cs model. The 
big picture dynamics also seemed to have been forgotten. 
That is what has led us to this mess.

'NAME-LENDING' BECOMES A PROBLEM
While there is no dearth of examples to prove this, if we 
can just pick a couple of very well written and publicised 
cases which went bad, we will realise how aptly the term 
‘MAD’ fits in the corporate lending business. Both of these 
cases can technically fall under the domain of ‘name-
lending’ which is basically lending to a reputed customer 
without thorough analysis and without collaterals (in most 
cases).

The corporate lending business has five critical elements 
– the borrowing entity, the promoter, the lender, the 
auditors and the rating agencies. The best example of 
how these five elements collaborated to ensure ‘MAD’ is 
the downfall of the IL&FS group. In this particular case, the 
reason that it stands as one of the largest NPAs in history 
is that almost all the stakeholders acted with no vision, 
no big-picture dynamics and with a complete ignorance 
of basics. The lack of integrity from the management 
and a total lack of accountability from the auditors and 
rating agencies allowed IL&FS to become the mess that 
it is today. The lenders, on the other hand, were guilty of 
showing blind faith in the name, in the rating agencies and 
lending without thorough analysis and collaterals in some 
cases. This all but ensured their own destruction in the 
process, along with the destruction of several corporate 
entities within the IL&FS group. This is a classical example 
of ‘MAD’.

The second apt example would be Kingfisher Airlines. 
If we look at this case carefully through the lens of the 
EIC+3 Cs model, some glaring, unfortunate decision-
making on the part of the promoter, the company and 
other stakeholders comes to the fore.

The Indian aviation industry was booming at the time 
when KFA was launched. However, for years together it 
has been a known fact that globally only five to ten airlines 
have ever shown sustainable profitability; and there is 
a reason for this – this industry, along with telecom, is 

completely marred by cut-throat competition. The fact 
is the players in this industry cannot really control or 
decide a floor price for themselves. Besides, to enter 
aviation you have to invest large sums of money and 
you have to operate almost completely at the mercy of 
your competitors who decide the price that customers 
are willing to pay, on the one hand, and the ATF and 
other costs, on the other. There is very little an aviation 
company can control on its own. Now, the important thing 
to note is that any company to be sustainable has to 
make profits; possibly after a few years of operations in 
industries where there are longer gestation periods. But in 
the long run making profits is a must. The revenue model 
has to be robust enough to make sustainable profits. In 
aviation, the only thing you can perhaps control is a few 
peripheral costs. But really, without any predictability of a 
top line, it is extremely difficult to run a profitable company 
and to make sure that it sustains. That’s where the KFA 
story is very interesting.

At the time of its launch, we had a reputed promoter 
who had run a very successful liquor business. When he 
launched the airline, he seems to have had this vision that 
his airline would resonate the King of Good Times slogan. 
With that in mind, KFA was launched with a brand-new 
fleet, best in-flight entertainment, best available crew 
and amazing meals; in short, a fully satisfying customer 
experience. All seemed hunky dory for a while. While the 
airline was not making too much money, it still seemed to 
be able to sustain its debt and operate comfortably. What 
happened next was just naked ambition – the decision to 
take over Air Deccan which was a low-cost carrier.

HIGH COST FOR A LOW-COST BUY
As it turns out, this was the starting point of all troubles 
for KFA. With this takeover, the airline had a low-cost 
carrier under its brand and was still trying to match its 
‘best in industry’ service and the other standards that it 
was known for. With the pricing of the low-cost carrier 
being about 30 to 40% lower than the full-cost carrier, it 
was a simple case of costs outweighing revenues. It was 
unabashedly a failed business model. Typically, any low-
cost airline is supposed to only fly its passengers from 
point A to point B. No value-added services are provided 
because the cost of the tickets is not enough to cover 
any other expenses. But KFA Red, which was the low-
cost carrier, ignored this and started operating in its own 
silo. Again, a case of losing sight of the basics and losing 
sight of the big picture. While this happened, to cover the 
deficit between income and costs, KFA kept leveraging 
its balance sheet more and more and more. The lenders, 
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knowingly or unknowingly, played a crucial role in allowing 
this leverage to build up, eventually leading to destruction 
of both the company and of themselves.

This was done through the use of another common 
concept of corporate lending, i.e., ‘refinancing’, which 
is a common end-use stated on the sanction letters of 
borrowers in several industries, including real estate. 
What it means is that when a Rs. 100-crore loan is up for 
repayment in the next two to three months, the borrower 
approaches another banker and asks for a Rs. 100-crore 
loan to repay the first one. And if this cycle continues to 
go on, it basically means the borrower never actually 
repays the principal amount to any lender from his own 
pocket. It is like one lender financing another through 
the borrower’s balance sheet. This eventually ensures 
‘mutually assured destruction’ because the banker 
intentionally or unintentionally helps the borrower get 
into a habit of never having to repay the principal 
amount.

MONEY LENT FOR ALL THE WRONG 
REASONS
Then there is over-leveraging, another demon that has 
led to the downfall of most companies. It is high time 
the lending industry restrains itself when it realises the 
company has passed its ‘sustainable debt’. This is another 
concept which seems to be lost on the industry. Lenders 
keep lending to the same company over and over again 
even though its cash flows simply can’t keep up with the 
piling debt. What makes it worse is that the money is 
lent for all the wrong reasons, such as meeting quarterly 
targets, eating into another lender’s market share, name-
lending because the promoter is reputed and so on. None 
of these loans are lent on the basis of any analysis. Once 
again, a case of moving away from the basics, not thinking 

of the big picture and eventually mutually destructing.

A very important point to note here is that bankers or 
lenders are not meant to be in the business of invoking 
securities. It is the least productive thing a lender can 
do. It basically means that your entire assessment has 
failed and you are now relying totally on your back-up. A 
collateral is just that, a back-up. Yet today, most lenders 
spend substantial amounts of time and money in trying to 
invoke securities and recover their money.

Now, we can ask whether all this is too idealistic. 
Shouldn’t we look at being practical? Who cares which 
company survives and which doesn’t? But the problem 
with this approach is that it has created a systemic issue 
of ‘bad credit’. And the inconvenient thing about ideals 
is that they are difficult to chase, they require resilience, 
they require courage, they require character. But we also 
need to remember that if we have all these and we reach 
our ideals, or even close to our ideals, very few things can 
topple us.

Therefore, a lender needs to have the will and the vision to 
say ‘no’ when a borrower inches towards over-leveraging 
or is struggling with a flawed revenue model.

No promoter who has built his or her business from the 
ground up wants to see it destroyed. And therefore, 
lenders and rating agencies and other stakeholders need 
to also think about sustainability of the businesses they 
are dealing with and, in turn, their own sustainability. 
The sooner this realisation of interdependence and 
responsibility comes, the sooner will we start digging 
ourselves out of our graves. Perhaps, then, we will 
automatically also see that there is enough credit available 
for the people who need it. 
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EXCEL IN WHAT YOU DO – SOME PERSONAL TIPS

I covered some perspectives on Business Excellence in 
my previous article1. In this one, I will share the flavour of 
Personal Excellence. Often, we hear people say, ‘follow 
your heart, pursue your passion, and you will excel’. 
How true! That is indeed the way to go. Not only will this 
lead us seamlessly on the path of excellence but we will 
also be happy and derive great satisfaction. Volumes 
have been written on how to turn your passion into your 
vocation. There are distinguished role models, too, such 
as Walt Disney, Warren Buffett and Steve Jobs. If you 
have cracked this code, great! And perhaps I may not 
have anything meaningful to add here.

However, life is not always so simple. Let’s take two 
viewpoints:

a) Firstly, do I know what I am passionate about? If yes, 
how do I make this my true calling?

b) And if this does not seem doable at least in the 
foreseeable future, what do I do to excel in my chosen 
path and be happy?

The growing up years
A child growing up gets fascinated about multiple things 
she gets to see, experience or be impacted by. These 
come from various quarters – parents, siblings, relatives, 
friends, the larger eco-system, television, movies, media, 
books, success, appreciation and, of course, now, the 
internet. Resulting from these, impressions get formed 
in the mind of what she would love to do. It is common 
for relatives and well-wishers to ask a child ‘Beta, what 
do you want to become when you grow up?’ Innocently, 
children give impromptu answers which vary across 
professions – a teacher, a pilot, a judge, a scientist, a 
doctor, an environmentalist, an actor, a hotelier, a police 
officer, an astronaut and so on. These turn out to be 
casual conversations and are not followed through in 
establishing the real passion or any planning for it. If it 
is not a clichéd vocation, some other questions prop up, 
e.g., will it provide economic stability? And what about 
social acceptance? These and more come in the way of 
a child moving in the desired direction.

Traditionally, we have grown up looking at set patterns. 

The preference is for the science stream in the senior 
school curriculum; perhaps this gives the option to switch 
later, whereas vice versa is not done. Conventionally, 
children pursuing education find themselves propelled 
towards a closed ABCDE option, that is, choose between 
becoming a (chartered) Accountant, (lawyer) Barrister, 
Civil services, Doctor or Engineer. Peer pressure has an 
influence and in some cultures youngsters are expected 
to follow the family tradition, business or profession. It 
is not uncommon to find a family of lawyers, Chartered 
Accountants, doctors or business people to encourage 
their kith and kin to follow the family vocation. But the 
times have changed now. One could start up in any field 
from A to Z and be successful. The critical success factor 
is personal excellence.

At work
Fast forward now to life where one has chosen to follow 
a selected path. By this time, there could be a growing 
realisation that our interests lie elsewhere. Sometimes 
we may not even feel deeply about this, as daily life 
gets demanding and time whizzes by. A simple exercise 
can be tried out for identifying areas of keen interest, by 
connecting the desires with skills as illustrated below 
(Figure 1).

V. SHANKAR
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intrinsic / developed in the person. Every individual has 
unique qualities or areas where s/he is strong or most 
confident about. Not only is it important to recognise 
these, but also necessary to play to these strong qualities 
as we go about life. It is also quite possible to convert 
areas which need to improve into strengths in the spheres 
that one enjoys doing. This, however, is an arduous task 
or a journey which needs to be pondered about.

Leveraging one’s strengths can lead to multiple options 
and the sweet spot lies in utilising these in the work area/s 
which give the most gratification. Such item/s, which 
depict confluence of desires and skills indicated in the 
green shaded quadrant, will be areas that the person is 
passionate about and would derive greatest satisfaction 
and joy. This ensures that there is a connect between 
the enjoyable areas and the required qualities which are 
necessary to excel. For example, a person with a feeble 
voice is unlikely to excel as a professional singer and his 
love for music is best kept listening or singing as a hobby 
for private enjoyment.

Consider cases where people are keen to undertake 
this journey but quite some distance away in getting 
to convert their passion into their life purpose. In the 
foreseeable future, one will therefore want to excel in the 
selected sphere of work. In this journey towards personal 
excellence in the chosen engagement, here are some 
specific tips on actions or paths that one could find helpful.

GET THE BIG PICTURE
It is important to comprehend the larger purpose of the 
activity / function / enterprise that one is working with. 
While the day job would be focusing on the nitty-gritty, 
the true enjoyment will come from the understanding and 
the joy of relating to the higher-level goal. The classic 
example is of the mason building a mansion, feeling the 
pride of building a marvel, while his daily routine may 
comprise mundane activities such as laying bricks with 
cement for a wall.

I have found great power in communicating this across 
the organisation so as to touch every person down the 
line on the firm’s purpose and facilitate individual connect 
and alignment. An impactful way of achieving this is 
depicted in Figure 2.

While every employee may be clear on their individual 
Goals or Key Result Areas (KRAs), this process 
enables an individual to connect these to the overall 
organisation purpose. This whole process executed 

well is a co-created one involving every person in 
the organisation as well as with inputs from key 
stakeholders. Very briefly explained, it begins with 
the organisation’s purpose, the Vision, Mission and Values 
which are translated to a Strategic Vision and articulated 
in a clear, concise manner. Every year, the Enterprise 
Balanced Scorecard2 is made which defines the Strategic 
Themes and the key Strategic Interventions across four 
perspectives – Financial, Customer, Internal Processes 
and Learning and Growth. These are cascaded into 
departmental or functional Strategy Deployment matrices 
which are then detailed out into key projects which will 
deliver the objectives. Every employee then who is linked 
to projects is able to derive individual goals for setting 
the year’s priorities. At every level there is a linkage to 
the relevant processes with the KRAs most aligned to 
the Level-3 processes. This way there is a structured 
alignment amongst individual, departmental, business 
and enterprise goals and finely integrated so that the 
entire organisation pulls in one direction. At every stage 
and interval there is a two-way communication which is 
the bedrock of a robust cohesive enterprise.

If this process is not practised in a mature manner, I 
would suggest that every individual takes the lead to 
ascertain this linkage. Like the mason who takes pride in 
laying every brick knowing that he is an integral part of 
creating a wonder, every individual would then discover 
a different meaning to their daily routine which otherwise 
may seem dreary.

CRAFT A PERSONAL & PROFESSIONAL 
GOAL
Equally important will be to set one’s personal goals. 
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These can be broadly set into short-term and long-term 
goals. Like the Balanced Scorecard done in businesses 
as referred to above, it may be worthwhile to also cast 
a personal scorecard. The perspectives, however, could 
be different:

(i) Work: What do I wish to achieve on the work front? 
Where do I wish to see myself in five to ten years’ time?
(ii) Self: How do I look at improving self over time? One 
could consider different aspects such as Health, Finance, 
Hobby, Skill-Building, Me-Time and so on.
(iii) Family: What are the various aspects around my 
immediate and extended family I want to focus on? Again, 
it could range from Health to Property to Relationships to 
Marriage to Friends.
(iv) Community: How can I contribute to and engage 
myself for the larger good? With companies engaging in 
meaningful CSR activities, it is quite easy to volunteer; as 
also in this well-connected world there are many options 
available for one to venture out for a greater purpose.

A rounded and clearer work-life covering the above 
enhances one’s life’s journey. In all of the above, the 
word Balanced may imply that there is equal weightage 
given for all the perspectives. While this could be ideal, 
typically, depending on one’s needs and stage in life, the 
weightages can vary. But what must be borne in mind is 
that there must be some focus given to each of the four 
perspectives.

SHARPEN ONE AREA – BE KNOWN 
FOR EXPERTISE IN YOUR AREA OF 
STRENGTH
Choose one area and let it be the one which is of interest 
to you and you enjoy digging deeper into it. Of course, 
it should be important to your role and business, e.g., 
GST. Make a conscious effort to develop expertise in 
that area, so much so that you begin to be known as the 
domain expert in that within your team and enterprise. 
Furthermore, keep re-skilling yourself in this area so that 
you move ahead with the times. By itself, this will open 
several doors for your life’s journey.

PICK ONE AREA WHICH IS BOSS’S KEY 
BUT DESERVES ATTENTION
While it is imperative that one understands one’s own 
role thoroughly and does a good job, it is important to 
have a broader appreciation of seniors’ roles, in particular 
that of the supervisor. It is the desire of every superior 
to have a deputy whom he can trust with some critical 
areas of work; if you can identify one aspect where you 

can do a decent job which your supervisor does not have 
much inclination for, it is a winner. Not only would you 
be executing some critical component of the supervisor’s 
role, but also be acknowledged for doing it better. Boss 
will begin to recognise your potential for taking up higher 
responsibilities. Work will take an interesting turn and 
you will equip yourself steadily to launch yourself up the 
ladder.

REINVENT YOURSELF
To make your job interesting, it is not always necessary 
to switch. Make a conscious effort to bring newness 
into your job. There needs to be a mindful endeavour to 
evaluate and improve in a consistent way. If that becomes 
your way of life, you will not only see that your job is not 
really monotonous but also feel it differently over time. 
Every period in the role will be different albeit in the 
same job. For this process I have found Benchmarking 
with peers or the best-in-class a good way to go. This 
opens up the mind on how others are progressing and 
going about things which can be emulated. In today’s 
times, the not invented here mindset has no place, and 
in fact people copy with pride. Obviously, this is not 
about infringing patents but getting inspired from best 
practices in the public domain as well as learning from 
others’ mistakes. The trend today is at the next level 
of open innovation whereby you could put your issues 
out there for any expert to opine and help you with 
innovative ideas.

PREPARE YOUR EXIT
An important element in making progress is paving the 
way for moving forward while excelling in the current 
role at the same time. Here, both the elements of 
making oneself ready for the next superior role as well 
as grooming the successor are important. Without this 
approach, one may find oneself getting stuck in one role 
or area, thereby bringing in drudgery and stagnation over 
time.

Personal excellence, a perspective
Let me conclude with a stirring narrative. There are 
several inspiring examples on personal excellence 
from the Silicon Valley, Fortune 500 Companies, Global 
Leaders, Startups or Nobel Laureates, but I chose one 
from Bollywood – Kishore Kumar! (Disclaimer: I am a die-
hard Kishoreda fan).

Writer Javed Akhtar3 opines that personal excellence is 
driven by striving for next-level performance for one’s own 
fulfilment and not just for proving it to others. He recalls 
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an incident. R.D. Burman (Panchamda) hummed a song, 
Mere naina saawan bhaadhon (film Mehbooba) which he 
had composed based on Raag Sivaranjini. Listening to 
the tune, Kishoreda reacted, saying this was meant for 
Manna Dey. But after some convincing he agreed to sing; 
however, he told Panchamda: ‘Isn’t Latabai also singing 
this? Do that, I will sing later’. His recording was deferred 
and Lata Mangeshkar rendered it first.

Kishoreda heard this version and practised continuously 
for seven days! He added his touch, to make it one of 
his finest renditions that is cherished to this day. What is 
noteworthy is that Kishoreda was at his career peak at 
that time and need not have put in such a punitive effort. 
It would have been a hit number anyway. But the humility, 
self-confidence, commitment and the determination to 
excel stand out and perhaps this personal excellence 
attribute of Kishoreda makes him stand tall amongst the 
few shining stars widely remembered in Bollywood even 
today after so many decades.

ENDNOTE
There is no perfect occupation, no right time. Just waiting 
for this to happen may end up being quite expensive.

The specific steps enunciated above consciously 
nurtured will rekindle interest in your selected path and 
result in better appreciation and recognition. Who knows, 
as you make progress the current engagement itself 

could become the area you excel in and turn into your 
passion.

Is it one way or the other? Certainly not. While 
progressing on the selected path, you can and should 
also pursue your passion. How do you do this? People 
often say ‘my work is so demanding; I have other 
pressures... I must get some key priorities in order, and 
then I will switch to what I love doing’. Unfortunately, this 
is a never-ending process and waiting for the perfect 
time can mean that you are endlessly in a restive mode. 
So, do allocate some time outside of work to follow your 
passion, whatever it may be. This may challenge your 
work-life balance, and could mean doing it in personal 
space over weekends and holidays. But in due time 
satisfaction is bound to come and could even create the 
platform for a switch.

So, dream your passion and… realise your dream!

References:

1. Governance & Internal Controls: The Touchstone 
of Sustainable Business – Part II; Pp 11-15 BCAJ, 
June, 2020;
2. The Balanced Scorecard: Translating Strategy into 
Action by David P. Norton and Robert S. Kaplan;
3. https://youtu.be/U6L8hnsNMak (16:10 – 20:05): Javed 
Akhtar remembers Magical Pancham – Part 02. 
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INDIA: THE LAND OF CREATIVITY

Since time immemorial, the land of India has been the 
loving land of the gods. All avataras, vibhutis, seers and 
sages take birth here time and again. The history of India 
is overflowing with the stories of such personalities. This 
has been a blessed land where one chooses to be born 
again and again.

‘Far better it is to win a few moments of life in Bhārata 
than several ages of life in these celestial regions; in that 
sacred land, heroic souls can achieve in a moment the 
state of fearlessness in God by renouncing in Him all 
actions done by their perishable bodies.’ Thus says the 
Bhagavata Purana, 5.19.21-23.

कलपारुषां स्ानजरातपुन््यिातक्षणारुषां ्ारर्ूजरो िरम ्
क्षणेन मतरयेन कृरं मनससिनः सननरसर संरानतर्रं पदं हरेः ॥

Indeed, this is the land which has been the land of the 
seekers of the Truth, Light and Wisdom; a land in which a 
dynamic spirituality holds the key to everything pertaining 
to life and the world. This dynamic spirituality has given 
much strength to the race that has been able to sustain its 
creative energy from time immemorial and has been able 
to contribute positively towards the progressive evolution 
of humanity. India in this sense is not just a loving land of 
the gods, but a land of immense creativity.

The seers and sages of ancient India had an immense 
scientific temperament. The quest was to find out the 
truth of everything, but their method was very different 
from the ways and methods of modern science. They did 
not view science as a test-tube culture alone, but applied 
it to every aspect of life. They held a holistic view of 
everything. They did not treat mathematics and poetry as 
two unrelated subjects. This integrated vision of the seers 
and sages could create such a great foundation that not 
only enriched life, but also gave strength to sustain the 
creative energy uninterruptedly.

‘For three thousand years at least – it is indeed 
much longer – she has been creating abundantly and 
incessantly, lavishly, with an inexhaustible many-
sidedness, republics and kingdoms and empires, 

philosophies and cosmogonies and sciences 
and creeds and arts and poems and all kinds of 
monuments, palaces and temples and public works, 
communities and societies and religious orders, laws 
and codes and rituals, physical sciences, psychic 
sciences, systems of Yoga, systems of politics and 
administration, arts spiritual, arts worldly, trades, 
industries, fine crafts – the list is endless and in each 
item there is almost a plethora of activity. She creates 
and creates and is not satisfied and is not tired…’

This is what Sri Aurobindo writes about the prolific 
creativity of our country in his book, The Renaissance in 
India.

There has been no branch of human knowledge in which 
India has not contributed. Most of the discoveries for 
which we give credit to European scientists were well 
known to ancient Indian sages.

They had the knowledge of the science of Architecture 
based on which they could build cities according 
to well-laid-out plans, roads with calculated widths, 
drains with measured gradients, granaries with 
ventilation, baths constructed according to angles of 
precision and platforms built to protect from the onslaught 
of floods.

Some of the notable ancient writings on Architecture 
include: Brihat Samhita of Varahamihira (6th century), 
Samarangana Sutradhara of King Bhoja (11th 

century), Manushyalaya Chandrika of Thirumangalath 
Neelakanthan Musath (16th century), Mayamata (11th 
century), Silparatna of Srikumar (16th century), Aparjita-
Prccha of Bhuvanadavacharya, Agastya-Sakalahikara of 
Agastya and Manasara Shilpa Shastra of Manasara.

The science of Medicine was well advanced compared 
to the system of medicine that existed in the other 
parts of the globe during the time when there lived 
Acharya Sushruta (Sushruta Samhita, between 6th - 12th 
century BCE), Acharya Charaka (Charaka Samhita, 
between 6th - 12th century BCE) and Acharya Vagbhata 
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(Astāngahrdayasamhitā, 6th century CE). Sage Divodasa 
Dhanwantari developed the school of surgery. Rishi 
Kashyap developed the specialised fields of paediatrics 
and gynaecology. Sage Atreya classified the principles 
of anatomy, physiology, pharmacology, embryology, 
blood circulation and much more. Acharya Sushruta is 
known as the ‘Father of surgery’. Even modern science 
recognises India as the first country to develop and use 
rhinoplasty (developed by Sushruta). Sushruta worked 
with 125 kinds of surgical instruments, which included 
scalpels, lancets, needles, catheters, rectal speculums, 
mostly conceived from jaws of animals and birds to obtain 
the necessary grips. He also defined various methods of 
stitching: the use of horse’s hair, fine thread, fibres of 
bark, goat’s guts and ants’ heads.

The way plants were identified and classified shows the 
immense scientific temperament of the ancient seers and 
sages. They not only made a scientific and systematic 
classification of the plants but could discover the exact 
properties of hundreds of plants without any sophisticated 
laboratory tools.

In ancient India there was also the science of 
Metallurgy which produced amazing results. With the 
knowledge of this, the people could make such minute 
steatite beads that 300 would weigh only one gram and 
these they would adorn on beautiful necks. Rasaratnakara 
of Nagarjuna (2nd century CE), Rasarnava (12th century 
CE), Rasaratnasamuccaya (13th to 14th century CE), 
Rasendra Sara Samgraha (9th century CE) are some of 
the important works in which one finds the science of 
Metallurgy.

The credit of discovery of aviation technology goes to 
Bharadwaja. His Yantra Sarvasva covers astonishing 
discoveries in aviation and space sciences, and flying 
machines.

Sage Kanada (circa 600 BCE) is recognised as the 
founder of Atomic theory who classified all the objects 
of creation into nine elements (earth, water, light or fire, 
wind, ether, time, space, mind and soul). He stated that 
every object in creation is made of atoms that in turn 
connect with each other to form molecules.

In the field of Chemistry alchemical metals were 
developed for medicinal use by sage Nagarjuna. His book 
Rasa Ratnakara is a fine specimen of India’s contribution 
to Chemistry. The knowledge of baking of the earth for 
changing the soft mud to hard clay and then painting the 

clay with colours to make beautiful pots, etc. was very 
well known to the people of India.

In the field of Astronomy and Astrology, India was in a 
very advanced position. It was possible for the ancient 
Indian seers and sages to measure the sky at angles of 
30 degrees and the position of stars as they lay randomly 
scattered in depthless vistas. Indians were the first in the 
world to have done this and the Greeks arrived only 2,000 
years later.

Aryabhatiya of Aryabhata (5th to 6th century CE), 
Panchasiddhantika, Brihat-Samhita, Brihat-Jataka 
and Laghu Jataka of Varahamihira (6th century CE), 
Brahmasphutasiddhanta of Brahmagupta (6th to 7th 
century CE) are some of the notable texts on Astronomy 
and Astrology.

The list of the discoveries by the ancient Indian seers and 
sages is truly long. There has been no branch of science 
in which India has not made its own contribution. One 
can keep exploring the immense treasures available in 
the vast gamut of Sanskrit literature, many published and 
many more yet to see the light of day.

The need of the time is to awaken to the spirit of India 
and develop a deep sense of Love for our Motherland, 
a thirst for the knowledge of her past glories, a 
burning aspiration to serve her – this is all that we 
need to do for our country.

But at the same time we must remember that we are 
not expected to make a return to the past, but to take 
the glories of the past and map them to the present 
conditions with the aim of creating a bright future. Our 
aim must be the future – the past is the foundation 
and the present is the material.

In conclusion, I present a wonderful passage from the 
writings of Sri Aurobindo:

‘Not only was India in the first rank in mathematics, 
astronomy, chemistry, medicine, surgery, all the branches 
of physical knowledge which were practiced in ancient 
times, but she was, along with the Greeks, the teacher 
of the Arabs from whom Europe recovered the lost habit 
of scientific enquiry and got the basis from which modern 
science started. In many directions India had the priority 
of discovery – to take only two striking examples among 
a multitude, the decimal notation in mathematics or the 
perception that the earth is a moving body in Astronomy, 
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– calaa prithvi sthiraa bhaati, the earth moves and only 
appears to be still, said the Indian astronomer many 
centuries before Galileo. This great development would 
hardly have been possible in a nation whose thinkers and 
men of learning were led by its metaphysical tendencies 
to turn away from the study of nature. A remarkable 
feature of the Indian mind was a close attention to the 
things of life, a disposition to observe minutely its salient 
facts, to systematise and to found in each department of 
it a science, Shastra, well-founded scheme and rule. That 
is at least a good beginning of the scientific tendency and 
not the sign of a culture capable only of unsubstantial 

metaphysics.’ (Sri Aurobindo, CWSA, Vol.20, pp. 123–
124.)

(The author is the Director of Sri Aurobindo Foundation 
for Indian Culture, SAFIC, Sri Aurobindo Society, 
Pondicherry. He is a well-known Sanskrit scholar and 
was awarded the Maharshi Badrayan Vyas Award for 
Sanskrit in 2012 by the President of India. Through his 
pioneering work through Vande Matram Library Trust, 
an open-source volunteer-driven project, he has made 
available authentic English translations of timeless 
Sanskrit scriptures of India.) 

शोको नाशरर ेधरैयं शोको नाशरर ेश्ुरं ।
शोको नाशरर ेसियं नाससर शोकोसमो ररपुः॥

Grief destroys one’s courage. It destroys one’s learning. It destroys one’s everything. 
There is no enemy greater than grief. 

— (Valmiki Raamaayan 2.62.15)
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[2020] 117 taxmann.com 520 (Bang.)(Trib.)
Chandrashekar Naganagouda Patil vs. DCIT
ITA No. 1984/Bang/2017
A.Y.: 2012-13
Date of order: 29th June, 2020

Sections 2(14), 2(47), 45, 56 – Giving up of a right 
to claim specific performance by conveyance 
in respect of an immovable property amounts to 
relinquishment of capital asset. It is not necessary 
that in all such cases there should have been a lis 
pending between the parties and in such lis the 
right to specific performance has to be given up. 
The payment of consideration under the agreement 
of sale, for transfer of a capital asset, is the cost 
of acquisition of capital gains. Amount received in 
lieu of giving up the said right constitutes capital 
gains and is exigible to tax

FACTS
The assessee, an individual, entered into an agreement 
dated 9th February, 2005 to purchase a vacant site in 
Amanikere village, Bangalore for a consideration of 
Rs. 27,60,000. He paid an advance of Rs. 2,75,000 and 
agreed to pay the balance at the time of registration of 
sale deed. The vendor of the property was required to 
make out a marketable title to the property. Under clause 
8 of the agreement, the assessee had a right to enforce 
the terms by way of specific performance.

On 8th February, 2011, Mr. Channakeshava as vendor, 
along with the assessee as a confirming party, sold 
the property to a third party for a consideration of 
Rs. 82,80,000. The preamble to the sale deed stated 
that the assessee has been added as a confirming party 
as he was the agreement holder who had a right to 
obtain conveyance of the property from the owner. Out 
of the consideration of Rs. 1,200 per sq. feet, a sum of 

Rs. 500 per sq. feet was to be paid to the vendor, Mr. 
Channakeshava, and Rs. 700 per sq. feet was to be paid 
to the assessee.

The assessee considered the sale consideration of Rs. 
48,30,000 so received under the head capital gains. The 
A.O. was of the view that under the agreement dated 
9th February, 2005, the assessee did not have any right 
over the property except a right to get refund of advance 
paid. Accordingly, he taxed Rs. 45,55,000 under the head 
income from other sources.

Aggrieved, the assessee preferred an appeal to the CIT(A) 
who confirmed the action of the A.O. by observing that 
the assessee did not file any suit for specific performance 
and did not have any right over the capital asset.

Aggrieved, the assessee preferred an appeal to the 
Tribunal.

HELD
The Tribunal noted that the Karnataka High Court has 
in the case of CIT vs. H. Anil Kumar [(2011) 242 CTR 
537 (Kar.)] held that the right to obtain a conveyance of 
immovable property falls within the expression `property 
of any kind’ used in section 2(14) and consequently it is 
a capital asset. The Tribunal held that the right acquired 
under the agreement by the assessee has to be regarded 
as ‘capital asset’. Giving up of the right to claim specific 
performance by conveyance in respect of an immovable 
property amounts to relinquishment of the capital asset. 
Therefore, there was a transfer of capital asset within the 
meaning of the Act. The payment of consideration under 
the agreement of sale, for transfer of a capital asset, is 
the cost of acquisition of the capital asset. Therefore, 
in lieu of giving up the said right, any amount received 
constitutes capital gain and it is exigible to tax. It is not 
necessary that in all such cases there should have been a 
lis between the parties and in such lis the right to specific 
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performance has to be given up. The Tribunal held that 
the CIT(A) erred in holding that the assessee did not file 
a suit for specific performance and therefore cannot claim 
the benefit of the ratio laid down by the Hon’ble Karnataka 
High Court in the case of H. Anil Kumar (Supra).

The Tribunal allowed the appeal filed by the assessee.

[2020] 117 taxmann.com 424 (Jai.)(Trib.)
CIT vs. Ijyaraj Singh
ITA Nos. 91 and 152/Jp/2019
A.Y.: 2013-14
Date of order: 18th June, 2020

Sections 2(47), 45: When the terms of the sale 
deed and the intention of the parties at the time of 
entering into the sale deed have not been adhered 
to whereby full sale consideration has not been 
discharged, there is no transfer of land, even 
though the sale deed has been registered, and 
no income accrues and consequently no liability 
towards capital gains arises in the hands of the 
assessee

FACTS
The assessee in his return of income filed u/s 139(1) 
declared long-term capital gains of Rs. 2,51,85,149 in 
respect of sale of agricultural land situate in Kota. In the 
course of assessment proceedings, the assessee revised 
his return of income wherein the income under the head 
long-term capital gains was revised to Rs. 1,10,18,918 
as against Rs. 2,51,85,149 shown in the original return. 
The reason for revising the return was that out of three 
sale deeds, two sale deeds of land executed with Mr. 
Rajeev Singh were invalid sale deeds and consequently 
no transfer took place and hence no capital gain arises in 
respect of the two invalid sale deeds. In respect of these 
two sale deeds, the assessee had received only Rs. 63 
lakhs towards consideration out of Rs. 803 lakhs. The 
cheques received from the buyer were dishonoured and 
even possession was not handed over to the buyer. The 
Rajasthan High Court has also granted stay on the sale 
deeds executed by the assessee.

But the A.O. was of the view that the contract entered into 
by the assessee was a legal and valid contract entered 
into in accordance with the procedure laid down by law. 
The assessee voluntarily agreed to register the sale deed 
before the Registrar and on the date of execution and also 
on the date of registration there was no dispute between 
the parties. The A.O. computed long-term capital gains 

by considering the full value of consideration, including 
the two sale deeds which were contended to be invalid, 
and computed the full value of consideration u/s 50C of 
the Act.

Aggrieved, the assessee preferred an appeal to the 
CIT(A) who held that the transaction in respect of the two 
invalid sale deeds is not chargeable to capital gains tax.

Aggrieved, the Revenue preferred an appeal to the 
Tribunal.

HELD
The Tribunal noted that the question for its consideration 
is that where the full value of consideration has not been 
discharged by the purchaser of the impugned land as 
per the sale deed, and there is violation of the terms of 
the sale deed, whether the impugned transaction would 
still qualify as transfer and be liable for capital gains tax, 
given that the same is evidenced by a registered sale 
deed. Having considered the provisions of sections 2(24), 
2(47), 45 and 48 of the Act, and also the decision of the 
Punjab & Haryana High Court in the case of Hira Lal Ram 
Dayal vs. CIT [122 ITR 461 (Punj. & Har. HC)] where the 
question before the Court was ‘whether it is open to the 
assessee to prove that the sale transaction evidenced by 
the registered sale deed was a sham transaction and no 
sale in fact took place’, and also the decision of the Patna 
High Court in the case of Smt. Raj Rani Devi Ramna vs. 
CIT [(1992) 201 ITR 1032 (Patna)], the Tribunal held that 
the legal proposition which emerges is that a registered 
sale deed does carry an evidentiary value.

At the same time, where the assessee is able to prove 
by cogent evidence brought on record that no sale has in 
fact taken place, then in such a scenario the taxing and 
appellate authorities should consider these evidences 
brought on record by the assessee and on the basis of 
an examination thereof, decide as to whether a sale has 
taken place in a given case or not. The title in the property 
does not necessarily pass as soon as the instrument 
of transfer is registered and the answer to the question 
regarding passing of title lies in the intention of the parties 
executing such an instrument. The registration is no 
proof of an operative transfer and where the parties had 
intended that despite execution and registration of sale 
deed, transfer by way of sale will become effective only 
on payment and receipt of full sale consideration and not 
at the time of execution and registration of sale deed.

The Tribunal noted that no payment was received 
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before execution of the sale deed but only post-dated 
cheques were received by the assessee. It held that 
mere handing over of the post-dated cheques which have 
been subsequently dishonoured and returned unpaid to 
the assessee, cannot be held to be discharge of full sale 
consideration as intended and agreed upon between the 
parties and there is clearly a violation of the terms of the 
sale deed by the buyer.

Although the sale deed has been registered, given that 
the terms of the sale deed and the intention of the parties 
at the time of entering into the said sale deed have not 
been adhered to whereby full sale consideration has not 
been discharged, there is no transfer of the impugned 
land and no income accrues and consequently, no liability 
towards capital gains arises in the hands of the assessee. 
The Tribunal also held that it is only the real income which 
can be brought to tax and there cannot be any levy of 
tax on hypothetical income which has neither accrued / 
nor arisen or been received by the assessee. Since the 
transaction fell through in view of non-fulfilment of the 
terms of the sale deed whereby cheques issued by the 
buyer have been dishonoured, there is no transfer and 
no income which has accrued or arisen to the assessee. 
There is no real income in the hands of the assessee 
and in the absence thereof, the assessee is not liable to 
capital gains. It observed that a similar view has been 
taken by the Pune Bench of the Tribunal in the case of 
Appasaheb Baburao Lonkar vs. ITO [(2019) 176 ITD 
115 (Pune-Trib.)].

This ground of appeal filed by the Revenue was dismissed.

[(2020) 117 taxmann.com 178 (Jai.)(Trib.)
ACIT vs. Sudesh Kumar Gupta
ITA No. 976 (Jp) of 2019
A.Y.: 2014-2015
Date of order: 9th June, 2020

Section 115BBE, read with sections 69, 143 and 154 
– Amount surrendered, in the course of survey, as 
undisclosed investment in stock and assessed as 
business income cannot be subsequently brought 
to tax u/s 115BBE by passing an order u/s 154

FACTS
During the course of survey, the assessee surrendered 
an amount of Rs. 21 lakhs as undisclosed investment 
in stock. This amount was offered to tax in the return 
of income as business income. In the assessment 
completed u/s 143(3) of the Act, the returned income 

was accepted.

Subsequently, the A.O. issued a notice u/s 154 proposing 
to tax the undisclosed investment of Rs. 21,00,000 in 
stock u/s 69 and tax thereon levied u/s 115BBE at 30%. 
The assessee submitted that the amount admitted as 
undisclosed excess stock was on an estimated basis 
and it had been accepted by the A.O. in an assessment 
made u/s 143(3). The A.O. rejected the submission 
made by the assessee and passed an order u/s 154 and 
levied tax on the amount of undisclosed investment at 
30% in accordance with section 115BBE.

Aggrieved, the assessee preferred an appeal to the 
CIT(A) who allowed the appeal holding that the A.O. was 
not justified in invoking the provisions of section 69 once 
he had charged it to tax under the head business income 
while passing the assessment order u/s 143(3).

Aggrieved, the Revenue preferred an appeal to the 
Tribunal.

HELD
The Tribunal noted that the amount of undisclosed 
investment in stock surrendered by the assessee was 
offered as ‘business income’ in the return of income and 
was accepted by the A.O. In the course of assessment, 
there was no adjustment / variation either in the quantum, 
nature or classification of income offered by the assessee. 
The A.O. had not called for any explanation regarding the 
nature and source of such investment during the course of 
assessment proceedings. Further, he had neither formed 
any opinion, nor recorded any satisfaction for invoking the 
provisions of section 69. The Tribunal held that since the 
provisions of section 69 had not been invoked at the first 
instance while passing the assessment order u/s 143(3), 
they cannot be independently applied by invoking the 
provisions of section 154.

The Tribunal dismissed the appeal filed by the Revenue.

[(2020) 117 taxmann.com 451 (Chd.)(Trib.)
ACIT vs. Gurdeep Singh
ITA No. 170 (Chd.) of 2018
A.Y.: 2013-2014
Date of order: 26th June, 2020

Section 2(22)(e) – No addition can be made u/s 
2(22)(e) since as per annual return filed by the 
assessee, he had transferred his shareholding in 
borrower company before the advancement of loan 

18

19



30 BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

574 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ 

by the lender company to the borrowing company

FACTS
The assessee was a shareholder in two companies, 
namely, C Ltd. and J Ltd. During the previous year 
relevant to the assessment year under consideration, C 
Ltd. gave loans and advances to J Ltd. out of its surplus 
funds. The A.O. took a view that since the assessee 
was holding shares in both companies in excess of ten 
percent of total shareholding, the amount of loan is to be 
taxed as dividend u/s 2(22)(e) of the Act.

The annual return filed with the Registrar of Companies 
(ROC) revealed that the assessee held only one share 
of C Ltd., whereas the other shares were transferred to J 
Ltd. The annual return was belatedly filed with the ROC, 
along with payment of late fee, which was accepted by 
the ROC. Based on the belatedly filed annual return, the 
assessee contended that the shares were transferred prior 
to the advancement of loan and, therefore, the provisions 
of section 2(22)(e) were not applicable. The A.O. did not 
agree with the submissions made by the assessee and 
held the plea of share transfer to be an afterthought since 
the return with the Registrar was filed late.

Aggrieved, the assessee preferred an appeal to the 
CIT(A) who allowed the appeal since the transfer 
of shares was accepted by the A.O. while framing 

assessments of subsequent years, and also held that 
the transfer of shares had to be considered. He also held 
that the transaction was commercially expedient with no 
personal benefit involved.

Aggrieved, the Revenue preferred an appeal to the 
Tribunal.

HELD
The Revenue could not establish beyond doubt that the 
assessee was having substantial interest in C Ltd. on the 
date of advancement of loan by C Ltd. to J Ltd. Even though 
the annual return was filed belatedly, once accepted by 
the ROC, it was a legal and valid document as per law 
and the effective date for transfer of shares should be 
considered as that mentioned in the return filed. To apply 
a deeming fiction, the first set of facts is to be proved 
beyond doubt and the deeming fiction cannot be applied 
on the basis of assumption, presumption or suspicion 
about the first set of facts. The Tribunal observed that it 
was the A.O.’s suspicion that the assessee was holding 
substantial shares in C Ltd. on the date of advancement 
of loan. The Revenue could not rebut the facts beyond 
reasonable doubt. The Tribunal upheld the order passed 
by the CIT(A) and confirmed the deletion of the addition 
made u/s 2(22)(e).

The appeal filed by the Revenue was dismissed.

PART B IUNREPORTED DECISIONS
JAGDISH D. SHAH I JAGDISH T. PUNJABI 

Chartered Accountants

Windsor Machines Ltd. vs. DCIT (Mumbai)
Manoj Kumar Aggarwal (A.M.) and Madhumita 
Roy (J.M.)
ITA Nos. 2709, 2710 and 4697/Mum/2019
A.Ys.: 2013-14 and 2014-15
Date of order: 28th May, 2020
Counsel for Assessee / Revenue: Pradip N. 
Kapasi and Akhilesh Pevekar / Vinay Sinha

Section 115JB – Waiver of loan would not assume 
the character of income and hence, not part 
of book profit and adjustment in accumulated 
debit balance of profit & loss account through 
restructuring account to be disregarded for the 
purpose of computation of brought-forward losses

FACTS
The assessee was declared a sick company under the 
provisions of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special 
Provisions) Act, 1985 (SICA) and a rehabilitation Scheme 
was sanctioned. The Scheme envisaged several reliefs 
and concessions from various agencies, including certain 
tax concessions, viz., exemption from the provisions of 
sections 41, 72, 43-B and 115JB for a period of eight 
years from the cut-off date (i.e., 31st March, 2009 as per 
the Scheme).

The assessee’s net worth turned positive on 31st March, 
2011, hence the BIFR discharged the assessee from the 
purview of SICA vide its order dated 16th August, 2011. 
According to the DIT (Recovery), since the assessee 

11
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was discharged by SICA on 16th August, 2011 and its 
net worth turned positive by virtue of implementation of 
the revival Scheme, the assessee was precluded from 
relief u/s 115JB in view of Explanation 1(vii) to section 
115JB(2) and, therefore, no relief would be available to 
it from A.Y. 2011-12 onwards from applicability of the 
provisions of section 115JB. The assessee prayed for 
reconsideration of the order pleading before the DIT 
(Recovery) that in terms of the BIFR Scheme, it was 
entitled to relief u/s 115JB for a period of eight years, i.e., 
up to A.Y. 2017-18.

In the meantime, the A.O., referring to the decision of the 
DIT (Recovery), held that the assessee would be entitled 
for relief u/s 115JB only up to A.Y. 2011-12. Accordingly, he 
computed book profits u/s 115JB at Rs. 1,076.27 lakhs which 
was nothing but profit shown by the assessee in the financial 
statements (after excluding exempt dividend income). The 
CIT(A), on appeal, upheld the order of the A.O.

HELD
According to the Tribunal, since the assessee was 
discharged by SICA on 16th August, 2011 and its net 

PART C ITRIBUNAL & AAR INTERNATIONAL TAX DECISIONS
DHISHAT B. MEHTA I BHAUMIK GODA

Chartered Accountants

[2020] 117 taxmann.com 322 (Indore-Trib.)
Sanghvi Foods (P.) Ltd. vs. ITO
ITA Nos. 743 & 744/Ind/2018
A.Ys.: 2015-16 & 2016-17
Date of order: 3rd June, 2020

Sections 9, 195, 201(1A) of the Act – On facts, since 
non-resident supplier had ‘business connection’ in 
India, the resident payer was required to withhold 
tax u/s 195

FACTS
The assessee was an Indian company engaged in the 
business of manufacturing plants. It had purchased spare 
parts for its machinery from a company in Switzerland 
(Swiss Co) for which it made payments during F.Ys. 2014-
15 and 2015-16. The assessee did not withhold tax from 
the payments on the basis that the purchase was directly 
made from a non-resident and that, too, for purchase of 
capital goods.

The Swiss Co had a wholly-owned subsidiary in India 

(I Co) which was primarily engaged in the manufacture 
and trading of food processing machinery, spares and 
components, and also providing repair, maintenance and 
engineering services, etc. In addition, it provided marketing 
support services to its group companies, including Swiss Co.

In the course of his examination, the A.O. found the 
following:
• While the assessee had contended that it was not 
aware whether Swiss Co had any representative in India, 
it had extensive email communication with I Co. Such 
communication showed:
• The assessee had placed an order on Swiss Co on the 
basis of the quotation received from I Co;
• I Co was authorised to negotiate, issue quotation, revise 
quotation and also confirm the order;
• The assessee confirmed the order on Swiss Co through 
I Co;
• While I Co had an active role in concluding the contract, 
Swiss Co had raised only the final invoice.

The A.O. had issued notice u/s 133(6) of the Act to I Co. In 

13

worth turned positive by virtue of implementation of the 
revival Scheme, the assessee was precluded from relief 
u/s 115JB in view of Explanation 1(vii) to section 115JB(2) 
and, therefore, no relief would be available from A.Y. 
2011-12 onwards.

The Tribunal also found substance in the contention of the 
assessee that
(a) the amount credited to profit & loss account on 
account of waiver of loan would not assume the character 
of income and hence should not form part of book profits 
u/s 115JB, and
(b) adjustment in accumulated debit balance of profit & 
loss account through restructuring account should be 
disregarded for the purpose of computation of brought-
forward losses in terms of Explanation 1(iii) to section 
115JB(2),

However, the Tribunal also noted that the issues had not 
been delved upon either by the A.O. or by the CIT(A). 
Therefore, on the facts and circumstances of the case, 
the Tribunal remitted the matter back to the file of the 
CIT(A).
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1 It appears that both the CIT(A) and the Tribunal have discussed only the issue 
of ‘business connection’ and have not made any observations on the quantum 
of profit determined by the A.O.

14

2 Tribunal noted that though another Bench had set aside orders for A.Ys. 2007-
08 to 2009-10 for considering additional evidence submitted by the assessee, 
that option was not open to it because for the years under consideration, 
CIT(A) had decided after considering all the documents

response, I Co provided information and communication 
between it and the assessee which supported the findings 
of the A.O.

Accordingly, the A.O. concluded that Swiss Co had 
‘business connection’ in India through I Co. Consequently, 
the profits arising from the sales to the assessee were 
subject to withholding of tax u/s 195 of the Act. Therefore, 
the A.O. determined 10% of the amount remitted as net 
profit and calculated tax @ 41.2% on a gross basis in 
respect of both the payments.

In his order, the CIT(A) observed that the functions 
performed by I Co proved that it was not a mere business-
sourcing agent but was concluding contracts on behalf 
of Swiss Co. This resulted in a business connection in 
India. He further observed that irrespective of whether the 
payment was for the purchase of capital goods, the payer 
was obliged to withhold tax once the business connection 
was established.

HELD
The investigation of the A.O. and the findings of the 
CIT(A) show that the role of I Co could not be ignored at 
any stage. I Co was involved since the beginning when 
the assessee was looking for suppliers of spares. The 
reply of I Co u/s 133(6) of the Act further supported this 
finding.

The activities performed by I Co for Swiss Co were 
squarely covered within clauses (a), (b) and (c) of the 
definition of ‘business connection’ in Explanation 2 to 
section 9(1) of the Act.

Based on the facts and findings on record, Swiss Co had 
a ‘business connection’ in India through I Co.

Accordingly, the transaction was subject to section 9(1) and 
the income of Swiss Co was deemed to accrue or arise in 
India. Consequently, in terms of section 195, the payer was 
required to withhold tax from the payment 1.

[2020] 117 taxmann.com 343 (Delhi-Trib.)
Lease Plan India (P) Ltd. vs. DCIT
ITA Nos. 6461 & 6462/Del/2015
A.Ys.: 2009-10 & 2010-11
Date of order: 15th June, 2020

Articles 11, 12 of India-Netherlands DTAA; section 
9 of the Act – Guarantee charges paid by Indian 
company to non-resident AE were not: ‘interest’ 
under Article 11 as there was no debt and income 
was not ‘from debt-claim’; FTS under Article 
12(5) as although provision of guarantee was a 
financial service, it was not consultancy service 
contemplated in Article 12(5)

FACTS
The assessee was engaged in the business of leasing 
motor vehicles, financial services and fleet management. 
It intended to borrow funds for its business from banks in 
India. It had an AE in Netherlands (Dutch Co) with which 
it entered into an agreement for provision of guarantee to 
banks in India. On the strength of such guarantee, banks 
lent funds to the assessee. As per the agreement, the 
assessee paid guarantee charges to Dutch Co.

Before the A.O., the assessee contended that the 
payment being reimbursement of actual expenses, it 
was not chargeable to tax in India and hence the tax was 
not deductible. The A.O. concluded that since payment 
was made to a non-resident for rendering services, it 
was covered u/s 9(1)(vii) as FTS. As the assessee had 
not deducted tax, the A.O. invoked section 40(a)(i) and 
disallowed the entire amount.

In appeal, the CIT(A) confirmed the order.

HELD
Whether guarantee charges interest?
• It was undisputed that guarantee charges paid by the 
assessee to Dutch Co were chargeable to tax in India. 
However, it was to be examined whether it was in the 
nature of ‘interest’ in terms of Article 11 of the India-
Netherlands DTAA.
• 2Any income can be characterised as ‘interest’ if it is 
‘from debt-claim’. Thus, two criteria are required to be 
satisfied. First, capital in the form of debt (which can be 
claimed) should have been provided. This predicates 
the existence of a debtor-creditor (or lender-borrower) 
relationship. Second, income should be from such debt.
• In this case, Dutch Co had promised the lenders to 
pay the amount of loan if the assessee failed to do so. 
The assessee paid guarantee charges in consideration 
for that. As Dutch Co had not provided any capital to the 
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assessee, there was neither lender-borrower relationship, 
nor did Dutch Co earn any income from the debt claim.
• Accordingly, guarantee charges paid by the assessee 
to Dutch Co were not in the nature of ‘interest’ in terms of 
Article 11 of the India-Netherlands DTAA.
• This view is also supported by the decision in Container 
Corporation vs. Commissioner of Internal Revenue 
of US Tax Court Report [134 T.C. 122 (U.S.T.C. 2010) 
134 T.C. 5] wherein the Court held that guarantee is more 
analogous to service and hence guarantee fee cannot be 
considered as interest.

Whether guarantee charges FTS?
• Article 12(5) of the India-Netherlands DTAA defines FTS 
as payment of any kind to any person in consideration 
for the rendering of any technical or consultancy services 
(including through the provision of services of technical 
or other personnel). Article 12(5) further stipulates that 
such services should either be ancillary to grant of license 
for intellectual property rights (IPRs) or should make 
available technical knowledge, etc.
• The provision of guarantee was a service. Indeed, it was 
a financial service. However, there was no way it could 
be termed ‘consultancy service’. Even otherwise, Dutch 
Co had neither provided services which were ancillary 
to grant of license for IPRs nor had it ‘made available’ 
technical knowledge, etc. Hence, payment for such 
services was not FTS.
• Since Dutch Co did not have any PE in India, in terms 
of Article 7 of the India-Netherlands DTAA, payments 
were not chargeable to tax in India.

TS–336–ITAT–2020 (Del.)
DDIT vs. Yum Restaurants Asia Pte Ltd.
ITA No. 6018/Del/2012
A.Y.: 2008-09
Date of order: 16th July, 2020

Articles 5 and 12 of India-Singapore DTAA – Seconded 
employee working under control and supervision 
of Indian company did not constitute service PE – 
Service PE under Article 5(6) and taxability as FTS 
under Article 12 cannot co-exist – Services provided 
did not fulfil ‘make available’ requirement under 
Article 12 of India-Singapore DTAA

FACTS
The assessee, a resident of Singapore, was engaged in 
franchising of certain restaurant brands in the Asia Pacific 
region (including India). It entered into a technology 
license agreement with its Indian AE (I Co) for operation 

of restaurant outlets. I Co in turn appointed a number of 
franchisees for operating restaurants in India under brand 
names KFC and Pizza Hut.

Mr. V was an employee of the assessee who had been 
deputed to India to work under the control and supervision 
of I Co. Mr. V was working solely for I Co. However, the 
assessee continued to pay remuneration to Mr. V. I Co 
reimbursed the amount equivalent to the remuneration of 
Mr. V (after deducting tax) to the assessee.

The A.O. concluded that Mr. V constituted service PE of 
the assessee in India. Hence, the amount reimbursed by 
I Co to the assessee was in the nature of FTS and taxable 
in India. The A.O. further concluded that the assessee 
had agency PE in India.

In the appeal, after referring to relevant clauses of the 
Deputation Agreement and the evidence furnished by the 
assessee, the CIT(A) held that Mr. V was not an employee 
of the assessee. Hence, he did not have any right / lien 
over his employment. Consequently, there was no service 
PE of the assessee.

HELD
Service PE
• The deputation agreement between the assessee and I 
Co mentioned that the assessee was not responsible for, 
or assumed the risk of, the work of assignees; assignees 
would work under the control, direction and supervision of 
I Co; and the assessee released assignees from all rights 
and obligations, including lien on employment, if any.
• CIT(A) had given the following findings:
• An employee of I Co leading the business development 
team had resigned. Mr. V was deputed to India as his 
substitute. Upon expiry of the deputation period, Mr. V 
was inducted as an employee of I Co.
• During the deputation period, I Co had reimbursed the 
remuneration paid by the assessee on cost-to-cost basis. 
I Co had also deducted the applicable tax. Mr. V had paid 
tax in India on his remuneration.
• All the facts and circumstances indicate that Mr. V was 
an employee of I Co and the assessee had merely acted 
as a conduit for payment of remuneration to Mr. V in 
Singapore since his family was in Singapore.
• Other evidence, such as attending board meetings of 
I Co, signing financial statements of I Co as its director, 
etc., also showed that Mr. V was involved in the day-to-
day management of I Co.
• Revenue had also not controverted the findings of the 
CIT(A). Thus, the deputation of Mr. V did not constitute 
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service PE of the assessee in India.
• Even if a service PE of the assessee in India was 
constituted, no income can be attributed to the service 
PE because for computing profit attributable to PE, 
expenses incurred (in this case, remuneration paid to Mr. 
V) should be deducted. Having regard to reimbursement 
of remuneration on cost-to-cost basis, the income of the 
PE would be ‘Nil’.

FTS taxability
• Having regard to provisions of Article 5(6) read with 
Article 12 of the India-Singapore DTAA, service PE and 
taxability as FTS cannot co-exist.
• Even otherwise, services did not fulfil the ‘make available’ 

condition under Article 12 of the India-Singapore DTAA.
• Mr. V worked as an employee of I Co and paid taxes on 
his remuneration. Taxing the same again as FTS would 
result in double taxation of the same income.

Agency PE
• The A.O. did not establish under which limb of definition 
of agency PE in Article 5(8) of India-Singapore DTAA the 
agency PE of the assessee was constituted in India.

Note: The Tribunal distinguished the Delhi High Court decision 
in the case of Centrica India Offshore Pvt. Ltd. [2014] 364 
ITR 336 as not applicable to the facts under consideration. 
The exact basis of this conclusion is not clear. 

न सुप्रतरकरं रतरु मात्ा वपत्ा च रतकृरं
It is difficult for the children to repay the debt of what the mother and 

the father have done to bring them up. 
— (Valmiki Raamaayan 2.111.9)
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IN THE HIGH COURTS

K. B. BHUJLE 
Advocate

Atul Projects India (Pvt.) Ltd. vs. UOI
[2020] 422 ITR 478 (Bom.)
Date of order: 2nd January, 2019
A.Y.: 2016-17

Assessment – Notice u/s 143(2) of ITA, 1961 – 
Limitation – Defective return – Rectification of 
defects – Relates back to date of original return – 
Time limit for issue of notice u/s 143(2) – Not from 
date of rectification of defects but from date of 
return – Return filed on 17th September, 2016 and 
return rectified on 12th September, 2017 – Notice 
u/s 143(2) issued on 10th August, 2018 – Barred by 
limitation; A.Y. 2016-17

For the A.Y. 2016-17, the assessee filed its return on 17th 
October, 2016 and it was found to be defective. The A.O. 
issued a notice u/s 139(9) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 
and called upon the assessee to remove the defects 
which the assessee did within the permitted period on 
12th September, 2017. Yet another notice was issued 
by the Department on 19th September, 2017 u/s 139(9) 
which stated that the return filed on 12th September, 2017 
in response to the directions for removing the defects, 
was also considered to be defective. On 29th September, 
2017, the assessee electronically represented to the 
Department that there was no defect in the return but this 
communication was not responded to by the Department. 
On 10th February, 2018, the A.O. passed an order u/s 
143(1). Thereafter, on 10th August, 2018, the A.O. issued 
a notice u/s 143(2) for scrutiny assessment u/s 143(3).

The assessee filed a writ petition and challenged the 
notice. The Bombay High Court allowed the writ petition 
and held as under:

‘i) The date of filing of the return would be the date on which 
it was initially presented and not the date on which the 
defects were removed. The assessee had filed its return 
of income on 17th October, 2016 and it was found to be 
defective. The Department had called upon the assessee 
to remove the defects, which the assessee did on 12th 

September, 2017. On a representation by the assessee, 
the Department did not raise this issue further and thus 
had impliedly accepted the assessee’s representation 
that there were no further defects after the assessee had 
removed the defects on 12th September, 2017. The notice 
dated 10th August, 2018 issued u/s 143(2) was barred by 
limitation.

ii) In the result, the impugned notice dated 10th August, 
2018 is set aside.’

Kunal Structure (India) Private Ltd. vs. Dy.CIT
[2020] 422 ITR 482 (Guj.)
Date of order: 24th October, 2019
A.Y.: 2016-17

Assessment – Notice u/s 143(2) of ITA, 1961 – 
Limitation – Notice calling for rectification of 
defects in return u/s 139(9) – Rectification within 
time allowed in notice – Not a case of revised 
return but of corrected return which relates back 
to date of original return – Limitation for notice u/s 
143(2) runs from date of original return, not date of 
rectified return; A.Y. 2016-17

For the A.Y. 2016-17, the petitioner company had filed 
its return of income u/s 139(1) on 10th September, 
2016. Thereafter, the petitioner received an intimation 
of defective return u/s 139(9) of the Act on 17th June, 
2017. The petitioner received a reminder on 5th July, 
2017 granting him an extension of fifteen days to comply 
with the notice issued u/s 139(9) and accordingly, the 
time limit for removal of the defects u/s 139(9) of the 
Act stood extended till 20th July, 2017. The petitioner 
removed the defects on 7th July, 2017 within the time 
granted. Subsequently, the return was processed u/s 
143(1) on 12th August, 2017 wherein the date of original 
return is shown to be 10th September, 2016. Thereafter, 
the impugned notice u/s 143(2) of the Act came to be 
issued on 9th August, 2018, informing the petitioner 
that the return of income filed by it for the A.Y. 2016-17 on 
7th July, 2017 has been selected for scrutiny.

34
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The assessee filed a writ petition and challenged the notice. 
The Gujarat High Court allowed the petition and held as 
under:

‘i) A study of the provisions of section 139 of the Income-
tax Act, 1961 shows that under sub-section (1) thereof, 
an assessee is required to file return on or before the due 
date. If one looks at the language employed in sub-sections 
(1), (3) and (5) of section 139, a common thread in all the 
sub-sections is that the assessee is required to file a return 
of income under those sub-sections. However, from the 
language employed in sub-section (9) of section 139 of the 
Act, it does not require any return to be filed by the assessee. 
All that the section says is that the assessee is required to 
be given an opportunity to rectify the defect in the return filed 
by him within the time provided, failing which such return 
would be treated as an invalid return.

ii) Unlike sub-section (5) of section 139 of the Act which 
requires an assessee to file a revised return of income in 
case of any omission or wrong statement in the return of 
income filed under sub-section (1) thereof, sub-section (9) 
of section 139 of the Act does not require an assessee to 
file a fresh return of income, but requires the assessee to 
remove the defects in the original return of income filed by 
him within the time provided therein. Once the defects in the 
original return of income are removed, such return would be 
processed further under the Act. In case such defects are 
not removed within the time allowed, such return of income 
would be treated as an invalid return.

iii) There is a clear distinction between a revised return 
and a correction of return. Once a revised return is filed, the 
original return must be taken to have been withdrawn and 
substituted by a fresh return for the purpose of assessment. 
There is no concept of corrected return of income under 
the Act. Therefore, in effect and substance, what the notice 
under sub-section (9) of section 139 does is to call upon 
the assessee to remove the defects pointed out therein. 
Therefore, mere reference to the expression “corrected 
income” in the notice under sub-section (9) of section 139 
of the Act does not mean that a fresh return of income has 
been filed under that sub-section. The action of removal 
of the defects would relate back to the filing of the original 
return of income and, accordingly, it is the date of filing of the 
original return which has to be considered for the purpose of 
computing the period of limitation under sub-section (2) of 
section 143 of the Act and not the date on which the defects 
actually came to be removed.

iv) The assessee filed its return of income under sub-section 

(1) of section 139 on 10th September, 2016. Since the return 
was defective, the assessee was called upon to remove 
such defects, which came to be removed on 7th July, 2017, 
that is, within the time allowed by the A.O. Therefore, upon 
such defects being removed, the return would relate back to 
the date of filing of the original return, that is, 10th September, 
2016 and consequently the limitation for issuance of notice 
under sub-section (2) of section 143 of the Act would be 
30th September, 2017, viz., six months from the end of the 
financial year in which the return under sub-section (1) of 
section 139 was filed. The notice under sub-section (2) of 
section 143 of the Act had been issued on 9th August, 2018, 
which was much beyond the period of limitation for issuance 
of such notice as envisaged under that sub-section. The 
notice, therefore, was barred by limitation and could not be 
sustained.’

Principal CIT vs. Rajasthan Co-Operative Dairy 
Federation Ltd.
[2020] 423 ITR 89 (Raj.)
Date of order: 23rd July, 2019
A.Y.: 2004-05

Deemed income – Section 41(1)(a) of ITA, 1961 
– Remission or cessation of liability – Condition 
precedent – Assessee, a co-operative society, 
obtaining loan from National Dairy Development 
Board for which state government stood guarantee 
on payment of commission – Commission claimed 
by assessee as revenue expenditure in earlier 
assessment years – State government writing off 
liability and allowing it to be treated as capital 
grant to be used only for capital and rehabilitation 
purposes – Assessee continues to remain liable to 
repay those amounts – No remission or cessation 
of liability u/s 41(1)(a) – Cannot be treated as 
deemed income u/s 41(1)(a); A.Y. 2004-05

The assessee, a co-operative society involved in milk and 
milk product processing, secured a loan from the National 
Dairy Development Board for which the government 
of Rajasthan stood guarantor subject to payment of 
commission of Rs. 25 lakhs per annum. This was claimed 
as expenditure by the assessee for several years up to 
the A.Y. 2004-05. The amount remained outstanding and 
was shown as payable to the government of Rajasthan. 
The state later wrote off that liability and allowed it to be 
treated as a capital grant to be used only for capital and 
rehabilitation purposes. The A.O. was of the view that 
the transaction, i.e., cessation of liability, involved the 
utilisation of receipts which had been treated as revenue 
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all along and, therefore, treated it as deemed income u/s 
41(1)(a) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 for the A.Y. 2004-05.

The Commissioner (Appeals) allowed the appeal and 
held that the amount payable to the government was to 
be treated as capital grant to be used for rehabilitation 
or capital requirement of the assessee and could not be 
used for any further distribution of dividend or revenue 
expenditure, and that it was not a case of remission or 
cessation of the liability as envisaged u/s 41(1)(a). The 
Tribunal concurred with the view of the Commissioner 
(Appeals) and dismissed the appeal filed by the 
Department.

On appeal by the Revenue, the Rajasthan High Court 
upheld the decision of the Tribunal and held as under:

‘Both the Commissioner (Appeals) and the Tribunal had 
rendered concurrent findings on the facts. The record 
also supported their findings in that the loan utilised by the 
assessee was for capital purposes and the loan was given 
by the National Dairy Development Board. The assessee 
continued to remain liable to repay those amounts. The 
state, instead of fully writing off the amounts, had imposed 
a condition that they would be utilised only for capital or 
rehabilitation purposes. This was therefore a significant 
factor, i.e., the writing off was conditional upon use of the 
amount in the hands of the assessee which was for the 
purpose of capital. No question of law arose.’

Principal CIT vs. Jay Chemical Industries Ltd.
[2020] 422 ITR 449 (Guj.)
Date of order: 17th February, 2020
A.Y.: 2011-12

Industrial undertaking – Special deduction u/s 
80-IA(4) – Industrial undertaking engaged in 
production of power – Meaning of ‘power’ in 
section 80-IA(4) – Power would include steam; A.Y. 
2011-12

For the A.Y. 2011-12 the assessee had claimed deduction 
of Rs. 32,51,080 u/s 80-IA(4) of the ITA, 1961. This claim 
was on account of the operation of the captive power 
plant. The assessee showed income from sale of power 
to the tune of Rs. 1,23,10,500 and the sale of vapour at 
Rs. 6,59,77,170. The A.O. took the view that ‘vapour’ 
would not fall within the meaning of ‘power’.

The Commissioner (Appeals) and the Tribunal allowed 
the assessee’s claim.

On appeal by the Revenue, the Gujarat High Court upheld 
the decision of the Tribunal and held as under:

‘i) Section 80-IA(4) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 provides 
for special deduction to industrial undertakings engaged 
in the production of power. The word “power” should be 
understood in common parlance as “energy”. “Energy” 
can be in any form, mechanical, electricity, wind or 
thermal. In such circumstances, “steam” produced by an 
assessee can be termed as power and would qualify for 
the benefits available u/s 80-IA(4).

ii) Steam had to be considered as “power” for the purpose 
of deduction u/s 80-IA(4).’

Principal CIT vs. Govind Gopal Goyal
[2020] 423 ITR 106 (Guj.)
Date of order: 15th July, 2019
A.Y.: 2011-12

Reassessment – Sections 124(3), 142(1), 143(3), 
147, 148 of ITA, 161 – Notice u/s 148 – Assessment 
proceedings pursuant to notice u/s 142(1) pending 
and time for completion of assessment not having 
lapsed – Issue of notice u/s 148 not permissible – 
That assessee had not objected to jurisdiction of 
A.O. not relevant; A.Ys. 2011-12

The Directorate of Revenue Intelligence received 
information that the assessee had undervalued the 
import price of polyester films during the A.Y. 2011-12. 
At the relevant point of time, it was noticed that the 
assessee had not filed his return of income for the 
A.Y. 2011-12. Therefore, a notice dated 1st December, 
2011 u/s 142(1) was issued against the assessee 
to furnish his return of income for the A.Y. 2011-12 by 
9th December, 2011. The assessee did not file his 
return of income and submitted a letter dated 3rd January, 
2012, stating that his books of accounts and other 
records were seized by the Directorate of Revenue 
Intelligence and that he had applied to be provided 
with a copy of the books of accounts and other records 
and informed the A.O. that he would file his return of 
income once he was provided with the books and other 
records. While the assessment proceedings initiated u/s 
142(1) were pending, the A.O. issued a notice dated 16th 

January, 2013 u/s 148 against the assessee to file his 
return of income for the A.Y. 2011-12. The assessment 
proceedings were completed, making an addition 
on account of unexplained expenditure u/s 69C and 
estimating the net profit.

37

38



38 BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

582 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ 

The Tribunal held that when the assessment proceedings 
were already initiated by issuing of notice u/s 142(1) 
calling for the return of income, no notice u/s 148 should 
have been issued and the assessment was required to 
be completed within the time limit allowed u/s 143(3) or 
section 144.

On appeal by the Revenue, the Gujarat High Court upheld 
the decision of the Tribunal and held as under:

‘i) It is settled law that unless the return of income filed by 
the assessee is disposed of, notice for reassessment u/s 
148 cannot be issued, i.e., no reassessment proceedings 
can be initiated so long as the assessment proceedings 
are pending on the basis of the return already filed (and) 
are not terminated.

ii) If an assessment is pending either by way of original 
assessment or by way of reassessment proceedings, the 
A.O. cannot issue a notice u/s 148.

iii) Section 142(1) and section 148 cannot operate 
simultaneously. There is no discretion vested with 
the A.O. to utilise either of them. The two provisions 
govern different fields and can be exercised in different 
circumstances. If income escapes assessment, then the 
only way to initiate assessment proceedings is to issue a 
notice u/s 148.

iv) Income could not be said to have escaped assessment 
u/s 147 when the assessment proceedings were pending. 
If the notice had already been issued u/s 142 and the 
proceedings were pending, a return u/s 148 could not be 
called for. The Tribunal had applied the correct principle of 
law and had passed the order holding that the assessment 
order passed u/s 143(3) read with section 147 was bad 
in law and could not be sustained. Section 124(3) which 
stipulates a bar to any contention about lack of jurisdiction 
of an A.O. would not save the illegality of the assessment 
in the assessee’s case.’

Kumar Rajaram vs. ITO(IT)
[2020] 423 ITR 185 (Mad.)
Date of order: 5th August, 2019
A.Y.: 2012-13

Revision – Section 263 of ITA, 1961 – Diversion 
of income by overriding title – Interpretation of 
Will – Testator’s direction to executor of Will to 
sell property and pay balance to assessee after 
payment to trusts and expenses – Expenses and 

payments to trusts stood diverted before they 
reached assessee – Order of A.O. after due inquiry 
accepting assessee’s offer to tax amount of sale 
consideration – Revision erroneous; A.Y. 2012-13

The assessee was a non-resident. During the A.Y. 2012-
13 he derived income from capital gains and interest 
income assessed under the head ‘Other sources’. The 
assessee's father bequeathed land and residential 
property to him under a Will and testament with directions 
to the executor of the Will. The executor was to give effect 
to the terms and conditions of the Will and dispose of his 
properties as stated by him in the Will. The executor was 
entitled to professional fees and all expenses for the due 
execution of the Will from and out of the estate of the 
deceased testator. The executor was to arrange to sell 
the property after a period of one year from the date of his 
demise so as to accommodate his wife for her stay and 
distribute the sale proceeds in favour of four charitable 
institutions specifying the amount to be paid to each of 
them after incurring the necessary expenses towards 
stamp duty, fees to the executor, etc. The balance sale 
consideration was to be paid to the assessee who was to 
repatriate, according to the Reserve Bank of India Rules, 
the amount so received for the education of his children.

Accordingly, the assessee received a sum of Rs. 
8,19,50,000. The A.O. issued notices under sections 
143(2) and 142(1) along with a questionnaire. In response 
to the notice u/s 142(1), the assessee submitted the 
details including the last Will and testament executed 
by his father, a copy of the sale deed, the legal opinion 
obtained from his counsel regarding the eligibility for 
exclusion of the payments to the charitable institutions and 
remuneration to the executor in computing the long-term 
capital gains on sale of the property. The A.O. accepted 
the claim of the assessee in respect of the expenses 
and passed an order u/s 143(3) and accepted the sale 
consideration as mentioned by the assessee in his return 
of income. However, the plea raised by the assessee with 
regard to the indexation of the cost was not accepted and 
the A.O. allowed indexation only from the financial year 
2011-12 in accordance with Explanation (iii) in section 48.

The Commissioner issued a notice u/s 263 proposing 
to disallow the exclusion of the sum of Rs. 68,02,500 
being the payment made to the charitable institutions 
and the sum of Rs. 8,02,500 being the professional fees 
of the executor of the Will and the other expenditure 
incurred in connection with the sale of the property. The 
Commissioner disallowed the exclusion of Rs. 68,02,500 

39



39BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT  JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

 583 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ

and directed the A.O. to re-compute the total income and 
the tax thereon.

The Tribunal affirmed the order of the Commissioner that 
the exclusion of the payments made by the assessee by 
applying the diversion of income by overriding the title 
could not be allowed and that there was no evidence for 
professional fee, commission paid, etc.

The Madras High Court allowed the appeal filed by the 
assessee and held as under:

‘i) The Commissioner could not have invoked the power 
u/s 263. While issuing the show cause notice u/s 263 
he did not rely upon any independent material or on any 
interpretation of law but on perusal of the records and was 
of the view that the expenditure could not be allowed as 
deduction u/s 48(i). The Commissioner had conducted a 
roving inquiry and substituted his view for that of the view 
taken by the A.O. who had done so after conducting an 
inquiry into the matter and after calling for all documents 
from the assessee, one of which was the last Will and 
testament executed by the assessee's father.

ii) The A.O. after perusal of the copy of the last Will and 
testament of the assessee’s father, the sale deed of 
the property and the legal opinion given by the counsel 
for the assessee, had taken a stand and passed the 
order. Therefore, it could not be stated that the A.O. did 
not apply his mind to the issue. It was not the case of 
the Commissioner that there was a lack of inquiry or 
inadequate inquiry.

iii) The testator bequeathed only a portion of the sale 
consideration left over after effecting payments directed 
to be made by him. The use of the expression “absolutely” 
occurring in the Will was to disinherit the testator's third 
wife from being entitled to any portion of the funds and all 
that the testator stated was not to sell the property for one 
year till his wife vacated the house. The sale deed recorded 
that the stepmother of the assessee had in unequivocal 
terms agreed to the sale and had vacated the property 
and granted no objection for transfer of the property. 
There was a specific direction to the executor to pay 
specific sums of money to the charitable institutions, clear 
the property tax arrears, claim his professional fee, meet 
the stamp duty expenses and pay the remaining amount 
to the assessee. The order passed by the Commissioner 
was erroneously confirmed by the Tribunal.

iv) The Tribunal erred in holding that the exclusion of 

payment to charities by applying the principle of diversion 
of income by overriding title could not be allowed. The 
assessee at no point of time was entitled to receive the 
entire sale consideration. The sale was to be executed 
by the executor of the Will who was directed to distribute 
the money to the respective organisations, defray the 
expenses, pay the property tax, deduct his professional 
fee and pay the remaining amount to the assessee. 
Therefore, to interpret the Will in any other fashion would 
be doing injustice to the intention of the testator and the 
interpretation given by the Commissioner was wholly 
erroneous. The intention of the testator was very clear 
that the assessee was not entitled to the entire sale 
consideration. The testator did not bequeath the property 
but part of the sale consideration which was left behind 
after meeting the commitments mentioned in the Will 
to be truly and faithfully performed by the executor of 
the Will. The major portion of the sale consideration on 
being received from the purchaser of the property stood 
diverted before it reached the assessee and under the 
Will there was no obligation cast upon the assessee to 
receive the sale consideration and distribute it as desired 
by the testator.

v) The assessee had produced the copies of the receipts 
signed by the respective parties before the A.O. who was 
satisfied with them in the absence of any fraud being 
alleged with regard to the authenticity of those documents. 
The order of the Tribunal in not allowing the sum of Rs. 
8,02,500 being expenditure incurred in connection with 
the sale alleging that there was no evidence when the 
evidence in support was on record, was not justified 
and the expenditure was allowable u/s 48(i). The 
Commissioner could not have revised the assessment by 
invoking section 263.’

Ramnath Santu Angolkar vs. Dy. CIT
[2020] 422 ITR 508 (Kar.)
Date of order: 27th November, 2019
B.P.: 1991-92 to 1998-99

Search and seizure – Block assessment – Sections 
132, 158BC, 292CC of ITA, 1961 – Validity of search 
must be established before block assessment 
– Computation of income should be based on 
undisclosed income discovered during search; 
B.P. 1991-92 to 1998-99

The appellant is an individual dealing in real estate and is 
engaged in the activity of providing service to landowners 
for getting compensation in case of land acquisition for 
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promoting housing schemes, land development and 
selling of plots on behalf of the owners on commission or 
service charges. The appellant filed his return of income 
for the A.Ys. 1991-92 to 1998-99. The aforesaid returns 
were processed u/s 143(1). On 19th November, 1998, a 
search u/s 132 of the Act was conducted in the residential 
premises of the appellant and a notice u/s 158BC was 
issued to the appellant by which he was required to file his 
return of income. In response to the aforesaid notice, the 
appellant filed the return of income for the block period, 
i.e., 1st April, 1988 to 19th November, 1998 and declared 
an additional income of Rs. 4,53,156. Thereafter, a notice 
u/s 143(2) was issued to the appellant and he was directed 
to produce all the details. The A.O. passed an order 
of assessment on 28th November, 2000 u/s 158BC(c) 
and determined undisclosed income of the appellant at 
Rs. 1,63,54,846.

Being aggrieved, the appellant filed an appeal before the 
Commissioner of Income-tax (Appeals). The appeal was 
decided by an order dated 23rd August, 2002 which was 
partly allowed. The Revenue being aggrieved by this order, 
filed an appeal before the Income-tax Appellate Tribunal. 
The appellant filed a cross-objection in the aforesaid 
appeal, to the extent that the appeal was decided against 
the appellant. The Tribunal by an order dated 18th January, 
2007, set aside the order of the Commissioner of Income-
tax (Appeals) and remitted the matter to the Commissioner 
of Income-tax (Appeals) and directed the issues to be 
adjudicated afresh by affording an opportunity of hearing 
to the parties in accordance with law. The Commissioner 
thereafter, by an order dated 30th May, 2008, decided the 
appeal and partly allowed the appeal filed by the appellant. 
The appellant and the Revenue being aggrieved by this 
order, again filed appeals before the Tribunal. The Tribunal, 
by an order dated 9th September, 2011, partly allowed both 
the appeals.

The appellant filed an appeal before the High Court and 
raised the following questions of law:

‘(1) Whether the assessment order passed for the block 
period u/s 158BC(c) of the Act in the name of the individual, 
when the warrant of authorisation issued in the joint name 
of the appellant and others is valid in law on the facts and 
circumstances of the case?

(2) Whether the authorities below ought to have examined 
the validity of the search and then only proceeded to 
initiate block assessment proceedings on the facts and 
circumstances of the case?

(3) Whether the Tribunal was justified in law in holding 
that there is no merit to challenge the action of the A.O. to 
assess u/s 158BC of the Act when the conditions precedent 
are not existing as much as for computation of income u/s 
158BC shall be restricted to seized material on the facts 
and circumstances of the case?’

The Karnataka High Court held as under:

‘i) Section 292CC of the Income-tax Act, 1961 merely 
provides that it shall not be necessary to issue an 
authorisation u/s 132 or make a requisition u/s 132A 
separately in the name of each person. However, it is 
pertinent to note that where an authorisation is made 
in the name of more than one person, the section does 
not provide that the names of such persons need not be 
mentioned in the warrant of authorisation.

ii) The authorities are under an obligation to examine the 
validity of the search and only thereafter proceed to initiate 
the block assessment proceedings.

iii) From a perusal of section 158BC it is evident that 
while computing the undisclosed income for the block 
period, the evidence found as a result of search or 
requisition of books of accounts or other books of 
accounts and such other material or information as is 
available with the A.O. and relatable to such evidence, 
has to be taken into consideration. In other words, it is 
evident that the computation of undisclosed income should 
be based on such evidence which is seized during the 
search which is not accounted in the regular books of 
accounts.

iv) The assessment order passed for the block period u/s 
158BC(c) of the Act in the name of the individual, when the 
warrant of authorisation was issued in the joint names of 
the assessee and others, was not valid in law. Moreover 
the authorities ought to have examined the validity of 
the search and only then proceeded to initiate block 
assessment proceedings on the facts and circumstances 
of the case.

v) From a perusal of the material on record, it was evident 
that there was no seizure with regard to the A.Ys. 1988-
89 and 1989-90 during the course of the search and 
seizure operations. However, the A.O. while computing the 
undisclosed income had taken into account the income in 
respect of these years also and thus the order passed by 
the A.O. was in violation of section 158BC(c). The order of 
block assessment was not valid.’
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CIT vs. Sant Lal
[2020] 423 ITR 1 (Del)
Date of order: 11th March, 2020
A.Y.: 2002-03

Search and seizure – Assessment of third person 
– Section 153C of ITA, 1961 – Undisclosed income 
– Assessment based solely on statement of party 
against whom search conducted – A.O. not making 
any further inquiry or investigation on information 
received from Deputy Commissioner – No cogent 
material produced to fasten liability on assessee – 
Concurrent findings of fact by appellate authorities; 
A.Y. 2002-03

For the A.Y. 2002-03, the assessee declared income from 
salary, house property and capital gains. On the basis of 
information from the Deputy Commissioner that search 
and seizure conducted in the premises of BMG revealed 
that BMG was engaged in hundi business wherein 
previously undisclosed money was arranged from various 
parties including the assessee, the A.O. issued a notice 
u/s 148 and passed an order including the undisclosed 
cash transactions with the BMG group as unexplained 

AJAY R. SINGH 
Advocate

PART B IUNREPORTED DECISIONS

Gateway Leasing Pvt. Ltd. vs. ACIT (1)(2) & Ors.
[Writ Petition No. 2518 of 2019]
A.Y.: 2012-13
Date of order: 11th March, 2020
(Bombay High Court)

Reopening of assessment – Beyond four years 
– Information from Investigation Wing – Original 
assessment completed u/s 143(3) – Primary facts 
disclosed – Reasons cannot be substituted

The petitioner is a company registered under the 
Companies Act, 1956 engaged in the business of 
financing and investing activities as a non-banking 
financial company registered with the Reserve Bank of 
India. 

Through this petition, the petitioner sought quashing of 
the notice dated 31st March, 2019 issued u/s 148 of the 
Act by the ACIT Circle 1(1)(2), Mumbai as well as the 
order dated 26th August, 2019 passed by the DCIT Circle 

1(1)(2), Mumbai, rejecting the objections raised by the 
petitioner to the re-opening of its assessment.

For the A.Y. 2012-13 the petitioner had filed return of 
income on 20th September, 2012 declaring total income of 
Rs. 90,630. Initially, the return was processed u/s 143(1) 
of the Act. But the case was later selected for scrutiny. 
During the course of assessment proceedings, details of 
income, expenditure, assets and liabilities were called for 
and examined. After examination of these details, the A.O. 
passed an order u/s 143(3).

On 31st March, 2019 the A.O. issued a notice u/s 148 
stating that he had reasons to believe that the petitioner’s 
income chargeable to tax for the A.Y. 2012-13 had 
escaped assessment within the meaning of section 147. 
The petitioner sought the reasons for issuing the said 
notice. It also filed return of income u/s 148, returning 
the income at Rs. 90,630 as originally assessed by the 
A.O. u/s 143(3). By a letter dated 31st May, 2019, the A.O. 
furnished the reasons for re-opening of the assessment.

8

41
income u/s 69A which had escaped assessment.

The Commissioner (Appeals) deleted the addition. 
The Tribunal confirmed the order of the Commissioner 
(Appeals) on the ground that the issues in appeal were 
directly covered in its earlier decisions.

On appeal by the Revenue, the Delhi High Court upheld 
the decision of the Tribunal and held as under:

‘i) On the facts and the concurrent findings given by the 
Commissioner (Appeals) and the Tribunal, it was evident 
that the Department had not been able to produce any 
cogent material which could fasten the liability on the 
assessee.

ii) The Commissioner (Appeals) had also examined the 
assessment record and had observed that the A.O. 
did not make any further inquiry or investigation on the 
information passed on by the Deputy Commissioner with 
respect to the party in respect of whom the search was 
conducted. No attempt or effort was made to gather or 
corroborate evidence in respect of the addition made u/s 
69A by the A.O. No question of law arose.’
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It was stated that information was received from the 
Investigation Wing (I/W) of the Income Tax Department 
that a search and seizure action was carried out on 
the premises of one Mr. Naresh Jain which revealed 
that a syndicate of persons was acting in collusion and 
managing transactions in the stock exchange, thereby 
generating bogus long-term capital gains / bogus short-
term capital loss and bogus business loss entries for 
various beneficiaries.

From the materials gathered in the course of the said 
search and seizure action, it was alleged that the petitioner 
had traded in the shares of M/s Scan Steel Ltd. and was 
in receipt of Rs. 23,98,014 which the A.O. believed had 
escaped assessment within the meaning of section 
147. It was also alleged that the petitioner had failed to 
disclose fully and truly all material facts necessary for the 
assessment for the A.Y. 2012-13 for which the notice u/s 
148 was issued.

The petitioner submitted objections to re-opening of 
assessment proceedings on 26th June, 2019. Referring 
to the reasons recorded, it was contended on behalf of 
the petitioner that the original assessment was completed 
u/s 143(3) where all the details of purchase and sale of 
shares of M/s Scan Steels Ltd., also known as Clarus 
Infrastructure Realties Ltd. (earlier known as Mittal 
Securities Finance Ltd.), were disclosed. While denying 
that the petitioner had any dealing with the parties whose 
names cropped up during the said search and seizure 
action, it was stated that the purchase and sale of shares 
were done by the petitioner through a registered broker of 
the Bombay Stock Exchange. Payment for the purchase 
of the shares was made by cheque through the BSE at the 
then prevailing market price. Thus, there was no apparent 
reason to classify the receipt of Rs. 23,98,014 as having 
escaped assessment. Therefore, it was contended that 
the decision to re-open assessment was nothing but 
change of opinion, which was not permissible in law.

The A.O. by his letter dated 26th August, 2019 rejected 
the objections raised by the petitioner and stated that 
the petitioner had furnished the details of purchase 
and other material facts before the A.O. and the latter, 
in his assessment order, had totally relied on the said 
submissions and accepted the same without cross-
verification. It was further stated that the challenge to 
the impugned notice was untenable. Besides, the Act 
provided for a host of remedial measures in the form of 
appeals and revisions. Finally, the Department justified 
issuance of the impugned notice and re-opening of the 

assessment and made a reference to the report of the 
I/W. As per the I/W, the petitioner had diluted its income 
by adopting manufactured and pre-arranged transactions 
which were never disclosed to the A.O. Such action was 
a failure on the part of the petitioner to make full and true 
disclosure of all material facts. The petitioner’s contention 
that all primary facts were disclosed were thus disputed. 
That apart, it was contended that the Pr. CIT-1 had applied 
his mind and thereafter granted approval to the issuance 
of notice u/s 148.

In its rejoinder, the petitioner submitted that all details 
about the purchase and sale of shares of Mittal Securities 
Ltd. were furnished. The A.O. was not required to give 
findings on each issue raised during the course of the 
assessment proceedings. The A.O. had applied his mind 
and granted relief to the petitioner in the assessment 
order. Normally, when the submission of an assessee is 
accepted, no finding is given in the assessment order.

The Hon’ble Court, after referring to various decisions, 
observed that the grounds or reasons which led to 
formation of the belief that income chargeable to tax has 
escaped assessment must have a material bearing on 
the question of escapement of income of the assessee 
from assessment because of his failure or omission to 
disclose fully and truly all material facts. Once there exist 
reasonable grounds for the ITO to form the above belief 
that would be sufficient to clothe him with jurisdiction to 
issue notice.

However, sufficiency of the grounds is not justifiable. The 
expression ‘reason to believe’ does not mean a purely 
subjective satisfaction on the part of the ITO. The reason 
must be held in good faith. It cannot be merely a pretence. 
It is open to the Court to examine whether the reasons for 
the formation of the belief have a rational connection with 
or a relevant bearing on the formation of the belief and are 
not extraneous or irrelevant. To this limited extent, initiation 
of proceedings in respect of formation of the belief that 
income chargeable to tax has escaped assessment must 
have a material bearing on the question of escapement of 
income of the assessee from assessment because of his 
failure or omission to disclose fully and truly all material 
facts.

The Court further observed that it would be evident 
from the material on record that the petitioner had 
disclosed the above information to the A.O. in the course 
of the assessment proceedings. All related details and 

Continued on page 49  
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agreements with the foreign enterprises, it had received 
the said service charges and that its services had directly 
and indirectly assisted the foreign enterprises to organise, 
develop, regulate and improve their business.

In response to the queries and clarifications sought by 
the A.O. vide his letter dated 29th January, 1996, the 
appellant justified its claim for deduction u/s 80-O through 
its letter dated 19th February, 1996, asserting that: (1) 
The technical / professional services were rendered by 
the appellant ‘from India’; (2) Foreign buyers to whom the 
appellant had rendered these services were located in 
Japan, U.S.A., U.K. and France. None of these foreign 
enterprises had utilised services in any part of India. 
The entire benefit of services was utilised by them in 
effectively distributing and marketing the Indian seafood 
in their respective countries; (3) The foreign enterprises 
had no place of business in India nor did they market any 
goods or services in India; and (4) Without its services, 
the import of marine products from India by the foreign 
enterprises would not have been possible.

In his assessment order dated 28th March, 1996, the A.O. 
proceeded to analyse the agreements of the appellant with 
the two foreign enterprises and reproduced the relevant 
terms thereof in extenso. Having examined the contents 
of the two agreements, the A.O. was not convinced about 
the claim that the appellant had been rendering services 
from India so as to qualify for deduction under Explanation 
(iii) to section 80-O of the Act. The A.O. was of the view 
that the appellant had worked only as an agent of the 
foreign enterprises in the matter of procurement of marine 
products from India and all the services envisaged in the 
agreements were incidental to the carrying out of the main 
function as an agent. According to the A.O., the Circular 
No. 700 dated 23rd March, 1995 issued by the Central 
Board of Direct Taxes relied upon by the appellant, was 
dealing with a question whether deduction u/s 80-O could 
be denied on the ground that the foreign enterprise uses 
the services rendered outside India, in India. In the case 
before the CBDT, there was no dispute as to where the 
technical services were rendered, whereas in the present 

GLIMPSES OF SUPREME COURT RULINGS

Ramnath & Co. vs. CIT
Date of order: 5th June, 2020

Deduction u/s 80-O – To qualify for deduction u/s 
80-O, the service must be rendered from India to a 
foreign enterprise and the nature of service ought 
to be as delineated in section 80-O – Merely having 
a contract with a foreign enterprise and mere 
earning foreign exchange does not ipso facto lead 
to the application of section 80-O of the Act

Interpretation of taxing statutes – The taxing statutes 
are subject to the rule of strict interpretation and 
the benefit of ambiguity in case of an exemption 
notification or an exemption clause must go in 
favour of the Revenue

The appellant, Ramnath & Co., a firm engaged in the 
business of providing services to foreign buyers of 
Indian marine products, filed its return of income for 
the assessment year 1993-1994 on 29th October, 1993 
declaring total taxable income at Rs. 6,21,710 while 
claiming 50% deduction (amounting to Rs. 22,39,825) u/s 
80-O of the Act in relation to the amount of Rs. 44,79,649 
received by it as service charges from foreign enterprises.

While asserting its claim for such deduction u/s 80-O, the 
appellant submitted that it had rendered myriad services 
to foreign enterprises such as: (i) locating reliable source 
of quality and assured supply of frozen seafood for the 
purpose of import and communicating its expert opinion 
and advice in that regard; (ii) keeping a close liaison 
with agencies concerned for bacteriological analysis 
and communicating the result of inspection together 
with expert comments and advice; (iii) making available 
full and detailed analysis of the seafood supply situation 
and prices; (iv) advising and informing about the latest 
trends in manufacturing and markets; and (v) negotiating 
and finalising the prices for Indian exporters of frozen 
marine products and communicating such other related 
information to the foreign enterprises. The appellant 
claimed that pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 
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case it was undisputed that the services as an agent were 
rendered by the appellant in India only. In the aforesaid 
view of the matter, the A.O. disallowed the claim for 
deduction u/s 80-O.

In the appeal filed by the appellant, the Appellate Authority 
did not agree with the opinion of the A.O. and allowed 
the appeal while observing that there was no dispute that 
the appellant was supplying information with regard to 
the markets, government policies, exchange fluctuations, 
banking laws and data with regard to monthly supply of 
seafood, etc. to the foreign enterprises. Secondly, even if 
the appellant was a mere agent of the foreign enterprises, 
he was bringing the foreign enterprises in contact with the 
manufacturers or processors of shrimps, lobsters, etc. 
and negotiating with the local packers and was locating 
sources of frozen seafood for the foreign enterprises. 
Though the various items of activity were rendered in 
India, they were done on behalf of the foreign enterprises 
and the market and other related information had been 
supplied from India to the foreign enterprises.

Aggrieved by this decision, the Revenue preferred an 
appeal before the ITAT which was considered and decided 
upon by the ITAT in its order dated 19th November, 2001. 
The ITAT took note of the history of the introduction of 
Chapter VI-A and section 80-O to the Act of 1961 by the 
Finance (No. 2) Act, 1967, as also the fact that section 
80-O had undergone several amendments over time. 
The ITAT concurred with the findings of the Appellate 
Authority that the services rendered by the appellant, who 
helped the foreign parties to import marine products from 
India, had been specialised and technical services and, 
therefore, the appellant was entitled to claim deduction 
u/s 80-O.

On similar lines, the ITAT also allowed the claim of the 
appellant in relation to the assessment years 1994-
95, 1995-96 and 1996-97, while following its earlier 
orders. The appeals against the orders passed for these 
assessment years were clubbed together and disposed 
of by the High Court by way of a common judgment dated 
9th June, 2016.

In its common judgment dated 9th June, 2016, the 
High Court of Kerala had disagreed with the ITAT and 
disallowed the claim for deduction by the appellant with 
the finding that the appellant was merely a marine product 
procuring agent for the foreign enterprises, without any 
claim of expertise capable of being used abroad rather 
than in India, and hence the alleged services did not 

qualify as 'services rendered from India' for the purpose 
of section 80-O of the Act of 1961.

Aggrieved, the appellant preferred an appeal before the 
Supreme Court.

According to the Supreme Court, the short point 
calling for determination in these appeals against the 
common judgment dated 9th June, 2016 passed by the 
High Court of Kerala at Ernakulam in a batch of 
appeals was as to whether the income received by 
the appellant in foreign exchange for the services 
provided by it to foreign enterprises qualified for deduction 
u/s 80-O of the Income Tax Act, 1961, as applicable 
during the respective assessment years from 1993-94 to 
1997-98.

The Court noted that the agreements of the appellant with 
the foreign entities primarily showed that the appellant 
was to locate the source of supply of the referred 
merchandise and inform the principals; to keep liaison with 
the agencies carrying out organoleptic / bacteriological 
analysis and communicate the result of such inspection; 
to make available to the foreign principals an analysis of 
the seafood supply situation and prices; and to keep the 
foreign principals informed about the latest trends in the 
market and also to negotiate and finalise the prices. As 
per the agreements, in lieu of such services the appellant 
was to receive the agreed commission on the invoice 
amounts.

The Supreme Court observed that in contrast to what had 
been observed in the cases of J.B. Boda & Co. (1997) 
223 ITR 271 (SC) (advising on the risk factor related to 
the proposed insurance / reinsurance) and E.P.W. Da 
Costa (121 ITR 751) (dealing with statistical analysis of 
data collected), what turned out as regards the activities 
/ services of the appellant was that the appellant was 
essentially to ensure supply of enough quantity of good 
quality merchandise in proper packing and at competitive 
prices to the satisfaction of the principals. According to 
the Court, this was essentially the job of a procuring 
agent. Though the expressions ‘expert information and 
advice’, ‘analysis’, ‘technical guidance’, etc. were used in 
the agreements, these expressions could not be read out 
of context and de hors the purpose of the agreements. 
All the clauses of the agreements read together made it 
absolutely clear that the appellant was merely a procuring 
agent and it was his responsibility to ensure that proper 
goods were supplied in proper packing to the satisfaction 
of the principal. All other services or activities mentioned 
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in the agreements were only incidental to its main function 
as an agent.

Significantly, the payment to the appellant, whatever label 
it might have carried, was only on the basis of the amount 
of invoice pertaining to the goods. There had not been 
any provision for any specific payment referable to the so-
called analysis or technical guidance or advice. Viewed 
from any angle, the services of the appellant were nothing 
but those of an agent who was procuring the merchandise 
for its principals and such services were rendered in India. 
Even if certain information was sent by the appellant to 
the principals, the information did not fall in the category 
of such professional services or information which could 
justify its claim for deduction u/s 80-O of the Act. In other 
words, in the holistic view of the terms of the agreements, 
the Supreme Court did not have an iota of doubt that the 
appellant was only a procuring agent, as rightly described 
by the High Court.

According to the Supreme Court, if at all any doubt yet 
remained about the nature of the services of the appellant, 
the same was effectively quelled by the default clauses in 
the agreements in question.

In both the agreements, the default clauses made it more 
than clear that if the quality of goods was found to be 
unsatisfactory to the principals after inspection in their 
respective countries, they shall have no responsibility 
to pay the agent's fees. If at all it had been a matter 
of the appellant furnishing some technical or material 
information which served the foreign enterprises in 
making the decision for procurement, in the ordinary 
circumstances, after completion of such service and its 
utilisation by the foreign enterprises, the appellant was 
likely to receive the professional service charges for 
furnishing such information but, contrary and converse 
to it, the agreements provided for no payment to the 
appellant in case of the principal being dissatisfied with 
the goods. These default clauses effectively demolished 
the case of the appellant and fortified the submissions of 
the Revenue that the appellant was merely a procuring 
agent and nothing more.

According to the Supreme Court, the matter could be 
viewed from yet another angle, as indicated by the High 
Court in the last paragraph of its judgment. If at all it be 
assumed that out of the various tasks mentioned in the 
agreements, some of them involved such services which 
answered to the requirements of section 80-O, it was 
definitely required of the appellant to establish as to what 

had been such information of special nature or of expertise 
that was given by it and how the same was utilised, if 
at all, by the foreign enterprises, and how much of the 
foreign exchange receipt was attributable to such special 
service. The appellant had not supplied such particulars. 
The High Court had posed a pointed query to the learned 
Counsel appearing for the appellant as to whether all the 
services mentioned in the agreement would come within 
the purview of section 80-O. The cryptic response to this 
query on behalf of the appellant had been that 'if the 
recipient of services is situated outside, all the services 
rendered by the assessee in terms of the agreement 
come within the sweep of the provision'. It was specifically 
contended on behalf of the appellant that establishing 
'which of its services qualifies for the deduction is of no 
consequence, rather unnecessary'.

In the opinion of the Supreme Court, this response was 
not in conformity with the requirements of section 80-
O, as explained and applied by the Supreme Court in 
Continental Construction (1992) 195 ITR 81 (SC) and 
in B.L. Passi (2018) 404 ITR 19 (SC), as also as applied 
by the Madras High Court in Khursheed Anwar (2009) 
311 ITR 468 (Mad.). Rather, this stand should put the 
final curtain on the appellant's case because most of the 
services in the agreements in question were those of an 
agent ensuring supply; and if any part of the services 
correlated with section 80-O, the particulars were of 
utmost significance and were fundamentally necessary 
– but which the appellant had never supplied. Merely 
having a contract with a foreign enterprise and merely 
earning foreign exchange does not ipso facto lead to the 
application of section 80-O.

The Supreme Court observed that the effect of Circular 
No. 700 dated 23rd March, 1995 is only to the extent 
that once the service is rendered 'from India', even if its 
ultimate use by the foreign enterprise occurs in India, the 
matter may not go out of section 80-O. This clarification 
was in tune with the nature of this provision meant for 
extending incentives but it did not do away with the basic 
requirement that to qualify for deduction u/s 80-O the 
service must be rendered from India to a foreign enterprise 
and the nature of service ought to be as delineated in 
section 80-O. The ultimate use of the service could be 
in India, as illustrated by the case of E.P.W. Da Costa 
(Supra) and by the cases of Li & Fung (2008) 305 ITR 
105 (Delhi) and Chakiath Agencies (2009) 314 ITR 200 
(Mad.) that were cited before the High Court. However, 
the claim of the appellant failed at the threshold for the 
foregoing reasons. Circular No. 700 dated 23rd March, 
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1995 was neither of any application to this case nor of 
any assistance to the appellant. The appellant was not 
entitled to claim deduction u/s 80-O of the Act.

According to the Supreme Court, the High Court had 
rightly analysed the entire matter with reference to the 
relevant questions and had rightly proceeded on the law 
applicable to the case. The impugned judgment called for 
no interference. The appeals, therefore, were dismissed.

Note: It had been argued on behalf of the appellant, 
with reference to the decisions in Baby Marine Exports 
(2007) 290 ITR 323 (SC) and B. Suresh (2009) 313 ITR 
149 (SC), that an incentive provision like section 80-O 
has to be construed purposively, broadly and liberally so 
as to achieve its avowed object to earn foreign exchange. 
Per contra, it had been contended on behalf of Revenue, 
with reference to the Constitution Bench decision in Dilip 
Kumar & Co. (2018) 9 SCC 1, that the taxing statutes are 
subject to the rule of strict interpretation and the benefit 
of ambiguity in case of an exemption notification or an 
exemption clause must go in favour of the Revenue and 
the same principles would apply in relation to section 
80-O of the Act.

In this regard, the Supreme Court held that the 
generalised, rather sweeping, proposition stated in the 
case of Sun Export Corporation (1997) 6 SCC 564 as 
also in other cases that in matters of taxation, when two 
views are possible, the one favourable to the assessee 
has to be preferred, stands specifically disapproved by 
the Constitution Bench in Dilip Kumar & Co. (Supra). 
It has been laid down by the Constitution Bench in no 
uncertain terms that an exemption notification has to be 
interpreted strictly; the burden of proving its applicability is 
on the assessee and in case of any ambiguity, the benefit 
thereof cannot be claimed by the subject / assessee; 
rather, it would be interpreted in favour of the Revenue.

PILCOM vs. CIT, West Bengal-VII
Date of order: 29th April, 2020

Deduction of tax at source – Section 194E – Once 
the income referred to in section 115BBA is held to 
be payable to a foreign non-resident sportsman or 
non-resident sports association or institution, the 
person responsible for making payment is obliged 
at the time of making payment or at the time of 
credit of such income to the account of the payee, 
to deduct income tax thereon at the rate of 10% 
irrespective of whether the income is chargeable 

to tax or not and that the obligation to deduct u/s 
194E is not affected by the DTAA

The assessee, the Pak-Indo-Lanka Joint Management 
Committee (known in short as PILCOM) is a committee 
formed by the Cricket Control Boards / Associations of 
three countries, viz., Pakistan, India and Sri Lanka, 
for the purpose of conducting the World Cup Cricket 
tournament for the year 1996 in these three countries. 
The International Cricket Council (ICC) is a non-profit-
making organisation having its headquarters in London 
which controls and conducts the game of cricket in 
different parts of the world. ICC has nine full members 
and 20 associate members. In a special ICC meeting held 
on 2nd February, 1993 in London, India, Pakistan and Sri 
Lanka were selected on the basis of competitive bids to 
have the privilege of jointly hosting the 1996 World Cup 
Cricket Tournament. These three host countries were 
required to pay varying amounts to the Cricket Control 
Boards / Associations of different countries as well as to 
ICC in connection with conducting the preliminary phases 
of the tournament and also for the purpose of promotion 
of the game in their respective countries.

For the purpose of conducting the final phase of the 
tournament in India, Pakistan and Sri Lanka, a committee 
was formed by the three host members under the name 
PILCOM. Two bank accounts were opened by PILCOM 
in London to be operated jointly by the representatives 
of the Indian and Pakistani Cricket Boards in which the 
receipts from sponsorship, T.V. rights, etc. were deposited 
and from which the expenses were met. The surplus 
amount remaining in the said bank account was decided 
to be divided equally between the Cricket Boards of 
Pakistan and India after paying a lump sum amount to the 
Sri Lankan Board as per the mutual agreement amongst 
the three Boards. For the World Cup matches in India, 
the Board of Control for Cricket in India (BCCI) appointed 
its own committee for discharge of its responsibilities and 
functions. The committee was to be known as INDICOM. 
Since the Convener-Secretary of INDCOM was 
functioning from Calcutta, necessary bank accounts were 
opened in Calcutta for receipts and expenditure relating to 
matches to be held in India. From the said bank accounts 
in London, certain amounts were transferred to the three 
co-host countries for disbursement of fees payable to the 
umpires and referees and also for defraying administrative 
expenses and prize money.

During the course of inquiry, it came to the knowledge of 
the ITO (TDS), Ward-21(4), Calcutta that PILCOM had 
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made payments to ICC as well as to the Cricket Control 
Boards / Associations of the different member countries of 
ICC from its two London bank accounts. The ITO issued 
a notice to the office of PILCOM located at Dr. B.C. Roy 
Club House, Eden Gardens, Calcutta 700021 asking it 
to show cause why action u/s 201(1)/194E of the IT Act, 
1961 should not be taken against PILCOM for its failure 
to deduct taxes from the payments made by it, and as 
referred to above, in accordance with the provisions of 
section 194E. The PILCOM represented before the ITO 
that the provisions of section 194E would not be attracted 
to the payments for various reasons. It was furthermore 
stated that, inasmuch as the books of accounts of PILCOM 
had not been completed by its Pakistani Treasurer, the 
said books could not be produced before the ITO.

The ITO did not agree with the contentions of PILCOM. 
He referred to the provisions of section 115BBA and held 
that taxes should have been deducted at source from 
the payments made by PILCOM in accordance with the 
provisions of section 194E. The details of the payments 
as made by PILCOM and as had been collected by the 
ITO, were supplied by him to PILCOM. Finally, the ITO 
passed an order u/s 201(1)/194E dated 6th May, 1997 in 
which he held that PILCOM was liable to pay u/s 201(1) 
the amount it had failed to deduct from the payments 
under consideration and further held that PILCOM was 
also liable to pay interest on the said amount u/s 201(1A) 
from the date when the tax was deductible up to the date 
of actual payment. The ITO computed the total short 
deduction u/s 194E to be Rs. 2,18,29,300.00.

PILCOM appealed against the order passed by the ITO 
but the CIT(A) disposed of the appeal by his order dated 
17th November, 1997.

In a further appeal preferred by PILCOM before the ITAT, 
the ITAT set aside the order passed by the CIT(A) and 
restored the matter back to his file for re-deciding the 
issue after affording an opportunity of being heard to 
PILCOM.

Accordingly, the appeal was re-heard by the CIT(A) 
in which both the sides were allowed an opportunity to 
represent their respective cases. The CIT(A) finally passed 
his appellate order on 28th December, 1998 holding that 
so far as the payment of £1,20,000 transferred from 
London to Pakistan and Sri Lanka for disbursement of 
prize money in those countries for matches played there 
was concerned, the same could not be brought within the 
scope of section 115BBA, inasmuch as these prizes were 

meant for matches outside India. As regards the other six 
payments, the CIT(A) held that the provisions of section 
115BBA would be attracted by all those payments. The 
CIT(A), however, found out at the same time that out 
of 37 matches played in all in the aforesaid World Cup 
Tournament, only 17 had been played in India. He argued 
that since the payments made by PILCOM related to 
all the matches played in the tournament, only such 
proportion of the guarantee money, etc. received by the 
non-resident parties could be considered to be deemed 
income in India in the hands of those non-resident parties, 
which corresponded to the ratio of the number of matches 
played in India to the total number of matches. Thus, the 
CIT(A) held that only 17/37th portion, i.e. 45.94% of the 
other six types of payments could be considered to attract 
the provisions of section 201(1)/194E.

Both the appellant and the Revenue being aggrieved, 
they approached the Tribunal. The Tribunal, in its order 
dated 4th January, 2000 approved the view taken by the 
CIT(A) in respect of payment amounting to £1,20,000. 
As regards the other six payments, it held that: (i) so 
far as the guarantee moneys paid by PILCOM to the 
17 countries, which did not participate in World Cup 
matches, or to South Africa and United Arab Emirates, 
which did not play any match in India were concerned, 
it could not be held that the cricket associations of these 
countries earned the guarantee money through any 
source of income in India; (ii) so far as the payment of 
£3,75,000 to ICC as per a resolution dated 2nd February, 
1993, partly towards expenses incurred by ICC in 
connection with the tournament and partly to be spent 
by it for development of cricket, it was not possible to 
conceive any connection of such payment to the income 
of ICC taxable in India; (iii) another amount of £2,00,000 
being payment for the ICC Trophy for qualifying matches 
between ICC Associate Members held outside India was 
in the nature of reimbursement of expenses in connection 
with the tournament and it did not have any connection 
with any match played in India; (iv) in respect of other 
payments of guarantee money to the cricket associations 
of the countries, who did some activities in India, those 
could be considered to have earned the guarantee money 
through such activity alone as the payments received by 
them from PILCOM had arisen directly as a result of their 
taking part in the cricket matches.

However, the cricket associations of all these countries 
played not only in India but also in Pakistan and Sri 
Lanka. Hence, only that proportion of the total receipt 
made by each such country from PILCOM, which bears 
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the same ratio as the number of matches played by each 
such country in India to the total number of matches 
played by each such country in the tournament, could be 
considered to be income arising or accruing to the cricket 
association of that particular country.

The order passed by the Tribunal was challenged by 
the appellant as well as by the Revenue before the 
High Court. By its judgment and order under appeal, the 
High Court affirmed the view taken by the Tribunal and 
dismissed the appeals observing that once the income 
referred to in section 115BBA is held to be payable to 
foreign non-resident sportsman or non-resident sports 
association or institution, the person responsible for 
making the payment is obliged at the time of making 
the payment or at the time of credit of such income to 
the account of the payee, to deduct income tax thereon 
at the rate of 10% irrespective of whether the income 
is chargeable to tax or not and that the obligation to 
deduction u/s 194E is not affected by the DTAA since 
such a deduction is not the final payment of tax nor can 
be said to be an assessment of tax.

The appellant appealed against the dismissal of its 
appeal before the Supreme Court. The Revenue did not 
appeal against the dismissal of its appeal and as such the 
deletion made by the Tribunal attained finality.

The Supreme Court after noting the relevant provisions of 
the Act observed that the amounts were in the nature of 
guarantee money paid to non-resident sports associations. 
The payments were not made by the appellant in India but 
were made by the appellant through its bank accounts in 
London or elsewhere.

According to the Supreme Court, the principal issue to be 
considered was whether any income accrued or arose or 
was deemed to have accrued or arisen to the said non-
resident sports association in India. If the answer was 
in the affirmative, the next question would be about the 
liability on the part of the appellant to deduct tax at source 
and make the appropriate deposit in accordance with 
section 194E of the Act.

The Supreme Court observed that in terms of sub-section 
(2) of section 5 of the Act, the total income of a non-
resident may include income from whatever source which 
is received or deemed to be received in India or accrues 
or arises or is deemed to accrue or arise to such non-
resident in India. According to section 9(1), the income 
shall be deemed to accrue or arise in India if ‘the income 

accrues or arises, whether directly or indirectly’ under any 
of the following postulates:
• through or from any business connection in India; or
• through or from any property in India; or
• through or from any asset or source of income in India;
  or
• through the transfer of a capital asset situate in India.

The Court noted that according to the respondent, the 
income in question had arisen from a source of income 
in India, which was playing of cricket matches in India, 
and as such the requirement of law was fully satisfied. On 
the other hand, according to the appellant, the payment 
was towards grant of privilege and had nothing to do with 
matches that were played in India.

Referring to its judgment in Performing Right Society 
Ltd. [1977] 106 ITR 11 (SC), the Supreme Court noted 
that in that case, under an agreement, the appellant 
Society had granted to All India Radio the authority to 
broadcast from all its stations the musical works included 
in the repertoire of the Society in respect of which 
payments at the rate of £2 per hour of broadcasting 
were payable to the Society. The Society, a non-resident 
company, contended that the agreement was executed 
in England, payments were made in England and the 
‘source of income’ was the agreement that was entered 
into in England. The contention was rejected by the High 
Court. The conclusion that ‘the income derived from 
broadcast of copyright music from the stations of All India 
Radio arose in India’ was affirmed by the Supreme Court.

The Supreme Court held that in the present case, the 
non-resident sports associations had participated in 
the event where cricket teams of these associations 
had played various matches in the country. Though the 
payments were described as guarantee money, they were 
intricately connected with the event where various cricket 
teams were scheduled to play and did participate in the 
event. The source of income, as rightly contended by the 
Revenue, was in the playing of the matches in India.

According to the Supreme Court, the mandate u/s 
115BBA(1)(b) was also clear, in that if the total income 
of a non-resident sports association included the amount 
guaranteed to be paid or payable to it in relation to any 
game or sports played in India, the amount of income tax 
calculated in terms of said section shall become payable. 
The expression 'in relation to' emphasises the connection 
between the game or sport played in India on the one 
hand and the guarantee money paid or payable to the 



49BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT  JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

 593 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ

non-resident sports association on the other. Once the 
connection is established, the liability under the provision 
must arise.

The Supreme Court further relied upon its judgement in 
CIT vs. Eli Lilly and Co. (India) Pvt. Ltd. (2009) 15 SCC 
1, to support its conclusion.

The Court distinguished the two decisions in Metallurgical 
and Engineering Consultant (India) Ltd. (1999) 238 
ITR 208 (Pat.) and in Manjoo and Co. (2011) 335 ITR 
527 (Ker.), relied upon by the appellant.

As for the issue of applicability of DTAA, the Court was 
of the view that the reasoning that weighed with the High 
Court was quite correct. The Supreme Court held that the 
obligation to deduct tax at source u/s 194E of the Act is 
not affected by the DTAA and in case the exigibility to 
tax is disputed by the assessee on whose account the 
deduction is made, the benefit of DTAA can be pleaded 
and if the case is made out, the amount in question will 
always be refunded with interest. But that, by itself, cannot 
absolve the liability u/s 194E of the Act.

The Supreme Court therefore concluded that the 
payments made to the non-resident sports associations in 
the present case represented their income which accrued 
or arose or was deemed to have accrued or arisen in 
India. Consequently, the appellant was liable to deduct 
tax at source in terms of section 194E.

The appeal was, therefore, dismissed.

Notes:
(1) The above judgment deals with the obligation of 
deduction of tax (TDS) u/s 194E, which effectively, read 
with section 115BBA, provides for TDS from specified 
payments made to certain non-residents. On the other 
hand, u/s 195 it effectively provides for obligation of 
TDS from general payments (non-specified) made to 
non-resident / foreign company in respect of income 
chargeable to tax in India. The obligation of TDS u/s 
195 should not be governed by the above judgment 
as chargeability of the relevant income to tax in India 
is the basis for applicability of section 195 which is 
not the case for applicability of section 194E and 
other similar specific provisions. As such, obligation of 
TDS u/s 195 will continue to be governed by the current 
position, unaffected by the above judgment, for which 
provisions of applicable DTAA can be taken into account 
for determining the chargeability of relevant income to tax 
in India and also for the purpose of rates for TDS. In this 
context, the law laid down by the Apex Court in the cases 
of G.E. India Technology Center Pvt. Ltd. [(2010) 327 
ITR 456] and Vodafone International Holdings B.V. 
[(2012) 341 ITR 1] would continue to be relevant for this 
purpose.

(2) The above referred judgment in the case of G.E. India 
Technology Centre P. Ltd. has been analysed by us in 
the column 'Closements' in the December, 2010 issue 
of this Journal. The judgment in the case of Vodafone 
International Holdings B.V. has been analysed by us 
in that column in the March and April, 2012 issues of this 
Journal. 

information sought by the A.O. were furnished. Several 
hearings took place in this regard after which the A.O. 
had concluded the assessment proceedings by passing 
the assessment order u/s 143 (3). Thus it would appear 
that the petitioner had disclosed the primary facts at its 
disposal for the purpose of assessment. He had also 
explained whatever queries were put to it by the A.O. with 
regard to the primary facts during the hearings.

In such circumstances, it cannot be said that the petitioner 
did not disclose fully and truly all material facts necessary 
for the assessment. Consequently, the A.O. could not 
have arrived at the conclusion that he had reasons to 
believe that income chargeable to tax had escaped 
assessment. In the absence of the same, the A.O. could 

not have assumed jurisdiction and issued the impugned 
notice u/s 148 of the Act. That apart, the A.O. has tried 
to traverse beyond the disclosed reasons in the affidavit 
which is not permissible. The same cannot be taken 
into consideration while examining the validity of the 
notice u/s 148. The reasons which are recorded 
by the A.O. for re-opening an assessment are the 
only reasons which can be considered when the 
formation of the belief is impugned; such reasons 
cannot be supplemented subsequently by affidavit(s). 
Therefore, in the light of the discussions, the attempt 
by the A.O. to re-open the concluded assessment is 
not at all justified and consequently the impugned 
notice cannot be sustained and the impugned order dated 
26th August, 2019 is also quashed. 

  IN THE HIGH COURTS Continued from Page 42 
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CONTROVERSIES

SET OFF OF UNABSORBED DEPRECIATION WHILE 
DETERMINING BOOK PROFIT u/s 40(B)

PRADIP KAPASI I GAUTAM NAYAK I BHADRESH DOSHI
Chartered Accountants

ISSUE FOR CONSIDERATION
Section 40(b) limits the deduction, in the hands of 
a partnership firm, in respect of an expenditure on 
specified kinds of payments to partners. Amongst several 
limitations provided in respect of deduction to be claimed 
by the partnership firm, clause (5) of section 40(b) limits 
the deduction for remuneration to the working partners to 
the specified percentage of the ‘book profit’ of the firm.

The term ‘book profit’ is defined exhaustively by 
Explanation 3 to section 40(b) which reads as under:

‘Explanation 3 - For the purpose of this clause, “book 
profit” means the net profit, as shown in the profit and 
loss account for the relevant previous year, computed in 
the manner laid down in Chapter IV-D as increased by the 
aggregate amount of the remuneration paid or payable 
to all the partners of the firm if such amount has been 
deduced while computing the net profit.’

'Book profit', as per Explanation 3, means the net profit 
as per the profit and loss account of the relevant year, 
computed in the manner laid down in Chapter IV-D. The net 
profit in question is the one that is shown in the profit and 
loss account which is computed in the manner laid down in 
Chapter IV-D. This requirement to compute the net profit in 
the manner laid down in Chapter IV-D has been the subject 
matter of debate. Section 32, which is part of Chapter IV-D, 
provides for the depreciation allowance in computing the 
income of the year and, inter alia, sub-section (2) provides 
for the manner in which the unabsorbed depreciation of 
the earlier years is to be adjusted against the income of the 
year. The interesting issue which has arisen with respect to 
the computation of ‘book profit’ for the purpose of section 
40(b) is whether the net profit for the year should also be 
reduced by the unabsorbed depreciation of earlier years 
and whether the amount of remuneration to the partners 
eligible for deduction should be computed with respect to 
such reduced amount.

The Jaipur bench of the Tribunal has held that in computing 
the ‘book profit’ and the amount eligible for deduction on 
account of the remuneration to partners, unabsorbed 
depreciation of the earlier years should be deducted from 
the net profit for the year as provided in section 32(2). As 
against this, the Pune bench of the Tribunal has taken 
a contrary view and has allowed the assessee firm’s 
claim of the remuneration paid to its partners which was 
computed on the basis of ‘book profit’ without reducing it 
by the unabsorbed depreciation of the earlier years.

THE VIKAS OIL MILLS CASE
The issue first came up for consideration of the Jaipur 
bench of the Tribunal in the case of Vikas Oil Mills vs. 
ITO (2005) 95 TTJ 1126.

In that case, for the assessment year 2001-02 the A.O. 
disallowed the remuneration amounting to Rs. 1,79,005 
paid to the working partners on the ground that the 
assessee firm had not reduced the unabsorbed brought-
forward depreciation of earlier years from the profit of the 
year under consideration while claiming deduction for the 
remuneration payable to the partners. Since the resultant 
figure after reducing the unabsorbed depreciation of 
earlier years from the profit of the assessee firm was a 
negative figure, the A.O. disallowed the remuneration 
paid to the partners. The CIT(A) confirmed this order.

The assessee argued before the Tribunal that the 
unabsorbed depreciation was allowed to be deducted 
only because of a fiction contained in section 32(2) and 
that otherwise the deduction was subject to the provisions 
of section 72(2). Hence, unabsorbed depreciation should 
not be considered for computation of net profit in Chapter 
IV-D. On the other hand, the Departmental representative 
supported the orders of the lower authorities by submitting 
that unabsorbed depreciation of earlier years was part of 
the current year’s depreciation as per section 32(2) which 
fell in Chapter IV-D and, therefore, for computation of book 
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profit unabsorbed depreciation was to be necessarily 
taken into account.

The Tribunal concurred with the view of the lower 
authorities and held that the remuneration paid to the 
working partners was to be reduced from the book profit 
as per the provisions of section 40(b)(v). The definition 
of book profit was provided in Explanation 3 as per 
which it was required to be computed in the manner laid 
down in Chapter IV-D. Therefore, the Tribunal held that 
the unabsorbed depreciation of earlier years had to be 
reduced as provided in section 32(2) while determining 
the book profit for the purpose of determining the amount 
of deductible remuneration. However, the Tribunal agreed 
with the alternative plea of the assessee for allowing the 
minimum amount of remuneration which was allowable 
even in case of a loss.

RAJMAL LAKHICHAND CASE
The issue thereafter came up for consideration before 
the Pune bench of the Tribunal in the case of Rajmal 
Lakhichand vs. JCIT (2018) 92 taxmann.com 94.

In this case, for the assessment year 2010-11 the 
A.O. disallowed the remuneration to working partners 
amounting to Rs. 17,50,000 on the ground that the 
unabsorbed depreciation of earlier years was not reduced 
in computing the book profit which was contrary to the 
provisions of section 40(b). Upon further appeal, the 
CIT(A) deleted this disallowance by holding that the 
remuneration to partners was to be worked out on the 
basis of the current year's book profit and therefore the 
remuneration was to be deducted first before allowing 
the set-off of brought-forward losses. He held that the 
computation of book profit was as per section 40(b) while 
the set-off of brought-forward losses was to be granted 
in terms of section 72. Therefore, while arriving at the 
business income, the deduction of section 40(b) was to 
be given first and then, if at all there remained positive 
income, the brought-forward losses were to be set off.

Before the Tribunal, the Income-tax Department 
assailed the findings of the CIT(A) on the ground that 
the unabsorbed brought-forward depreciation became 
a part of the current year’s depreciation as per the 
provisions of section 32(2) and that as per Chapter IV-
D, the book profit was determined only after deduction of 
depreciation including unabsorbed depreciation. Since, in 
the assessee's case, there was a loss after deduction of 
unabsorbed brought-forward depreciation to the tune of 
Rs. 10,84,75,430 remuneration to the extent of only Rs. 

1,50,000 should have been allowed. Reliance was placed 
on the decision in Vikas Oil Mills (Supra).

As against that, the assessee submitted that the 
remuneration paid to the partners was to be based on 
the current year's book profit derived before deducting 
the unabsorbed depreciation and that the set-off of 
unabsorbed losses and depreciation was governed by 
section 72. The unabsorbed business losses were to be 
set off first and then the unabsorbed depreciation was to 
be considered.

The Tribunal upheld the order of the CIT(A) deleting 
the disallowance of remuneration paid to the working 
partner by the assessee-firm. In addition to accepting the 
contention of the assessee, the Tribunal also relied upon 
the decision of the Ahmedabad bench of the Tribunal in the 
case of Yogeshwar Developers vs. ITO [IT Appeal No. 
1173/AHD/2014 for assessment year 2005-06 decided 
on 13th April, 2017]. The decision of the Jaipur bench 
in the case of Vikas Oil Mills (Supra) cited before the 
Tribunal by the Income-tax Department was not followed 
by the bench.

OBSERVATIONS
Sub-section (2) of section 32 provides that where full 
effect cannot be given to the depreciation allowance for 
any previous year, then the depreciation remaining to be 
absorbed shall be added to the amount of the depreciation 
allowance for the following previous year and deemed 
to be part of the depreciation allowance for that year. 
It further provides that if there is no such depreciation 
allowance for the succeeding previous year, then that 
unabsorbed depreciation of the preceding previous year 
itself shall be deemed to be the depreciation allowance 
for that year. However, such a treatment of unabsorbed 
depreciation u/s 32(2) is subject to the provisions of sub-
section (2) of section 72 and sub-section (3) of section 73 
under which first brought-forward business loss needs to 
be set off and then unabsorbed depreciation. Therefore, 
in a situation where the assessee has brought-forward 
business loss as well as unabsorbed depreciation, the 
combined reading of sections 32 and 72 or 73 required 
that the brought-forward business loss shall be set off first 
against the income of the previous year and then against 
the unabsorbed depreciation.

As per Explanation-3 to section 40(b), all the deductions 
as provided in Chapter IV-D including depreciation 
allowance provided in section 32 have to be taken into 
consideration while determining the book profit. Since 
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the provision of section 32(2) treats the unabsorbed 
depreciation of earlier years at par with the depreciation 
allowance of the current year, except where there is a 
brought-forward business loss, the issue as to whether 
the unabsorbed depreciation should also be deducted 
from the book profit requires deeper analysis.

Though the literal interpretation of all the provisions 
concerned may appear to support the view that the amount 
of depreciation allowance, whether of the current year or 
the one which is of the earlier years and has remained 
unabsorbed, should be reduced from the net profit for the 
purpose of arriving at the book profit, one needs to also 
consider the legislative history as well as the intent of the 
provisions of section 32(2) before accepting the literal 
interpretation. The present provision of section 32(2) as 
it stands today was brought in force by the Finance Act, 
2001 by substituting the old provision with effect from 
assessment year 2002-03. The old provision of section 
32(2), prior to its substitution by the Finance Act, 2001, 
was effective for the assessment years 1997-98 to 2001-
02 and it read as under:

(2) Where in the assessment of the assessee full effect 
cannot be given to any allowance under clause (ii) of sub-
section (1) in any previous year owing to there being no 
profits or gains chargeable for that previous year or owing 
to the profits or gains being less than the allowance, then, 
the allowance or the part of allowance to which effect has 
not been given (hereinafter referred to as unabsorbed 
depreciation allowance), as the case may be,
(i)  shall be set off against the profits and gains, if any, 
of any business or profession carried on by him and 
assessable for that assessment year;
(ii)  if the unabsorbed depreciation allowance cannot be 
wholly set off under clause (i), the amount not so set off 
shall be set off from the income under any other head, if 
any, assessable for that assessment year;
if the unabsorbed depreciation allowance cannot be 
wholly set off under clause (i) and clause (ii), the amount 
of allowance not so set off shall be carried forward to the 
following assessment year and,
(a) it shall be set off against the profits and gains, if any, 
of any business or profession carried on by him and 
assessable for that assessment year;
(b) if the unabsorbed depreciation allowance cannot be 
wholly so set off, the amount of unabsorbed depreciation 
allowance not so set off shall be carried forward to 
the following assessment year not being more than 
eight assessment years immediately succeeding the 
assessment year for which the aforesaid allowance was 

first computed.

It is significant to note that for the assessment years up 
to 2001-02, the unabsorbed depreciation did not become 
part of the current year’s depreciation and was not to be 
reduced from the net profit for the purposes of section 
40(b) of the Act; in short, it was not to be reduced from the 
book profit. It can be noticed that the manner in which the 
unabsorbed depreciation is treated under the old provision 
differed greatly from the manner in which it is treated under 
the present provision. One of the glaring differences is that 
before the amendment it was not being treated as part of 
the depreciation allowance for the current year. Instead, 
it was required to be set off against the profits and gains 
of business or profession separately. Sub-clause (a) of 
clause (iii) of the old provision made this expressly clear 
by providing that unabsorbed depreciation allowance was 
to be set off against the profits and gains of any business 
or profession assessable for the subsequent assessment 
year as such and not as a part of the depreciation 
allowance of that year. Further, the amount against which 
the unabsorbed depreciation allowance was required to 
be set off was the profits and gains of any business or 
profession carried on by the assessee and assessable 
for that assessment year. The assessable profits and 
gains of any business or profession for the purpose was 
necessarily the profits determined after claiming all the 
permissible deductions, including remuneration to the 
partners, subject to the limitations provided in section 
40(b). Any other interpretation or connotation was not 
possible; a contrary interpretation would have needed an 
express provision to that effect which was not the case.

As a result, the requirement under the then Explanation-3 
to section 40(b) to compute the book profit in the manner 
laid down in Chapter IV-D was to exclude the set-off of 
unabsorbed depreciation. Any interpretation otherwise 
would have led to an unworkable situation whereunder 
the amount of unabsorbed depreciation which could have 
been set off would then be dependent upon the amount 
of the deductible remuneration, and the amount of the 
deductible remuneration would in turn be dependent upon 
the amount of unabsorbed depreciation that could be set 
off.

Having analysed the position under the old provision 
of section 32(2), let us consider the objective of its 
substitution by the Finance Act, 2001 with effect from 1st 

April, 2002. The Memorandum explaining the provisions 
of the Finance Bill, 2001, which is reproduced below, 
explains the legislative intent behind the amendment.
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Modification of provisions relating to allowance of 
depreciation
Under the existing provision of sub-section (2) of section 
32 of the Income-tax Act, carry forward and set off of 
unabsorbed depreciation is allowed for 8 assessment 
years.
With a view to enable the assessee to conserve sufficient 
funds to replace capital assets, specially in an era where 
obsolescence takes place so often, the Bill proposes to 
dispense with the restriction of 8 years for carry forward 
and set off of unabsorbed depreciation.

It can be observed that the limited purpose of substituting 
the provision of sub-section (2) of section 32 was to relax 
the limitation of eight years over the carry forward of 
unabsorbed depreciation. It is worth noting that in order 
to achieve this objective, the old provision as it existed 
prior to its amendment by the Finance (No. 2) Act, 1996, 
was being restored. Therefore, effectively, the present 
provision of sub-section (2) of section 32 is the same 
as the provision as it existed prior to its amendment by 
the Finance (No. 2) Act, 1996. It was only for the period 
starting from the assessment year 1997-98 to 2002-03 
that the provision was different.

In the context of the old provision prevailing up to 
assessment year 1996-97, the Supreme Court in the 
case of CIT vs. Mother India Refrigeration Industries 
(P) Ltd. (1985) 155 ITR 711 has held as follows:

‘It is true that proviso (b) to section 10(2)(vi) creates a 
legal fiction and under that fiction unabsorbed 
depreciation either with or without current year's 
depreciation is deemed to be the current year's 
depreciation but it is well settled that legal fictions are 
created only for some definite purposes and these must 
be limited to that purpose and should not be extended 
beyond that legitimate field. Clearly, the avowed purpose 
of the legal fiction created by the deeming provision 
contained in proviso (b) to section 10(2)(vi) is to make 
the unabsorbed carried forward depreciation partake of 
the same character as the current depreciation in the 
following year, so that it is available, unlike unabsorbed 
carried forward business loss, for being set off against 
other heads of income of that year. Such being the 
purpose for which the legal fiction is created, it is difficult 
to extend the same beyond its legitimate field and will 
have to be confined to that purpose.’

In view of these observations of the Supreme Court 
and the legislative intent behind section 32(2), it can be 

inferred that the only purpose of deeming the unabsorbed 
depreciation as the depreciation allowance of the current 
year, post amendment, is limited to ensuring the benefit of 
its set off, irrespective of the number of years, against any 
income, irrespective of the head of income under which it 
falls. In other words the intention has never been to treat 
it as  part of the depreciation of the year.

Further, in a situation where the assessee has both, i.e., 
unabsorbed depreciation and business loss brought 
forward from earlier years, the set off of business 
loss in terms of sections 72 or 73 needs to be given a 
preference over set-off of unabsorbed depreciation as per 
section 72(2). This again confirms that the unabsorbed 
depreciation is given a separate treatment than the 
business loss and both are intended to be distinct and 
separate from each other. The Supreme Court, in the 
case of CIT vs. Jaipuria China Clay Mines (P) Ltd. 
59 ITR 555, had held that the reason for such order of 
allowance is as under:

‘The unabsorbed depreciation allowance is carried forward 
under proviso (b) to section 10(2)(vi) of the 1922 Act 
and the method of carrying it forward is to add it to the 
amount of the allowance of depreciation in the following 
year and deeming it to be part of that allowance; the 
effect of deeming it to be part of that allowance is that it 
falls in the following year within clause (vi) and has to be 
deducted as allowance. If the legislature had not enacted 
proviso (b) to section 24(2) of the 1922 Act, the result 
would have been that depreciation allowance would 
have been deducted first out of the profits and gains in 
preference to any losses which might have been carried 
forward under section 24 of the 1922 Act, but as the 
losses can be carried forward only for six years under 
section 24(2) of the 1922 Act, the assessee would in certain 
circumstances have in his books losses which he would 
not be able to set off. It seems that the legislature, in view 
of this gave a preference to the deduction of losses first.’

The set off of business loss is governed by section 72 
which is part of Chapter VI and not Chapter IV-D and, 
therefore, is not required to be considered while computing 
the book profit for the purpose of section 40(b). Hence, 
it would be absurd and contrary to the provisions to set 
off the unabsorbed depreciation first only for the purpose 
of arriving at the book profit for the purpose of section 
40(b), though unabsorbed depreciation is to be set off 
only after brought-forward business losses are exhausted 
in accordance with section 72(2).

Continued on page 76  
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Ind AS/IGAAP – INTERPRETATION & 
PRACTICAL APPLICATION

REVERSE FACTORING OR SUPPLIER FINANCING

BACKGROUND
Banks may offer services to buyers of goods or services in 
order to facilitate payment of their trade payables arising 
from purchases from suppliers. In a reverse factoring 
arrangement, a bank agrees to pay amounts an entity 
owes to its suppliers and the entity agrees to pay the bank 
at a date later than when the suppliers are paid. Reverse 
factoring arrangements can vary significantly in both form 
and substance. When the original liability to a supplier 
has been extinguished or there is a change in terms, the 
following issues arise:
(a)  Whether the resulting new liability to the bank should be 
presented as bank borrowing or ‘trade payables.’ A point 
to note is that bank borrowing is required to be separately 
presented from trade payables under Ind AS Schedule III 
requirements. Needless to say that presentation as bank 
borrowing may have a significant impact on the gearing 
ratios and debt covenants.
(b) Additionally, the entity is also required to consider 
various disclosure requirements. Consequently, this issue 
is very important.

Whether the resulting new liability to the bank 
should be presented as bank borrowing or ‘trade 
payables’?

REQUIREMENTS OF Ind AS 
STANDARDS
Before we embark on answering these questions, let 
us consider the various requirements under Ind AS 
standards:
1. Paragraph 54 of Ind AS 1 – Presentation of Financial 
Statements: ‘The balance sheet shall include line items 
that present the following amounts: (a)………….. (k) trade 
and other payables; (l) provisions; (m) financial liabilities 
excluding amounts shown under (k) and (l)……….’

2. Paragraph 57 of Ind AS 1: ‘This Standard does not 

prescribe the order or format in which an entity presents 
items. Paragraph 54 simply lists items that are sufficiently 
different in nature or function to warrant separate 
presentation in the balance sheet. In addition:
(a) line items are included when the size, nature or 
function of an item or aggregation of similar items is such 
that separate presentation is relevant to an understanding 
of the entity’s financial position; and (b)…’

3. Paragraph 70 of Ind AS 1 explains that ‘some current 
liabilities, such as trade payables… are part of the working 
capital used in the entity’s normal operating cycle’.

4. Paragraph 29 of Ind AS 1 states that ‘…An entity shall 
present separately items of a dissimilar nature or function 
unless they are immaterial …’

5. Paragraph 11(a) of Ind AS 37 – Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets states that ‘trade 
payables are liabilities to pay for goods or services that 
have been received or supplied and have been invoiced 
or formally agreed with the supplier’.

6. Paragraph 3.3.1 of Ind AS 109 – Financial Instruments 
states: ‘An entity shall remove a financial liability (or part 
of a financial liability) from its balance sheet when, and 
only when, it is extinguished – i.e., when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or 
expires.’

ANALYSIS
Based on the various requirements of Ind AS standards 
presented above, an entity presents a financial liability as 
a trade payable only when it:
(i) represents a liability to pay for goods or services;
(ii) is invoiced or formally agreed with the supplier; and
(iii) is part of the working capital used in the entity’s normal 
operating cycle.

DOLPHY D’SOUZA
Chartered Accountant
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Other payables are included within trade payables only 
when those other payables have a similar nature and 
function to trade payables; for example, when other 
payables are part of the working capital used in the 
entity’s normal operating cycle.

A point to note is that bank borrowing is required to be 
separately presented from trade payables under Ind 
AS Schedule III requirements. In assessing whether 
to present reverse factoring arrangements as trade 
payables (whether included with other payables or not) 
or bank borrowing, requires further analysis. An entity will 
have to assess whether to derecognise a trade payable 
to a supplier and recognise a new financial liability to a 
bank as bank borrowings. Such an assessment is made 
in accordance with Ind AS 109 – Financial Instruments.

Under Ind AS 109 if the arrangement results in 
derecognition of the original liability (e.g. if the purchaser 
is legally released from its original obligation to the 
supplier), an entity in such a case will have to pay the 
bank rather than the supplier. Consequently, in such 
a case, presentation as a bank borrowing may be 
more appropriate. Derecognition can also occur and 
presentation as bank borrowing will also be appropriate 
if the purchaser is not legally released from the original 
obligation but the terms of the obligation are amended 
in a way that is considered a substantial modification. 
For example, the payment of trade payable may not 
entail transfer of any collateral. However, if collateral is 
provided in a supplier financing arrangement, this would 
mean that the original agreement to pay to the creditor 
has been substantially modified. In such cases, too, 
presentation of the reverse factoring as a bank borrowing 
rather than trade payable may be more appropriate. 
Even if the original liability is not derecognised, other 
factors may indicate that the substance and nature of the 
arrangements indicate that the liability should no longer 
be presented as a trade payable and a bank borrowing 
presentation may be more appropriate.

Analysis of supply-chain finance is a complex and 
judgemental exercise. Obtaining an understanding of the 
following factors would help in making the decision on the 
presentation:
• What are the roles, responsibilities and relationships 
of each party (i.e. the entity, the bank and the supplier) 
involved in the reverse factoring?
• What are the discounts or other incentives received by 
the entity that would not have otherwise been received 
without the bank’s involvement?

• Whether there is any extension of the date by the bank 
by which payment is due from the entity beyond the 
invoice’s original due date?
• Is the supplier’s participation in the reverse factoring 
arrangement optional?
• Do the terms of the reverse factoring arrangement 
preclude the company from negotiating returns of 
damaged goods to the supplier?
• Is the buyer released from its original obligation to the 
supplier?
• Is the buyer obligated to maintain cash balances or are 
there credit facilities with the bank outside of the reverse 
factoring arrangement that the bank can draw upon in the 
event of non-collection of the invoice from the buyer?
• Does the buyer have a separate credit line for these 
arrangements?
• Whether additional security is provided as part of the 
arrangement that would not be provided without the 
arrangement?
• Whether the terms of liabilities that are part of the 
arrangement are substantially different from the terms 
of the entity’s trade payables that are not part of the 
arrangement?

Some reverse factoring arrangements require that a 
buyer will pay the invoice regardless of any disputes 
that might arise over the goods (for example, the 
goods are found to be damaged or defective). In the event 
of a dispute, a buyer who agrees to such a condition 
would use other means, such as adjustments on future 
purchases from the supplier, to recover the losses. These 
provisions provide greater certainty of payment to the 
bank and may reflect that the arrangement in substance 
is a financing to the buyer. However, for a buyer who 
buys regularly from a supplier to routinely apply credits 
for returns against payments on future invoices, this 
condition might not be viewed as a significant change 
to existing practice. Additionally, this provision may not 
constitute a significant change to the terms of the original 
trade payable if failure by the buyer to pay on the invoice 
due date does not entitle the bank to any recourse or 
remuneration beyond what is stipulated in the terms of 
the invoice.

In some reverse factoring arrangements, the buyer 
may be required to maintain collateral or other credit 
facilities with the bank. These requirements may indicate 
a financing arrangement in substance, particularly if a 
buyer’s failure to maintain an appropriate cash balance 
would trigger cross-collateralisation events on the buyer’s 
other debt instruments held by the bank. For the liability 
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to be considered a trade payable, the bank generally can 
collect the amount owed by the buyer only through its 
rights as owner of the receivable it purchased from the 
supplier. Some examples are provided below which help 
in understanding the above requirements.

Example 1 – Financing of advances to suppliers made 
by the buyer
A buyer makes an advance payment to a supplier for 
goods to be delivered to the buyer six months later. For this 
purpose, the buyer obtains a credit from the bank based 
on its own credit rating and credit facility. The supplier is 
not involved in the buyer obtaining the credit facility from 
the bankers. Here, as far as the buyer is concerned, the 
buyer obtains credit from a bank and makes an advance 
payment to the supplier. The buyer may directly make 
the advance to the supplier, or the bank may do so on 
behalf of the buyer. In this example, it is not appropriate 
for the buyer to present the borrowing from the bank and 
the advance to the supplier on a net basis. It is also not 
appropriate for the buyer to present the borrowing from 
the bank as trade payable, because no goods have been 
received at the date of borrowing.

Example 2: Bank negotiates with supplier directly on 
buyer’s behalf
A supplier approaches a bank for discounting an invoice 
representing supply of goods to a buyer. The bank agrees 
to pay the supplier before the legal due date to obtain an 
early payment discount. However, the buyer is not legally 
relieved from the obligation under its trade payable. The 
way the mechanism works is that the supplier agrees 
to receive the amount from the buyer net of the early 
payment discount at the contractual due date and 
to pay the bank this same amount only if it receives 
the payment from the buyer. If the supplier fails to pay 
the bank, the buyer agrees to pay the bank. The bank 
charges a fee to the buyer, which is lower than the early 
payment discount. This effectively results in the bank 
and the supplier sharing the benefit of the early payment 
discount. In this example, since the buyer is not legally 
relieved of his obligation to pay the supplier (or to the 
bank on behalf of the supplier), the buyer continues to 
recognise the trade payable to the supplier. Furthermore, 
the buyer does not provide any collateral to the bank, nor 
is the arrangement substantially different from the terms 
of the entity’s trade payable. The buyer will recognise 
the liability as trade payable. Additionally, the buyer also 
recognises a guarantee obligation, initially measured at 
fair value, for its promise to pay the bank if the bank does 
not receive a payment from the supplier.

Example 3: Receivables purchase agreement
In a reverse factoring arrangement, a bank acquires 
the rights under the trade receivable from the supplier. 
However, the buyer is not legally released from the 
payable. The buyer may be involved to some extent in 
such an arrangement. For example, the buyer agrees 
that he is no longer eligible to offset the payable against 
credit notes received from the supplier, or the buyer may 
be restricted from making direct payments to the supplier. 
In this fact pattern, the buyer would need to consider 
whether the change to the terms of the trade payable is 
significant or not.

If there is a substantial change, the transfer is accounted 
for as an extinguishment – which means, the previous 
liability should be derecognised and replaced with a 
new liability to the bank. The impact of any additional 
restrictions imposed by the reverse factoring agreement 
on the buyer’s rights will need to be properly evaluated. 
One possibility is that because the buyer selects each 
payable at its sole discretion, it will only select those 
payables where the effect of any such restriction is not 
significant. On the other hand, it may be the case that 
the buyer, bank and supplier have agreed initially on 
a minimum amount of payables / receivables being 
refinanced by the bank. In such a case, the buyer has no 
further discretion to avoid the change in his rights, even 
when the change is significant.

Example 4: Trade structure / supply chain finance / 
reverse factoring
• Steel Limited (SL) purchases raw material and other 
supplies from various suppliers.
• SL has negotiated 180 days’ extended credit term with 
all suppliers, which fact will be stated in the invoice.
• To address the working capital issues of suppliers, SL’s 
bankers have agreed to buy bills endorsed by SL.
• The suppliers decide whether they need to transfer 
bills to SL’s bankers as well as timing and other terms of 
transfer. The suppliers can also get their bill discounted 
from other bankers. However, it may not be cost effective.
• If a supplier decides to get bill discounted from SL’s 
banker, the banker will consider SL’s credit risk to decide 
the amount payable on transfer.
• Transfer does not release SL from its liability toward 
the supplier. Rather, SL continues to be liable to pay the 
amount to the supplier.
• If SL defaults in payment of dues, the banker can use 
the court process against SL for payment but only through 
the involvement of the supplier.
• SL does not receive any additional benefit except 
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extended credit period as originally agreed with the 
supplier.
• SL does not have a separate credit line with the bank for 
these arrangements, nor provides any collateral.

Response
From the facts it is clear that:
• SL is not released from its obligation towards the supplier.
• Nor is there a change in the terms of payable.
• Nor has SL received any discounts or rebates that would 
not have otherwise been received.
• There is no extension of the payment date beyond the 
invoice’s original due date.
• The supplier’s participation in the reverse factoring 
arrangement is completely optional.
• SL does not have a separate credit line with the bank for 
these arrangements, nor does it provide any collateral.
• These factors indicate that SL should continue to classify 
its liability as trade payable.

Example 5: Trade structure / supply chain finance / 
reverse factoring
• SL purchases raw material and other supplies from 
various suppliers.
• SL has negotiated 180 days’ extended credit term with 
all suppliers.
• Within one month of purchase, SL can select suppliers 
who need to get their bill discounted from SL’s bank. The 
selected suppliers will transfer their bills to the bank for 
immediate cash.
• Assume that the bill amount is Rs. 100; the bank 
will deduct Rs. 10 as discounting charge and pay the 
remaining amount (Rs. 90) to the supplier.
• Through an agreement signed between SL and the 
bank, SL:

• Commits itself to pay to the bank the specified invoice 
on its due date.
• Pays a service fee for ‘services’ to the bank.
• Pays finance cost to the bank (as per a credit line with 
the bank).

• In summary, SL will pay to the bank:
• Nominal amount of the invoice (Rs. 100).
• Less discount for immediate payment included in the 
payment conditions between the buyer and SL (Rs. 10).
• Plus, the service and finance commission payable to 
the Bank (Rs. 5).

Response
• The supplier appears to have relinquished its obligation 
to pay to the bank. It appears that SL has now the 
obligation for payment to the bank.

• The substance of the transaction is that SL is paying 
in advance to the supplier for getting the benefit of cash 
discount.
• For this purpose, it is drawing a credit line from the bank 
and paying the related interest expense.
• The supplier’s participation in the arrangement is 
decided by SL.
• These facts indicate that the supplier payable should be 
reclassified from trade payable to a bank borrowing.

What are the various disclosure requirements 
applicable in a reverse factoring arrangement?

REQUIREMENTS OF Ind AS 
STANDARDS
1. Paragraph 6 of Ind AS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows 
defines: (a) operating activities as the principal revenue-
producing activities of the entity and other activities that 
are not investing or financing activities; and (b) financing 
activities as activities that result in changes in the size 
and composition of the contributed equity and borrowings 
of the entity.

2. Paragraph 43 of Ind AS 7 states: ‘Investing and financing 
transactions that do not require the use of cash or cash 
equivalents shall be excluded from a statement of cash 
flows. Such transactions shall be disclosed elsewhere in the 
financial statements in a way that provides all the relevant 
information about those investing and financing activities.’

3. Paragraph 44 of Ind AS 7 states: ‘Many investing 
and financing activities do not have a direct impact on 
current cash flows although they do affect the capital and 
asset structure of an entity. The exclusion of non-cash 
transactions from the statement of cash flows is consistent 
with the objective of a statement of cash flows as these 
items do not involve cash flows in the current period.’

4. Paragraph 44A of Ind AS 7 states: ‘An entity shall 
provide disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes.’

5. Paragraph 122 of Ind AS 1 – Presentation of Financial 
Statements states: ‘An entity shall disclose, along with its 
significant accounting policies or other notes, the judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, that management 
has made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.’
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6. Paragraph 112 of Ind AS 1 states: ‘The notes shall: …. (c) 
provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the 
financial statements, but is relevant to an understanding 
of any of them.’

ANALYSIS
The analysis below is consistent with the IFRIC tentative 
agenda decision in June, 2020, ‘Supply Chain Financing 
Arrangements – Reverse Factoring – Agenda Paper 2.’

Cash flow statement
An entity that has entered into a reverse factoring 
arrangement determines whether to classify cash flows 
under the arrangement as cash flows from operating 
activities or cash flows from financing activities. If the entity 
considers the related liability to be a trade or other payable 
that is part of the working capital used in the entity’s principal 
revenue-producing activities, then the entity presents 
cash outflows to settle the liability as arising from 
operating activities in its statement of cash flows. In 
contrast, if the entity considers the related liability as 
borrowings of the entity, then the entity presents cash 
outflows to settle the liability as arising from financing 
activities in its statement of cash flows.

Investing and financing transactions that do not require 
the use of cash or cash equivalents are excluded from 
an entity’s statement of cash flows (paragraph 43 of Ind 
AS 7). Consequently, if cash inflow and cash outflow 
occur for an entity when an invoice is factored as part of 
a reverse factoring arrangement, then the entity presents 
those cash flows in its statement of cash flows. If no cash 
flows are involved in a financing transaction of an entity, 
then the entity discloses the transaction elsewhere in the 
financial statements in a way that provides all the relevant 
information about the financing activity (paragraph 43 of 
Ind AS 7).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Paragraph 44A of Ind AS 7 requires an entity to provide 
‘disclosures that enable users of financial statements 
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows 
and non-cash changes’. Such a disclosure is required for 
liabilities that are part of a reverse factoring arrangement if 
the cash flows for those liabilities were, or future cash flows 
will be, classified as cash flows from financing activities.

Ind AS 107 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures defines 
liquidity risk as ‘the risk that an entity will encounter 
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 

liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another 
financial asset’. Reverse factoring arrangements often 
give rise to liquidity risk because:
(a) the entity has concentrated a portion of its liabilities 
with one financial institution rather than a diverse 
group of suppliers. The entity may also obtain other 
sources of funding from the financial institution providing 
the reverse factoring arrangement. If the entity were to 
encounter any difficulty in meeting its obligations, such 
a concentration would increase the risk that the entity 
may have to pay a significant amount, at one time, to one 
counter party.
(b) some suppliers may have become accustomed to, 
or reliant on, earlier payment of their trade receivables 
under the reverse factoring arrangement. If the financial 
institution were to withdraw the reverse factoring 
arrangement, those suppliers could demand shorter credit 
terms. Shorter credit terms could affect the entity’s ability 
to settle liabilities, particularly if the entity were already in 
financial distress.

Paragraphs 33-35 of Ind AS 107 require an entity 
to disclose how exposures to risk arising from 
financial instruments including liquidity risk arise, the 
entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing 
the risk, summary quantitative data about the entity’s 
exposure to liquidity risk at the end of the reporting period 
(including further information if this data is unrepresentative 
of the entity’s exposure to liquidity risk during the period), 
and concentrations of risk. Paragraphs 39 and B11F of Ind 
AS 107 specify further requirements and factors an entity 
might consider in providing liquidity risk disclosures.

An entity applies judgement in determining whether to 
provide additional disclosures in the notes about the 
effect of reverse factoring arrangements on its financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows. An entity 
needs to consider the following:
(i) assessing how to present liabilities and cash flows 
related to reverse factoring arrangements may involve 
judgement. An entity discloses judgements that 
management has made in this respect if they are among 
the judgements made that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements 
(paragraph 122 of Ind AS 1).
(ii) reverse factoring arrangements may have a material 
effect on an entity’s financial statements. An entity provides 
information about reverse factoring arrangements in its 
financial statements to the extent that such information 
is relevant to an understanding of any of those financial 
statements (paragraph 112 of Ind AS 1).
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Business enterprises with presence in multiple 
geographical locations either set up an independent legal 
entity (recognised under the host state laws) or operate 
through extended establishments such as branch offices, 
installation / project sites, personnel, etc. (referred to as 
multi-location entity – MLE). Such MLEs give rise to critical 
tax consequences in both the host state and the parent 
states. While the general economic principle in framing 
fiscal laws for such presence is to ensure avoidance 
of double taxation and non-taxation, due to a lack of 
consensus on international transactions on the VAT / GST 
front this objective is far from being achieved. The issue of 
taxation is relatively simpler when the business enterprises 
set up an independent subsidiary and remunerate them 
at arm’s length for all their activities. The complexity 
arises with presence through extended establishments 
as the arrangements between the head office and these 
establishments are not clearly discernible or documented 
for comparison with external world transactions.

VAT laws globally have termed these extensions as ‘fixed 
establishment’ – this has been used as a tool to assist 
them in identifying the end destination of the service 
or intangibles. The OECD VAT / GST guidelines have 
suggested three approaches in taxation of MLEs for 
services and intangibles and to reach the end consumption 
of the service: (i) Direct use approach where the focus is 
on the establishment that uses the services; (ii) Direct 
delivery approach where the focus is on the establishment 
to which the services are delivered (with a presumption 
that delivery is a good reference point of use); and (iii) 
Recharge approach which factors the inefficiencies in 
both approaches and requires the MLE to recharge the 
externally procured costs to the establishment which 
ultimately uses the services in order to ensure that the 
VAT chain continues to the state of consumption1.

The Income Tax law (along with tax treaties) has 
recognised the presence of foreign enterprises in 
India through business connections / permanent 
establishments (PE) for the purpose of taxation. The 
term ‘permanent establishment’ has been used with a 
dual purpose – (a) fixing the taxing rights over the source 
of income pertaining to the extended presence in India; 
and (b) application of Transfer Pricing Regulations for 
ascertainment of arm’s length profits of permanent 
establishments through a process of profit attribution. 
Being a nation-wide law, domestic branches really do not 
alter the revenue situation from an income tax perspective 
and have no significance in this respect.

Under the Indian GST law, not only do we have to resolve 
transactions spanning across national borders, we also 
have to deal with transactions over state borders. Article 
286 of the Indian Constitution empowered Parliament to 
play the role of a mediator for inter-state transactions. 
Article 286 articulates the location of the supply and also 
defines the state which would have exclusive jurisdiction 
to tax the supply transactions. To give effect to this 
geographical jurisdiction, the IGST law, in addition to other 
principles, included the concept of ‘fixed establishment’. 
The objective of this term is to identify the taxable person, 
the source and destination of a supply and the appropriate 
jurisdiction for taxing the transaction.

Before venturing into a comparative analysis of fixed 
establishment (FE) with permanent establishment (PE), it 
is imperative that the underlying objectives of both laws are 
understood clearly. The VAT / GST laws have introduced 
the said concept in order to give effect to the destination 
principle, i.e., taxation revenues ultimately accrue to the 
state in which the services are consumed and the neutrality 
principle, i.e., non-resident and residents are treated in 
the same manner, while the Income Tax laws introduced 
the concept of permanent establishments in line with the 
‘source principle’ of taxation, i.e., the country from which 

INTERPLAY OF FIXED ESTABLISHMENT WITH 
PERMANENT ESTABLISHMENT

SUNIL GABHAWALLA I RISHABH SINGHVI I PARTH SHAH
Chartered Accountants

DECODING GST

1 It is probable that the recharge approach has weighed heavily while drafting 
Schedule 1 of the CGST Act
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2 ECJ EC 4th July, 1985, 168/84, ECLI:EU:C:1985:299 (Günter Berkholz), 
European Court Reports, 1985

3 ECJ EC 17th July, 1997, C-190/95, ECLI:EU:C:1997:374 (ARO Lease), 
European Court Reports, 1997

4 Passive FEs being those which only receive / procure inputs / services (cost 
centres) and Active FEs which also provide services (profit centres)

5 ECJ EU 15th October, 2014, C-605/12, ECLI:EU:C:2014:2298 (Welmory), 
Official Journal 2014, C 462

6 OECD Model Convention on Tax Treaties as an example

presence of personnel for maintenance of the machines. 
The ECJ on consideration of the cumulative requirement 
of permanence of human and technical resources held 
that the FE was not established. Similarly, in the ARO 
Lease case a company was engaged in leasing of cars 
to its customers in Belgium (these cars were purchased 
by ARO, Netherlands from Belgian dealers and delivered 
to the customers directly in Belgium); it was held by the 
ECJ that neither the presence of cars of ARO in Belgium 
nor the self-employed intermediaries (Belgium dealers) 
created a sufficient permanent human and technical 
presence to constitute an FE.

With Articles 11(1) and (2) of the EU implementing 
regulations, the EU-VAT law has categorised fixed 
establishment into ‘passive’ and ‘active’ fixed 
establishments4. The IGST law has adopted both in one 
definition with the use of the disjunctive phrase ‘or’ in the 
last few words of the definition (discussed in detail later). 
This may be considered as essential because the concept 
of fixed establishment has been used to ascertain both 
the location of cases where services are either received 
or provided from the said fixed establishment.

After the introduction of the implementing regulation, the 
Welmory case5 examined a situation where a Cyprian 
company had appointed a Polish company to maintain 
and operate a website for online auction. The entire 
process of auction was functioning through the website 
maintained by the Polish company. The ECJ stated 
that the economic activities of the Polish company and 
Polish customers does not by itself constitute a fixed 
establishment and the services of the Polish company 
should be viewed distinctly from that of the Cyprian 
company to the Polish customers.

PERMANENT ESTABLISHMENT UNDER 
INCOME TAX – CONCEPT
In Income Tax, the domestic legislation used the phrase 
‘business connection’ which is of very wide amplitude, but 
taxpayers use the benefit of a narrower term PE6 which is 
used in most tax treaties (OECD, US or UN model). The 

the income has been generated should have the right to 
tax the said income. This fundamental divergence would 
act as a natural impediment to automatic application of 
the PE definition to the FE definition.

FIXED ESTABLISHMENT UNDER GST – 
CONCEPT
In general, the GST law defines the term FE in contra-
distinction with the term ‘place of business’. The 
phrase place of business (PoB) refers to a place from 
where business is ordinarily carried out and includes a 
warehouse, godown or any other place where the supplies 
are made or received. FE has been defined to mean a 
place (other than the registered place of business) which 
is characterised with a sufficient degree of permanence in 
terms of human and technical resources in order to supply 
or receive and use services for its own needs. The terms 
PoB and FE are relevant to decide the ‘from’ location and 
the ‘to’ location of the service activity and consequently 
the right location of supplier and recipient of service.

The PoB / FE concept also has some background in 
the Service Tax enactment and the Place of Provision 
of Services Rules. With similarly worded terms, the 
education guide on service tax explained the objective 
behind the concept of fixed establishment as follows. It 
was stated in paragraph 5.2.3 that the term ‘location’ was 
significant from the perspective of service provider and 
recipient in order to ascertain the source or rendition of 
a particular service. The paragraph also stressed that 
the location also assists in identifying the jurisdiction of 
the field formation (under Service Tax being a Central 
enactment) which would have domain to assess the 
transaction. This can probably also support the point that 
the fixed establishment concept would play a pivotal role 
in identifying the appropriate state to which the taxing 
domain lies.

FIXED ESTABLISHMENT UNDER EU-VAT 
– CONCEPT
The Indian GST definition of fixed establishment has 
been influenced by the EU-VAT law. The EU Sixth 
VAT Directive (Article 43) adopted the term ‘fixed 
establishment’ for ascertaining the place of supply of 
services. The term was objectively expanded in 2011 
by virtue of Articles 11(1) and 11(2) of the implementing 
regulations (a procedural law). Prior to this expansion, 
certain decisions analysed the definition of fixed 
establishment, i.e., the Berkholz2 and ARO Lease3 cases. 
The Berkholz case involved gaming machines installed 
by the taxpayer on on-going sea vessels with intermittent 
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term PE has been defined as a fixed place of business 
through which the business of an enterprise is wholly or 
partly carried out and includes the following: (a) place 
of management; (b) branch, office, factory, workshop, 
warehouse, etc., (c) building, construction or installation 
site; (d) provision of services through presence of 
personnel; and (e) dependent agency. In case a foreign 
enterprise constitutes a PE in a host state, the PE is to 
be granted a separate entity status and business profits 
attributable to the PE at arms’ length are to be taxed in the 
state in which the PE is constituted.

Having understood the broad concept of FE and PE in 
GST / EU and Income Tax law, we now proceed to identify 
the points at which the said terms would converge / 
diverge through the assistance of illustrations and then 
tabulate the same for future reference.

CONSTITUTION OF A PE / FE – 
COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS
(A) Fixed place PE (basic rule): Stability, productivity 
and dependence
Article 5 of Income Tax treaties defines a fixed place PE as 
‘fixed place of business’ through which the business of an 
enterprise is wholly or partly carried out. The fixed place 
PE rests on three primary tests: (a) place of business; (b) 
location test; and (c) permanence test. Article 5(2), in fact, 
enumerates instances such as branch, office, factory, 
workshop, warehouse, etc., which by default satisfy the 
above tests, especially the place of business test.

The place of business test postulates that some portion of 
the business activity of the MLE enterprise is conducted 
through the physical office in India. The extent of business 
activity conducted in India is ascertained through a 
FAR analysis (Functions performed, Assets employed 
and Risks assumed) of the PE’s operations in India. 
But there is one critical exclusion in terms of conduct of 
preparatory or auxiliary activities – in effect, where a part 
of the business activity is conducted in a territory and such 
part is preparatory or auxiliary in nature, the MLE is not 
considered to have a permanent establishment in the said 
territory. In the context of this Basic Rule PE, the Supreme 
Court in DIT vs. Morgan Stanley [2007 (7) TMI 201] was 
examining whether back-office operations of a subsidiary 
constitute a place of business of the parent company. 
The Court held that the support function performed would 
not constitute an extension of the business activity of 
the parent. Similarly, the mere fact that the business of 
the parent company is outsourced or support functions 
are performed by the Indian subsidiary, was considered 

as irrelevant for the purpose of concluding that the 
parent company is having an establishment in India [ADIT 
vs. E Funds IT Solutions Inc. 2017 (10) TMI 1011]. 
These decisions imply that the business activity should be 
understood as an extension of the set-up already in place 
in the parent company rather than an independent entity.

The location test requires that there has to be a physical 
presence of the business in a specific place (though the 
place may be mobile within the defined territory). This test 
warrants that the business activity should be capable of 
being tagged to the physical territory either as equipment, 
branch or any such physical infrastructure.

As for the permanence test, the OECD commentary 
states that the term ‘fixed’ itself warrants a certain degree 
of permanence at the location in which the physical 
infrastructure is placed in the taxable territory. The phrase 
‘fixed’, as an adjective, also attaches a certain degree of 
permanence to the place of business which is a prerequisite 
under this Article (also stated in the OECD commentary)7. In 
the absence of a defined time period under the treaties, there 
is some relativity in the way jurisprudence has developed 
to identify the degree of permanence of an activity. While 
each case produced different results, a recent decision of 
the Supreme Court in Formula One World Championship 
Ltd. vs. CIT, Delhi [2017] 80 taxmann.com 347 (SC) 
examined a Formula One race arrangement which lasted 
for approximately three weeks and held that such an 
arrangement constituted a fixed place PE. The background 
to the case involved a Formula One race conducted by 
FOWC which involved placement of the entire racing 
infrastructure / equipment on Budd International Circuit and 
FOWC had complete control over the schedule, equipment 
and personnel at the location. The Supreme Court stressed 
on the disposal test (i.e., FOWC having exclusive and 
complete control over the racing circuit) rather than the 
duration test for testing the permanence of an activity. In 
other words, ‘fixed’ was interpreted by the Supreme Court 
with reference to the exclusivity and control over the place 
rather than the duration of usage (which is relative for each 
business activity).

In comparison, the FE definition in IGST law also relies 
on a ‘sufficient degree of permanence’. The legislature 
has used a very subjective term probably keeping in view 
varied industry practices. For example, the Formula One 
race arrangements which last only for three weeks in a 
calendar year at a particular location, was considered 

7 CIT vs. Visakhapatnam Port Trust 1983 (6) TMI 31
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as a sufficient degree of permanence by the Court given 
the peculiarity of the sporting event. Moreover, the Court 
stressed on the adequacy of control over the three-
week period rather than the duration of three weeks. 
Though speculative, it is probable that the Court might 
not have reached the same result in case the facts were 
for a long duration project (e.g., oil exploration activities, 
etc.). Probably, this test would also be applicable for 
understanding the FE definition. Whether the phrase 
‘sufficient degree of permanence’ has to be assessed 
keeping the disposal test or the duration test in mind, is a 
question open for debate.

Further, the disposal test should also be addressed factoring 
in the nature of supply which is under consideration, for 
example, presence of a few weeks would be sufficient 
for rendering legal advisory services on a particular 
issue but a presence of even a few months would not be 
sufficient while rendering the very same advisory services 
for construction of a building. The service tax education 
guide states that the relevant factor is the ‘adequacy’ of 
the human and technical resources to render the ‘service’ 
for deciding whether there is sufficient permanence in 
the activity. In the absence of detailed jurisprudence on 
this subject, one may imbibe the settled principle under 
Income Tax while interpreting the FE definition.

(B) Service PE (Extended PE): Physical presence of 
employees
The OECD Model Convention provides for a service PE 
if the aggregate presence of the personnel in the taxable 
territory is beyond 183 days in a 12-month period8. The 
nature of services that are rendered by the personnel could 
be wide in range. Physical presence of personnel in the 
taxable territory rendering a service, irrespective of the type 
of service, would be prominent in deciding the constitution 
of a service PE. But the Supreme Court in Morgan Stanley 
(Supra) differentiated the services rendered through own 
employees of MS USA and deputed employees of MS 
USA. The Court held that in the case of own employees 
performing supervisory / stewardship activities, there is 
no service being rendered by the presence of employees 
in India to the Indian subsidiary, rather the presence of 
personnel is for the sole benefit of the parent company 
in order to ensure quality control, confidentiality, etc. On 
the other hand, the employees of MS India deputed for 
assisting the operations of MS India were considered as an 
identifiable service activity to the Indian subsidiary, hence 
a service PE was held to be constituted.

Under GST, the reference to personnel is made in the 
definition of fixed establishment by use of the phrase 
‘human resources’. But this aspect is not a stand-alone 
requirement for constitution of a fixed establishment. The 
human capital is required to be equipped with a degree of 
permanence and technical resources (depending on the 
nature of work) in order to constitute a fixed establishment. 
The permanence test applicable to Fixed Place PE may 
be adopted while examining the FE arising out of service 
personnel. It is also important that the human capital should 
be ‘capable of availing and rendering the service activity’ to 
the third party while being present in the taxable territory.

We may recall that the EU-VAT in Berkholz’s case held 
that the presence of personnel to maintain the gaming 
equipment on an intermittent basis did not constitute a fixed 
establishment in the foreign territory. Probably, the IGST 
law may also have to follow suit and despite a service PE 
being constituted under Income Tax, if the human capital 
is using technical resources of the end customer there 
may be a ground to contend that a fixed establishment is 
not constituted. From a practical standpoint, many MNCs 
appoint personnel for maintenance and on-site repair of 
machinery. Where repair and maintenance is partially 
conducted from the Indian territory with a significant 
portion being conducted remotely, one may view the 
same as not constituting an FE in India, but where the said 
personnel (with their equipment) are capable of rendering 
the service exhaustively, the said personnel can be said 
to have constituted a PE in India.

(C) Agency PE (non-obstante rule): Dependence 
(DAPE)
The concept of agency PE was introduced to address 
quasi-presence of foreign enterprises through dependent 
representatives in the taxable territory. Notwithstanding 
the requirements of a basic rule PE, Article 5 provides 
for formation of a dependent agency PE where, (a) the 
person habitually concludes contracts or even possesses 
the authority to conclude contracts; (b) maintains inventory 
of goods on behalf of its principal; or (c) habitually 
secures orders wholly or primarily for its principal in 
India. The primary requirement is that a principal-agency 
relationship is visible and such agent, if at all, should be 
one who is NOT operating in his independent capacity 
in his ordinary course of business. Evidently, a principal-
agent relationship would be established if the agent acts 
in a representative capacity with an ability to bind its 
principal to its actions.

The Bombay High Court in CIT vs. Taj TV Limited 8 UN Model narrows the test to a 6-month period
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[2020 (3) TMI 500] examined whether revenues under 
the exclusive distribution agreement by Taj TV Limited 
involving fees from cable operators and granting 
them viewing and relay rights, were under an agency 
relationship. Under the distribution agreement, Taj TV 
was given independent rights to market and promote the 
TV channels and negotiate and conclude contracts with 
sub-distributors. In this decision, the Court observed that 
Taj TV under sub-distributor agreement and the cable-
operator agreement, acted in its own capacity and the 
foreign enterprise did not have any privity in deciding the 
pricing of the rights. Hence it was concluded that there 
was a principal-to-principal relationship. In contrast, the 
very same Bombay High Court in DIT Mumbai vs. B4U 
International Holdings Limited 2015 (5) TMI 277 on 
those specific facts held that the Indian entity did not have 
any authority to conclude contracts on its own and was 
under the direction and control of its principal and hence 
constituted a DAPE in India.

The secondary requirement of constitution of a DAPE is 
that the agent should not be of independent status. ‘Legal 
and economic independence’ are the two tests which are 
usually applied for this clause. International commentaries 
suggest that if the agent is responsible for its own actions, 
takes risks and has its own special skill and knowledge to 
render the agency service, such agent would be termed 
as an independent agent. In certain AAR rulings9 under 
Income Tax, the dependency agency test was applied 
and held not to be fulfilled on the ground that similar 
services were being provided to multiple FIIs and not just 
one principal. Moreover, the treaties itself provides for an 
exclusion where the agent renders its services to multiple 
principals, evidencing that it has risk abilities, own skill 
and knowledge, etc. to act independently.

As regards the authority to conclude contracts, paragraph 
33 of the OECD commentary states that a person who 
is authorised to negotiate all elements of a contract in a 
binding way on the enterprise can be said to have the 
authority to conclude contracts and the mere fact that the 
person has attended and participated in negotiations is 
not sufficient authority under this PE rule10.

In contrast, the IGST law does not have a specific case 
of agency for the purpose of fixed establishment for a 

supplier or its recipient. It would be interesting to note that 
section 2(105) of the CGST Act has extended the definition 
of a supplier to include its agent as well who is engaged 
as supplier of services. By virtue of this inclusion, the 
location of the supplier would have to be adjudged after 
taking cognisance of the presence of an agent in India. 
As an illustration, if Taj TV was appointed as an agent 
of Taj Mauritius for distribution of channels, the location 
of the supplier for the services rendered by Taj Mauritius 
(i.e., channel access fee) would be liable to be attributed 
to the Taj TV (as an agent) of Taj Mauritius resulting in Taj 
Mauritius being considered as present in India through the 
FE-agency relationship. Unlike Income Tax, the agency 
relationship need not always be one who is dependent 
on the principal. The place of business of the agent would 
be considered as the place of business of the principal 
(to the extent of the agency relationship) and fixed as the 
location of supplier of such services. Of course, the basic 
FE rule under GST such as permanence, human and 
technical resources would still have to be satisfied by the 
agent in order to qualify as an FE in India.

The location of supplier and recipient definitions has been 
limited only for the service activity and not transactions 
of supply of goods. One of the reasons may be that the 
agency FE may not be applicable to selling / purchasing 
agents of goods. This is because agency transactions in 
respect of supply of goods are covered under Schedule I 
of the CGST Act which deems the principal and agent as 
separate beings. Once the agent is equated to a purchaser 
of goods, by way of a deeming fiction, the agent would be 
considered as a quasi-supplier for other purposes of the 
Act and not as a representative of its principal. Hence, an 
agency PE under Income Tax for supply of goods would not 
translate into an FE for the very same principal under GST.

(D) Construction / Installation PE
Tax treaties recognises any construction, installation, 
project site, etc., including supervisory activities11 of a 
foreign enterprise as being construction / installation PEs. 
The treaties (OECD – 12 months; UN – 6 months) specify 
the period beyond which the PE is said to be constituted. 
All planning and designing activity prior to physical visit 
to the site would be included in the PE (UN Model). The 
Tribunal in SAIL vs. ACIT (2007) 105 ITD 679 held that 
supervisory services provided by a company even though 
it was itself not engaged in installation activity would be 
sufficient to constitute an installation PE.9 XYZ/ABC Equity Fund vs. CIT (2001) 116 Taxman 719 (AAR); Fidelity 

Services Series VIII in (2004) 271 ITR 1 (AAR)
10 India has expressed its reservations to the OECD commentary on this aspect 

and submitted that mere participation in negotiations is also evidence of 
authority to conclude contracts 11 Only in UN model treaties
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The IGST law has not carved out a specific instance of 
a construction / installation FE. The fixed establishment 
definition itself encompasses any presence of human and 
technical resources as sufficient grounds to constitute 
an FE. Moreover, construction activities generally entail 
direct procurement and supply of services and hence all 
the ingredients of constituting an FE stand established. 
Unlike the situation in SAIL’s case above which involved 
mere provision of supervisory services, such activities 
may not constitute an FE in GST law.

(E) Significant Economic Presence (SEP): Digital 
footprint
With increasing digital presence globally, BEPS Action Plan 
1 identified the problems of taxation due to advancement 
of digital economy. The concept of significant economic 
presence (SEP), which could be represented by the 
digital footprint of an enterprise, was given legal sanctity 
in the Income Tax law. The law has prescribed minimum 
thresholds on the basis of digital footprint for constituting 
significant economic presence in the country – the 
thresholds could take the form of number of digital users, 
revenue per user, etc. The BEPS Action Plan as well as 
the memorandum suggesting this amendment stated 
that the traditional concept of permanent establishment 
requiring physical presence in the taxable territory cannot 
be possibly applied to digital transactions and hence 
alternative criteria such as the above are necessary for 
viewing significant economic presence.

The Indian GST law has not considered this aspect for 
the purpose of defining fixed establishment. The law has 
defined a term ‘Online Database and Information Access 
or retrieval service activity’ to tax all digital economy 
transactions. In fact, this law has alternatively chosen to 
place a tax liability by adopting a different approach and 
treating this transaction as an import of service into India and 
taxing the same in the hands of the business user. In case 
of B2C transactions, the GST law has placed the obligation 
on the foreign company to identify a representative in India 
for discharging the tax burden on such transaction.

In summary, the GST FE concept and the Income Tax 
PE concept converge and diverge at multiple points which 
can be tabulated as follows (see Table 1):

ATTRIBUTION / RECHARGE APPROACH
Income Tax attributes income / profit to the PE based 
on the FAR approach. This would involve estimations 
and approximations; profitability is not traceable to the 
transaction level.

Table 1

Aspect Convergence Limited 
Divergence

Complete 
Divergence

Fixed PE Degree of 
permanence

Disposal test 
which does 
not seem to 
be a clear 

prerequisite 
in FE; no 

exclusion for 
preparatory 
/ auxiliary 

activity in FE

Capability of 
receipt and / 
or supply of 

services is not 
required in PE

Service PE Rendition of 
services

Duration test 
for PE and 
FE may be 
differently 

viewed

Presence 
of technical 

resources are 
essential for 

FE
Agency PE Agent 

constituting PE 
/ FE

Agency in 
respect of 

goods not part 
of FE test due 

to deeming 
fiction in 

Schedule I

Dependency 
not an FE 
test ~ multi 

service agents 
constituting FE

Construction 
PE

Construction site 
being place of 

business

Ancillary 
activities 

may form a 
Construction 
PE but not 

an FE

No time limit 
specified for 

FE and relative 
to nature of 

work

SEP NIL NIL Treated as 
OIDAR and 

liable for RCM 
/ FCM as the 
case may be

In GST, India has adopted the recharge approach in cases 
of service transactions. For example, with respect to 
services directly connected to an FE, the requirement under 
GST law is to ‘bill from’ the FE / ‘bill to’ the FE which is most 
directly concerned with the supply. The FE would then have 
to recharge the relevant establishment in the organisation 
which has consumed the service even partially. In such 
a manner, the tax revenues would follow the contractual 
obligations (with the presumption that economics would 
assist in reaching the point of consumption) and hence 
the importance of identification of the relevant FE would 
assume high significance.

However, in cases of agency of supply of goods, the 
requirement of the law is to deem them as distinct entities 
at the outset itself and equate them to a seller or purchaser 
of goods. By this approach, the VAT chain passes through 
the agent and attempts to reach the end consumption of 

Continued on page 76  
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN GST

NOTIFICATIONS
(1)  One-time waiver of late fees – Notification No. 
52/2020-Central Tax, dated 24th June, 2020
Non-filers of GST returns for the period July, 2017 to 
January, 2020 who file their returns before 30th September, 
2020 shall not be required to pay any late fees. Further, 
the revised dates for filing GSTR3B for taxpayers with 
turnover less than Rs. 5 crores for the months June and 
July, 2020 have been extended as follows:
June, 2020 – 
Group A States = 23rd September, 2020
Group B States = 25th September, 2020
July, 2020 – 
Group A States = 27th September, 2020
Group B States = 29th September, 2020

(2)  Capping of maximum late fee – Notification No. 
57/2020-Central Tax, dated 30th June, 2020
Notification No. 52/2020-Central Tax is amended and 
a new proviso is added vide this Notification to cap the 
maximum amount of late fee payable by late filers of 
GSTR3B for the period starting from February, 2020 and 
up to July, 2020. The maximum late fee payable for the 
above periods shall be Rs. 500 per return, if the returns 
are filed after the due date but before 30th September, 
2020.

(3)  SMS facility for Nil returns – Notification No. 
58/2020-Central Tax, dated 1st July, 2020
This Notification has amended the CGST rules to provide 
for filing of Nil GSTR1 or GSTR3B using Short Messaging 
Service (SMS) directly, using OTP authentication.

CIRCULARS
(i)  Clarifications on Covid-19 – Relief measures 
Circular No. 141/11/2020-GST
By the above Circular, the CBIC has clarified some doubts 
regarding the Covid-19 relief measures provided by the 
Government. It has been clarified that the interest shall be 
payable as per the interest applicable across different time 
periods. For example, if GSTR3B for the month of April, 
2020 is filed on 28th June, 2020, where the original due 

date was 20th May, the conditional extended filing date was 
4th June, 2020, the interest will be payable as follows:

No. of days delay = 39
Interest = Nil for 15 days (up to 4th June, 2020)
    9% for 20 days (up to 24th June, 2020)
    18% for 4 days (up to 28th June, 2020)

ADVANCE RULINGS
(A) Rate of tax on mehandi / henna
Sunil Kumar Gehlot (Sunil Kumar & Co.) (Order No. 
RAJ/AAR/2020-21/01, dated 6th May, 2020)
The issue regarding rate of tax on henna was before the 
learned AAR, Rajasthan. The applicant wishes to start 
manufacturing mehandi / henna powder.

The applicant submitted that the classification dispute as 
regards mehandi / henna powder was prevalent since 
the days of the Central Excise Laws and the confusion 
continued to persist in the GST era. He further submitted 
that while selecting the commodities at the time of filing 
the registration application, the HSN Code 14041019 
specifically mentions ‘Henna Powder’ and so the applicant 
has mentioned the classification of the product under 
Chapter 14 and, accordingly, the rate of GST applicable 
is 5%.

The applicant stated that the rate on henna powder 
was decided at 5% since the inception of GST. He 
produced the agenda list of the fitment committee for 
the consideration of the GST Council. In that, it could be 
seen from Agenda Item No. 10 that the rate was decided 
to be kept at 5%. He produced the relevant extracts and 
supporting documents for the consideration of the AAR.

The AAR considered the above arguments and heard the 
jurisdictional officers for their views. They had relied on 
Wikipedia for the meaning / definition of the word ‘henna 
/ mehandi’ and observed that henna and mehandi are the 
same product with different names and are obtained from 
the mehandi tree by grinding its leaves.

G.G. GOYAL 
Chartered Accountant

C.B. THAKAR
Advocate
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They further observed that tariff items 14041011 to 
14041090 have been omitted from the Customs Tariff Act, 
1975 and hence no such tariff item is available in the said 
Act. In view of the above, the question of classification 
of products under discussion under 14041011 does not 
arise.

The learned AAR observed that it is a well-known fact that 
henna / mehandi powder has a natural property of dyeing 
/ tanning and is generally used as hair dye. Therefore, 
the product is rightly classified under Chapter Heading 
3305 as preparations for use on hair and covered under 
amended Notification No. 41/2017-CT(R) dated 14th 

November, 2017 and shall attract GST @ 18%.

(B) Sale of land plot with basic amenities
Shri Dipesh Anilkumar Naik (Order No. GUJ/
GAAR/R/11/2020, dated 19th May, 2020)
The applicant has submitted that he has a vacant land 
outside the municipal area of the town on which he 
has some proposed business activity and has all the 
necessary approvals for the project from the Plan Passing 
Authority (i.e., zilla panchayat). The applicant has further 
submitted that as per the said Authority, the seller of land 
is required to develop the primary amenities like sewerage 
and drainage line, water line, electricity line, land levelling 
for road, pipeline facilities for drinking water, street lights, 
telephone line, etc. The applicant also submitted that they 
will sell the individual plots to different buyers without any 
construction on the same but by providing the primary 
amenities as mentioned above, which are the mandatory 
requirements of the Plan Passing Authority.

The applicant wished to know the applicability of GST on 
the proposed sale of plots with the amenities as mandated 
by the Authority.

The AAR referred to Schedule III to the GST Act. This 
Schedule sets out the activities or transactions which 
are treated as neither a supply of goods nor as supply 
of services. Therein, Entry 5 covers sale of land which is 
excluded from GST levy. On the basis of this entry, the 
AAR observed that where the nature of activity is that of 
only sale of immoveable property of a plot, it is excluded 
from GST levy.

Further, the AAR found that the plotted development is 
a scheme which involves forming land into a layout after 
obtaining necessary plan approval from the Development 
Authority, get all other permissions required to take up, 
commence and complete what would be the layout, 

comprising of individual sites. In the activity of plot 
development, the following are done – levelling the land, 
construction of boundary wall, construction of roads, 
laying of underground cables and water pipelines, laying 
of underground sewerage lines with sewage treatment 
plants, development of landscaped gardens, drainage 
system, water harvesting system, demarcation of 
individual plots, construction of overhead tanks and other 
infrastructure works.

In addition, common amenities like garden, community 
hall, etc. are also offered in some schemes. The sale 
of such sites is done to the end customers who may 
construct houses / villas on the plots.

The AAR noted that sellers charge the rates on super 
built-up basis and not the actual measurement of the 
plots. The super built-up area includes the area used 
for common amenities, roads, water tank and other 
infrastructure on a proportionate basis. Thus, in effect, 
the seller is collecting charges towards the land as well 
as the common amenities, roads, water tank and other 
infrastructure on a proportionate basis. In other words, 
such common amenities, roads, water tank and other 
infrastructure are an intrinsic part of the plot allotted to 
the buyer.

The AAR held that the above indicates that the sale of a 
developed plot is not equivalent to the sale of land but is 
a different transaction. Sale of such plotted development 
was tantamount to rendering of service. This view has 
also been taken by the Supreme Court in the case of 
M/s Narne Construction P. Ltd. reported at 2013 (29) 
STR 3 (SC).

He further held that the activity of the sale of developed 
plots would be covered under the clause ‘construction of 
a complex intended for sale to a buyer’ as contained in 
Schedule II to the CGST Act. Thus, the AAR ruled that the 
said activity is covered under ‘construction services’ and 
GST is payable on the sale of developed plots in terms of 
the CGST Act / Rules and relevant Notifications issued 
from time to time.

(C) Classification of popcorn sold in containers
Jay Jalaram Enterprises (Order No. GUJ/
GAAR/R/03/2020, dated 11th March, 2020)
The applicant was involved in the manufacture and 
supply of the above item. The popcorn is sold in a sealed 
plastic bag bearing a registered brand name ‘[J.J.'s] 
Popcorn’, under the Trade Marks Act, 1999.
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The applicant submitted that their product is 
manufactured by using corn / maize grains. The raw 
grain is heated in an electric machine / oven @ 180/200 
degrees temperature and due to the heat so given to the 
grains, they turn into puffed corns / popcorns which are 
known in Gujarati as ‘dhani’ and are similar to puffed rice 
which is known as ‘murmura’. They are then sieved so 
as to remove the grains that remained unpuffed. During 
the process, salt, edible oil and turmeric powder are 
mixed in required quantities. Thereafter, the product is 
packed in plastic pouches in quantities of 15 grams.

The applicant contended that its product, which is 
popularly known as popcorn, is nothing but corn / 
maize, which is a cereal, falling under Chapter 10. They 
placed reliance on a judgment delivered by the Apex 
Court in M/s Alladi Venkateshwaralu and others vs. 
Government of A.P. (1978) 41 STC 394 (SC), wherein 
it was held that the term ‘atukulu’ (parched rice) and 
‘muramaralu’ (puffed rice) are ‘rice’. Applying the same 
ratio, the applicant further submitted that the term used 
in the above entry as maize (corn) also includes puffed 
maize / popcorn as being a cereal within its meaning and 
therefore [J.J.’s] Popcorn is covered in Entry No. 50 in 
the above tariff item 1005 of Schedule I and is taxable 
accordingly. The applicant also submitted that though 
this judgment is under the provisions of the Central Sales 
Tax Act, 1956, it is still relevant as it used to be in earlier 
times for determining the classification of commodities. 
The principle laid down therein is that a cereal grain, 
even after applying the process of heating, does not lose 
its basic characteristics and thus it remains the same 
grain and this principle is also applicable squarely to 
maize as popcorn.

The AAR relied on the classification notes to Notification 
No. 1/2017-CT(R) which provides as follows:
‘Explanation - For the purposes of this notification, -
(i) ….........… 
(ii) …..........…
(iii) “Tariff item”, “sub-heading”, “heading” and “Chapter” 
shall mean, respectively, a tariff item, sub-heading, 
heading and chapter as specified in the First Schedule 
to the Customs Tariff Act, 1975 (51 of 1975).
(iv) The rules for the interpretation of the First Schedule 
to the Customs Tariff Act, 1975 (51 of 1975), including the 
Section and Chapter Notes and the General Explanatory 
Notes of the First Schedule shall, so far as may be, apply 
to the interpretation of this notification.’

The AAR further relied on the decision of the Hon’ble 

Supreme Court in the case of L.M.L. Ltd. vs. 
Commissioner of Customs [Civil Appeal No. 3764 of 
2003, decided on 21st September, 2010 reported at 
2010 (258) ELT 321 (S.C.)]. It held as follows:

‘12. In Collector of Central Excise, Shillong vs. 
Woodcrafts Products Ltd. reported in (1995) 3 SCC 
454, it was held by this Court that as expressly stated 
in the statements of objects and reasons of the Central 
Excise Tariff Act, 1985, the Central Excise Tariffs are 
based on the Harmonious System of Nomenclature 
(HSN) and the internationally accepted nomenclature 
was taken into account to reduce disputes on account 
of tariff classification. Accordingly, for resolving any 
dispute relating to tariff classification, a safe guide is 
the internationally accepted nomenclature emerging 
from the Harmonious System of Nomenclature (HSN). 
Although the decision in the case of Woodcraft 
Products (Supra) dealt with the interpretation of the 
provisions of the Central Excise Tariff, there can be no 
doubt that the HSN Explanatory Notes are a dependable 
guide even while interpreting the Customs Tariff.’

Relying on the above interpretation rules, the AAR 
observed that the goods in question is ready-to-eat 
prepared food and fits the description as ‘Prepared foods 
obtained by the roasting of cereal’. This description 
attracts classification under Chapter Sub-Heading 1904 
10 of the First Schedule to the Customs Tariff Act, 1975.

The AAR mentioned that there is no specific entry for the 
product ‘popcorn’ in Notification No. 1/2017-Central Tax 
(Rate) dated 28th June, 2017. But there is an entry most 
akin to the product and process (Chapter heading 1904) 
at Sr. No. 15 of Schedule III of Notification No. 1/2017-
CT(R) dated 28th June, 2017 and attracts 9% CGST and 
9% SGST, or 18% IGST.

As against the applicant’s contention that the product 
be classified as maize, the AAR held that Note 1(A) to 
Chapter 10 clearly mentions that ‘the products specified 
in the headings of this Chapter are to be classified in 
those headings only if grains are present, whether or not 
in the ear or on the stalk’. The applicant’s product loses 
the presence of grain in it, so it does not deserve to be 
classified in that heading.

The applicant had also clarified that to make the heated 
maize more palatable, salt, turmeric and some oil was 
added to it; this makes it clear that the product is not 
grain but processed food. 
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RECENT DECISIONS–INDIRECT TAXES

PULOMA DALAL I JAYESH GOGRI I MANDAR TELANG 
Chartered Accountants

PART A ISERVICE TAX

I. HIGH COURT

[2020-TIOL-1128-HC-Del.-ST]
Bsa Citi Courier Pvt. Ltd. vs. Commissioner of 
Central Goods and Services Tax
Date of order: 2nd July, 2020

An application under Sabka Vishwas (Legacy 
Dispute Resolution) Scheme, 2019 cannot be 
rejected without giving an opportunity of being 
heard

FACTS
The petitioner challenged the communication dated 5th 
March, 2020 whereby the declaration filed under the Sabka 
Vishwas (Legacy Dispute Resolution) Scheme 2019 only 
for waiver of interest from April, 2015 to June, 2017 has 
been rejected without affording any opportunity of hearing 
and by stating that – ‘the date of communication declared 
is 5th September, 2019 which is beyond the cut-off date 
(i.e., 30th June, 2019). Therefore, the application cannot 
be accepted u/s 125(1)(e) of Chapter V of the Finance 
Act, 2019’. Revenue submits that the quantification in 
the present case was done post 30th June, 2019 and 
was communicated to the petitioner for the first time on 
5th September, 2019. Therefore, they cannot rely on the 
internal correspondences / communications between 
different departments of Revenue to contend that the 
quantification took place in March, 2019.

HELD
The High Court noted that the impugned communication 
dated 5th March, 2020 has been issued without giving 
an opportunity of hearing to the petitioner and without 
considering the case as put forward. Consequently, the 
present writ petition and pending application are disposed 
of by setting aside the order / communication dated 5th 

March, 2020 and by directing the respondent to give a 
hearing to the petitioner.

II. TRIBUNAL
 

[2020-TIOL-1039-CESTAT-Mad.-LB]
Commissioner of Service Tax vs. 
M/s Repco Home Finance Ltd.
Date of order: 8th June, 2020

Foreclosure charge recovered from customers 
for premature termination of loan is in the nature 
of damages and cannot be considered as a 
consideration for a contract leviable to service tax 
under banking and financial services

FACTS
Divergent views have been expressed by Division 
Benches of the Tribunal on the issue of whether 
foreclosure charges levied by banks and non-banking 
financial companies on premature termination of loans 
are liable to service tax under the head ‘Banking and 
other financial services’. The matter has therefore been 
placed before the larger Bench.

HELD
The Bench primarily noted that service tax would be 
leviable only when an activity is considered to be a 
service and such service classifies as a ‘taxable service’ 
defined in section 65(105) of the Finance Act. It is 
clear from the definition of ‘consideration’ that only an 
amount that is payable for the taxable service will be 
considered as ‘consideration’. Any amount charged 
which has no nexus with the taxable service and is not a 
consideration for the service provided does not become 
part of the value which is taxable u/s 67. Consideration 
must flow from the service recipient to the service provider 
and should accrue to the benefit of the service provider. 
There is marked distinction between ‘conditions to a 
contract’ and ‘considerations for the contract’. A service 
recipient may be required to fulfil certain conditions 
contained in the contract but that would not necessarily 

23 24
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mean that this value would form part of the value of 
taxable services that are provided.

As per section 2(d) of the Indian Contract Act, 1872 
consideration should flow at the desire of the promisor. 
Thus, if the consideration is not at the desire of the 
promisor, it ceases to be a consideration. The banks 
and non-banking financial companies are the promisors 
and the borrowers are the promisees. The contractual 
relationship between the banks and non-banking financial 
companies and the customers is repayment of the loan 
amount over an agreed period. The banks and non-
banking financial companies would not desire premature 
termination of the loan advanced by them as it is in ‘their 
interest’ that the loan runs the entire agreed tenure, for 
the banks thrive on interest earned from lending activities. 
As premature termination of a loan results in loss of 
future interest income, the banks charge an amount for 
foreclosure of loan to compensate for the loss in interest 
income. It is the customer who has taken the loan who 
moves for foreclosure of the loan by making the payment 
of the loan amount before the stipulated period, thereby 

breaching the promise to service the loan for the agreed 
period of time.

This results in a unilateral act of the borrower in repudiating 
the contract and consequently breach of one of the 
essential terms of the loan agreement. A breach of contract 
may give rise to a claim for damages. The ‘expectation 
interest’ is a popular measure for damages arising out of 
breach of contract. The foreclosure charges, therefore, 
are not a consideration for performance of lending 
services but are imposed as a condition of the contract 
to compensate for the loss of ‘expectations interest’ when 
the loan agreement is terminated prematurely. Therefore, 
foreclosure charges are recovered as compensation for 
disruption of a service and not towards ‘lending’ services. 
The phrase ‘in relation to lending’ cannot be so stretched 
as to bring within its ambit even activities which terminate 
the activity. Therefore, service tax cannot be levied on the 
foreclosure charges levied by the banks and non-banking 
financial companies on premature termination of loans 
under ‘Banking and other financial services’ as defined 
u/s 65 (12) of the Finance Act.

JANAK VAGHANI I ISHAAN PATKAR
 Chartered Accountants

PART B IVAT

Brida Roadlines Pvt. Ltd. vs. Union Territory of 
Daman & Diu
[(2019) 2 GSTL (STC) 38]
(Bombay High Court)

Whether the Commissioner of VAT is empowered 
under the law to hear second appeal

FACTS
The dealer was assessed under the Daman and 
Diu VAT law. The A.O. imposed maximum penalty 
u/s 10(d) r/w/s 10A of the CST Act, 1956. The assessee 
filed a first appeal against the same, which was 
dismissed. The second appeal was filed with the 
Commissioner of VAT, Daman & Diu, which was 
also dismissed. The power of the Commissioner 
entertaining the second appeal was thereafter 
challenged before the Bombay High Court. 

HELD
The Commissioner of VAT had no power to hear the second 
appeal. The power was with the Administrative Tribunal, 

Daman & Diu. The order passed by the Commissioner in 
the second appeal was quashed by the Court.

Ricoh India Limited vs. State of Maharashtra
[(2019) GSTL (VAT) 120]
(Bombay High Court)

Whether Multi-Functional Printers and their parts 
and spares were covered by the Entry No. C-56 of 
the MVAT Act, 2002 read with the Notification or the 
Residuary Entry No. 102 of the said Act

FACTS
The appellant was an importer and reseller of Multi-
Functional Printers and their parts and spares. They 
had applied for determination to the Commissioner 
of Sales Tax, Maharashtra State. The Commissioner 
determined the same as falling under the residuary 
entry and hence liable to VAT at 12.5%. The same was 
challenged before the Tribunal; however, it confirmed 
the decision of the Commissioner. The appellant 
thereafter approached the High Court at Bombay. 

5
6
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HELD
The Court agreed that the Multi-Functional Printers were 
covered by the Automatic Data Processing Machines and 
Units thereof falling under Entry No. 84.71 of the Central 
Excise Tariff Act. However, the Court observed that even 
though the Notification Entry under the VAT Act refers 
to the Central Excise Tariff, the Notes stated under the 
said entry under the MVAT Act are not similar. The Court 
further observed that the impugned product was covered 
by Note Nos. 2 and 4. The printers were imported and 
assessed to duty under the ‘Others’ category and the said 
category was not covered under Notes in the MVAT Act. 
The decision of the Tribunal as regards classification was 
thus upheld. The classification of the parts and spares 
done under the residuary entry by the Tribunal was also 
upheld.

Bharati Airtel Limited vs. Mira-Bhayander 
Municipal Corporation & others
[(2019) 1 Gstl (Misc.) 138 (Bom.)]

Is Local Body Tax (LBT) under clause ‘aaa’ of 
sub-section 2 of section 127 of the Maharashtra 
Municipal Corporations Act, 1949 recoverable 
on SIM cards, recharge coupons and e-recharge 
on their entry into the limits of a municipal 
corporation?

FACTS
By a license agreement dated 28th September, 2001 
entered into between the Hon’ble President of India 
through the Department of Telecommunications, Ministry 
of Communication, Government of India on one part, and 
the petitioner company on the other part, a licence was 
granted to the petitioner u/s 4 of the Indian Telegraph Act, 
1885 to set up and operate cellular mobile phone services 
in Mumbai and Maharashtra Telegraph Circle on the terms 
and conditions set out therein. In accordance with the said 
agreement, the petitioner is providing telecommunication 
services including mobile telephony, text messaging, 
voice messaging, access to internet, etc., to the members 
of the public in Global System for Mobile communication 
(GSM) format which involves GSM wireless modem which 
works with GSM wireless network. The customers of the 
petitioner avail of the services by using mobile handsets.

It was stated that the SIM (Subscriber Identification 
Module) card is provided by the petitioner which is a plastic 
/ paper card encrypted with the unique number which is 
known as International Mobile Subscriber Identification 
(IMSI). The SIM card enables the subscriber access to 

the telecommunication service provided by the petitioner. 
The contention in the petition was that the SIM card 
does not have any utility or intrinsic value by itself. The 
petitioner provides either pre-paid or post-paid services. 
In case of pre-paid services, the subscriber can renew the 
services through the recharge coupon / card or e-recharge. 

HELD
By incorporating clause ‘aaa’ in sub-section 2 of section 
127 of the said Act by the Bombay Provincial Municipal 
Corporation and Bombay Village Panchayat Amendment 
Act, 2009 a provision was made for levy of LBT in lieu 
of cess or octroi. The State Government by a notification 
dated 25th March, 2010 notified the Bombay Provincial 
Municipal Corporations (Local Body Tax) Rules, 2010 (for 
short, LBT Rules). The LBT Rules provide a mechanism 
for the levy and collection of LBT and the rates of 
LBT. In exercise of the power under clause ‘aaa’ of 
sub-section 2 of section 127 of the said Act, the State 
Government directed various municipal corporations in 
the State, including the Corporation, to levy LBT on the 
entry of goods into the limits of the city for consumption, 
use or sale in lieu of octroi or cess with effect from 
1st April, 2010.

On 18th February, 2011 another notification was issued 
by the State Government in exercise of the powers u/s 
99B read with sections 152B and 152C of the said Act 
by which the rates of LBT to be levied by the Corporation 
on entry of various categories of goods into the limits of 
the city for the financial year 2011 were notified. One of 
the items included in Schedule A to the said notification is 
SIM cards (Tariff Item No. 8542 10 10).

The case made out in the petition was that the petitioner 
and its distributors were compelled to register themselves 
under the LBT Rules. They did so under protest. It was 
alleged that neither the petitioner nor its distributors paid 
any LBT on SIM cards or recharge coupons or e-recharge. 
The case made out in the petition is that in October, 2010 
the officers of the first respondent visited the premises of 
various distributors of the petitioner and called upon them 
to pay LBT on SIM cards and recharge coupons on the 
basis of the amount / value of talk time mentioned. By 
a communication dated 30th October, 2010 the petitioner 
informed the first respondent that the SIM cards, recharge 
coupons and e-recharge were not goods which could be 
subjected to LBT and, in fact, the petitioners are paying 
service tax on providing telecommunication services. 
On 28th March, 2013 the State Government issued a 
notification fixing a rate of 3.5% on ‘SIM cards, memory 

7



71BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT  JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

 615 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ

cards, activation / renewal slips whether recharged online 
or otherwise’.

The challenge in this petition under article 226 of 
the Constitution of India was to the action of the first 
respondent of assessing, levying and recovering LBT on 
SIM cards, recharge coupons and e-recharge brought into 
the limits of the first respondent. There is a consequential 
challenge to the notification dated 28th March, 2013 issued 
by the State Government.

The SIM cards are normally made of plastic or paper. 
They are capable of being bought and sold and have 
utility value. The SIM cards are also capable of being 
transferred, stored and possessed. The concept of sales 
tax and LBT are not the same. LBT can be levied on the 
goods brought within the limits of a municipal corporation 
even if the same are not sold but are brought either 
for consumption or use. Going by what is held by the 
Apex Court in paragraph 11 referred to (paragraph 12 
in 10GSTR) of its decision in the case of Idea Mobile 
Communication Ltd. [2011] 43 VST 1 (SC); [2011] 
10GSTR 12 (SC); [2011] 12 SCC 608, SIM cards are 
capable of being used by putting the same in a mobile 
phone handset. A SIM is a portable memory chip used 
in cellular telephones. It is a tiny encoded circuit board 
which is fitted into the cell phones at the time of signing 
on as a subscriber.

Even assuming that by itself a SIM card has no intrinsic 
sale value, considering the nature of its use it has a value 
in terms of money apart from its value as a portable 
memory chip. Even recharge vouchers which are made 
of paper or plastic are capable of being bought, sold and 
used. They can be transferred, stored and possessed. 
The recharge vouchers or cards made up of paper or 
plastic may have little value by themselves, but the same 
are capable of being used and their use has value as the 
holder thereof can get talk time or internet data which 
has a value in terms of money. SIM cards and recharge 
vouchers are tangible goods which are capable of being 
brought into the limits of a city. The same are capable 

of being used after they are brought into the limits of a 
city. Hence, the same will be goods within the meaning of 
clause 25 of section 2 of the said Act.

In the decision of the Apex Court in the case of Idea 
Mobile Communication Ltd. (Supra), the Court had 
come to the conclusion that a SIM card has no intrinsic 
sale value and therefore sales tax is not payable. But 
the Apex Court has not considered the question whether 
SIM cards are capable of being used which is a relevant 
consideration for charging LBT.

The Schedule under the rules framed under the said Act 
provide for levy of LBT on the following items:

Group II: ‘133. All types of mobile phones, pager, I-pad, 
I-pod, tablet and all sorts of means of communication and 
their components, spare parts and accessories. SIM card, 
memory card, activation / renewal slips / vouchers whether 
recharged online or otherwise’ (emphasis added).

As far as e-recharge is concerned, by no stretch of 
imagination can it be said that e-recharge is capable 
of being brought into the limits of a city. In clause 133 
quoted above, e-recharge is not specifically included. 
Assuming that it is included, it is nothing but an electronic 
download by use of internet. Hence, e-recharge cannot 
be subject to levy of LBT. E-recharge is capable of being 
used but it cannot be said that by downloading e-recharge 
through internet, e-recharge is brought into the limits of a 
municipal corporation. Hence, LBT cannot be recovered 
on e-recharge.

Coming back to SIM cards and recharge coupons / cards, 
as held earlier, the same will be covered by the definition 
of ‘goods’ under sub-section 25 of section 2 of the said 
Act. The charging section for LBT under the said Act is 
section 152P. LBT is leviable on the entry of goods into 
the limits of a city for consumption, use or sale. Hence, 
the corporation was well within its powers to levy LBT on 
SIM cards and recharge vouchers in physical form. Thus, 
the petition partly succeeded.
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PART C IGOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST) 
PULOMA DALAL I JAYESH GOGRI I MANDAR TELANG 

Chartered Accountants

I.  HIGH COURT

[(2020) 117 TMI 209]
Om Sai Traders vs. State Tax Officer, R/Special 
Civil Application No. 7395 of 2020; (Gujarat 
High Court)
Date of order: 15th June, 2020

Article 226, sections 129 and 130– No interference 
of High Court warranted to order on validity of 
show cause notice and authority to adjudicate the 
notice in accordance with law

FACTS
The applicant was engaged in the business of trading of 
various goods, especially tobacco, and had purchased 
unmanufactured tobacco from the supplier. While 
transporting the goods, the original vehicle broke down 
four to five km. from the destination. Another vehicle 
was arranged and the goods were transported to the 
destination. However, just before the said vehicle could 
reach there, it was intercepted by the authorities and the 
goods were seized. Thereafter, an undated show cause 
notice u/s 130 of the CGST Act, 2017 was also issued.

Aggrieved by this act, the applicant challenged it by way 
of a writ petition before the Gujarat High Court; he claimed 
that the act of the authorities in detaining the goods u/s 
129 of the CGST Act, 2017 was wrongful and that the 
issuance of an undated show cause notice was wholly 
illegal, erroneous and without authority of law.

HELD
The Hon’ble High Court held and agreed to not interfere with 
the impugned show cause notice issued by the authority 
u/s 130 on merits and permitted the authority to adjudicate 
the said notice in accordance with the law. Further, the 
Court directed the authority to release the goods upon 
deposit of an amount of Rs. 10,00,000 and furnishing of a 
bank guarantee of Rs. 7,00,000 by the applicant.

[(2020) 117 taxmann.com 195]
Amba Industrial Corporation vs. UOI
CWP No. 8213 of 2020 (O&M); (Punjab & Haryana)
Date of order: 18th June, 2020

Section 140 read with Rule 117 – Technical 
difficulties cannot be restricted only to difficulties 
faced by or on the part of the Department but would 
also include any such technical difficulty faced by 
the assessee as well

FACTS
The petitioner is engaged in the business of S.S. 
flats. They were to carry forward the unutilised 
CENVAT Credit in terms of section 140 of CGST Act 
read with Rule 117. However, they failed to upload 
TRAN-1 by the last date, i.e. 27th December, 2017. 
The respondent extended the date of uploading TRAN-
1 till 30th June, 2020, but only for those who could not 
submit the declaration by the due date on account of 
technical difficulties, thereby denying the petitioner the 
opportunity to file their TRAN-1. The petitioner challenged 
Rule 117(1A) as being ultra vires and sought direction 
to be given to the respondent to permit the petitioner to 
upload TRAN-1 form or avail Input Tax Credit (ITC) in 
monthly return GSTR3B.

HELD
The Hon’ble High Court relied upon the decision of Adfert 
Technologies (P) Ltd. vs. UOI [2019] 111 taxmann.com 
27 and the Delhi High Court in Brand Equity Treaties vs. 
Union of India 2020-TIOL-900-HC-Del-GST. The Court 
found that the technical difficulties cannot be restricted 
only to difficulties faced by or on the part of the respondent 
but would also include any such technical difficulty faced 
by the taxpayer as well. However, the petitioner had 
challenged the vires of Rule 117(1A); but the Court did 
not find it appropriate to interfere as the petitioner was 
entitled to carry forward CENVAT Credit accrued under 
the Central Excise Act, 1944.

But the repeated extensions of the last date of filing TRAN-
1 vindicated the petitioner’s claim that denial of credit to 
those dealers who were unable to furnish evidence of 
an attempt to upload TRAN-1 would amount to violation 
of Article 14 as well as Article 300A of the Constitution 
of India. Therefore, the respondents were directed to 
permit the petitioner to upload TRAN-1 on or before 30th 
June, 2020 and in case the petitioner failed to do so, the 
petitioner was given liberty to avail ITC in GSTR3B of 
July, 2020.
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[(2020)117 taxmann.com 94 (Del.)]
SKH Sheet Metals Components vs. UOI
W.P.(C) No. 13151 of 2019
Date of order: 16th June, 2020

Article 226, article 14, section 140 read with Rule 
117 – On account of a bona fide or inadvertent 
mistake, assessee permitted to revise TRAN-1 
form and transition entire Input Tax Credit (ITC)

FACTS
The petitioner had sought for transition of ITC that had 
accrued and vested in its favour under the erstwhile 
regime by filing the statutory form GST TRAN-I. However, 
on submission of the said form, the petitioner realised 
that CENVAT credit of Rs. 5,51,33,699 comprising of 
Central Excise and service tax of Rs. 3,86,54,605 and 
Rs. 1,64,79,082, respectively, were not displayed in the 
electronic credit ledger (ECL). On a suggestion given by 
the respondents, the appellant filed a revised declaration 
in form GST TRAN-1 on 27th December, 2017 and it 
reflected the correct figures. However, the amount was 
still not transferred to the ECL and was shown as blocked 
credit.

Thereafter, the petitioner made various representations 
towards availing the benefit of the Circular which granted 
relief to taxpayers who had faced IT glitches at the stage 
of filing an original or revised return on the GSTN portal to 
resolve the issue. But no proper response was received 
from the respondent's office. The petitioner, therefore, 
filed a writ petition (No. 712/2018) before the Bombay 
High Court. The Court disposed of the petition with a 
direction to the petitioner to file a representation before 
the authorities concerned in terms of the 32nd Council 
Meeting.

Accordingly, the petitioner filed yet another representation 
before the respondents, but the case was rejected 
without assigning any reasons. The petitioners thereafter 
requested the respondents to provide them with reasons 
for denial; again, no response was received. Thereafter, 
the petitioner filed an RTI application requesting to know 
the reasons for the rejection, but even this request was 
turned down.

Thus, the present petition was filed against this act of the 
respondents in denying the petitioner’s vested right of 
transitional credit without any basis. Writ of mandamus 
was sought for issuance of direction to the respondents 

to allow the petitioner to avail the short transitioning of ITC 
amounting to Rs. 5,51,33,699 based on Brand Equities 
Treaties Ltd. vs. Union of India (2020) 116 taxmann.
com 415 (Delhi) and Micromax Informatics Ltd. vs. 
Union of India [WP(C) No. 196/2019] thereby also 
bringing to the attention of the Hon’ble High Court that 
form GST TRAN-1 was filed before the specified date.

The respondents in their counter affidavit denied the 
applicability of benefit to the petitioner as per the case 
of Brand Equities Treaties Ltd. (Supra) and stated that 
the petitioner fell into the category of ‘the taxpayer has 
successfully filed TRAN-1, but no technical error has been 
found’ and that since the petitioner did not encounter any 
technical glitch on the portal, his request to file revised 
TRAN-1 was not accepted and that the discrepancy in 
ECL is because of human error. The benefit of the Circular 
was not extended to the petitioner.

HELD
The Hon’ble High Court discarded the submission made 
by the respondent that the benefit of the judgment of 
Brand Equity (Supra) is no longer available and held 
that the said decision is not entirely resting on the fact 
that the statute (the CGST Act, 2017) did not prescribe 
for any time limit for availing the transition of the ITC 
and that there are several other grounds and reasons 
enumerated in the said decision that continue to apply 
with full rigour regardless of the amendment to section 
140 of the CGST Act, 2017. Based on the above, the 
petitioner was permitted to revise the TRAN-1 form on 
or before 30th June, 2020 and transition the entire ITC; 
the respondents were directed to file revised declaration 
TRAN-1 electronically or to accept the same manually 
and thereafter process the claims in accordance with the 
law.

II. AUTHORITY FOR ADVANCE RULING

[2020-TIOL-166-AAR-GST]
Apsara Co-operative Housing Society Limited
Date of order: 17th March, 2020

Society is making a supply to its members in terms 
of the GST law and therefore the contributions 
received from the members are leviable to GST

FACTS
The applicant is a co-operative housing society formed by 
its members. They raise funds by collecting contributions 
from the members. The contributions include property tax, 
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common electricity charges, water charges, contribution 
to repairs and maintenance, etc. The question before 
the Authority is whether the said activity of collection of 
contributions qualifies as a supply u/s 7(1) of the Central 
Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017.

HELD
The Authority primarily noted that the activities of 
managing, maintaining and administering the property 
of the society, raising funds for achieving the objects of 
the society, undertaking and providing any social, cultural 
or recreation activities can clearly be considered as 
rendering of supply of service provided to the members. 
Further, it was noted that the definition of ‘person’ provided 
in section 2(84)(i) specifically includes ‘a co-operative 
society’. Therefore, the members and the society are 
distinct persons and thus the transaction is a supply 
leviable to GST.

Note: In this context readers may refer to the decisions 
of the Maharashtra AAAR in the case of Rotary Club 
of Mumbai Queens Necklace [2020-TIOL-09-AAAR-
GST] and [2019-TIOL-72-AAAR-GST] wherein it is held 
that membership fees received cannot be considered as 
a consideration received in the course or furtherance of 
business and therefore is not liable for GST.

[2020-TIOL-172-AAR-GST]
High Tech Refrigeration and Air Conditioning 
Industries
Date of order: 25th June, 2020

Goods supplied in the State on behalf of the client 
situated outside the State is an interstate supply 
leviable to IGST

FACTS
The question before the Authority is whether fixing of 
air conditioner and VRV system in Goa on behalf of a 
client registered outside Goa is an intra-state supply 
leviable to CGST and SGST or an interstate supply 
leviable to IGST.

HELD
Since the location of the supplier is Goa but goods are 
supplied on behalf of a registered person outside Goa to a 
place in Goa, the place of supply would be outside Goa as 
per section 10(1)(b) of the Integrated Goods and Services 
Tax Act, 2017. Thus the nature of supply is to be treated 
as a supply of goods in the course of interstate trade or 
commerce and IGST is payable.

[2020-TIOL-144-AAR-GST]
M/s Amba Township Pvt. Ltd.
Date of order: 19th May, 2020

Though the Sector is separately under the RERA 
Act, 2016 as a separate project, the same cannot be 
considered as a standalone housing project since 
it shares common land, common facilities and 
common entrance

FACTS
The applicant is engaged in construction of residential and 
commercial premises on works contract basis. They are 
engaged in construction and development of a township in 
a phased manner. At present, Sector-4 of the township is 
being constructed which is divided into two parts – Part A 
and Part B. The Sector is registered under the RERA Act, 
2016 as three independent projects / phases. Part-B of 
Sector-4 is a separate project in itself and also separately 
registered under the RERA Act, 2016 as a ‘Real Estate 
Project’. 'Part-B' is independent of the other projects within 
its Phase and Township and has its separate facilities like 
parking, foyer, electricity connection, water supply, etc. 
The said part is used for affordable housing and thus the 
question before the Authority is whether the reduced rate 
of tax provided in Notification No. 11/2017-Central Tax 
(Rate) Entry Number 3(v)(da) is applicable.

HELD
The Authority noted that Part-B of Sector-4 of the township 
cannot be considered as a standalone housing project 
since it shares common land, common facilities and 
common entrance with Part-A of Sector-4 of the township 
and since 50% of FAR/FSI of the entire housing project 
of Sector-4 comprising of Part-A and Part-B has not been 
used for construction of dwelling units with carpet area of 
not more than 60 square metres, the said housing project 
cannot be considered as an ‘affordable housing project’. 
Therefore, the applicant is not eligible for the benefit of 
reduced rate as provided under Entry Number 3(v)(da) 
of the Notification No. 11/2017-Central Tax (Rate) as 
amended by Notification No. 01/2018-Central Tax (Rate) 
dated 25th January, 2018 available for houses constructed 
with a carpet area of 60 square metres per house.

[2020-TIOL-156-AAR-GST]
M/s Liberty Translines
Date of order: 5th March, 2020

For a single transaction and same movement of 
goods, there cannot be multiple consignment 
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notes. The entire risk of transportation is with the 
person who has entered into a contract with the 
client and therefore merely providing vehicles does 
not qualify as Goods Transport Agency service

FACTS
The applicant, owner of various goods transport vehicles, 
is in the business of road transportation and registered as 
a Goods Transport Agency. A company named POSCO 
has sub-contracted a specific assignment of transportation 
service to the applicant. The applicant proposes to issue 
a consignment note to POSCO who in turn will issue a 
second consignment note to the final client for the same 
transportation of goods by road for the very consignment 
by the same vehicle. The question before the Authority is 
whether the applicant can issue a consignment note and 
charge GST @ 12% under forward charge.

HELD
The Authority primarily noted that the contract is to 
undertake transportation of goods given by the consignee 
/ consignor to POSCO and not to the applicant. The 
consignor / consignee may not be aware that the actual 
transportation is undertaken by someone else. The role 
of the applicant is to just provide the vehicle as and when 
called for. Thus the transaction is more in the nature of 
hiring of vehicles and not that of Goods Transport Operator. 
Accordingly, it is held that the applicant is providing the 
transportation service but not as GTA but only as a truck 
owner. For a single transaction and the same movement 
of goods, there cannot be multiple consignment notes. 
Thus, the applicant cannot charge GST @ 12% since it is 
not a Goods Transport Agency.

[(2020) 5 TMI 580]
M/s Sai Motors
KAR ADRG 32/2020; (AAR, Karnataka)
Date of order: 20th May, 2020

Notification No. 01/2017-Central Tax (Rate) dated 
28th June, 2017 – The retrofitted vehicle merits 
classification under heading 87112019 and hence 
attracts GST @ 28% and also eligible for Input Tax 
Credit if used for further supply of such vehicles

FACTS
The applicant is in the business of supplying two-wheelers. 
It purchases vehicles from M/s Hero Motocorp Ltd. under 
HSN 87112019 liable to GST at 28%. The retro-fitment 
fittings under HSN 87131090 liable to GST at 5% are 
fixed to the vehicles purchased and sold to the disabled 

persons. Currently, the applicant charges two rates on 
such supplies, i.e. at 28% and 5% for the vehicles and 
the retro-fitment, respectively. The applicant had sought 
advance ruling seeking clarification for the classification 
of such supply under HSN 87131090 liable at GST 5% 
and whether ITC in respect of vehicles purchased from 
M/s Hero Motocorp Ltd. will be eligible to him.

HELD
The AAR relied upon the Notification No. 01/2017-Central 
Tax (Rate) dated 28th June, 2017 and held that the supply 
of retrofitted vehicles by the applicant falls under the 
HSN 87131090 and hence he shall charge 5% GST to 
his customers. In respect of eligibility of ITC on purchase 
of vehicles, the AAR held that ITC in respect of such 
purchases shall be eligible to the applicant since the said 
purchases are in the furtherance of supply of vehicles as 
prescribed in the exceptions to blocked credit stated in 
17(5)(a).

[(2020) 5 TMI 604]
M/s Dolphine Die Cast (P) Ltd.
KAR ADRG 35/2020; (AAR, Karnataka)
Date of order: 20th May, 2020

Sections 2(5), 8, 10 of IGST Act, 2017 – Place of 
supply in case of export / import transactions 
without movement of goods shall be location of the 
goods at the time of delivery to the recipient

FACTS
The applicant is engaged in the business of manufacturing 
and export of aluminium and zinc die castings. It first 
manufactures the die, retains it and uses it for the 
manufacture and supply of aluminium and zinc die 
castings for which it raises an invoice in the name of 
the overseas customer in foreign currency, although it 
does not physically export it. Similarly, the applicant is 
involved in the import of aluminium casting and pressure 
die casting components wherein the Thailand supplier 
raises the tax invoice though the die is not physically 
imported by the applicant. Therefore, an advance ruling 
has been sought by the applicant in respect of taxability 
of the transactions and the procedure to be followed for 
discharging GST liability.

HELD
After discussing the provisions of place of supply under the 
IGST Act, 2017 and of the time of supply under the CGST 
Act, 2017 along with the definitions of import and export, 
the AAR was of the view that the applicant’s transaction 
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with its overseas customer shall not be counted as 
export because it does not fulfil the conditions prescribed 
for export as the place of supply is in India due to non-
movement of goods, and hence the applicant shall charge 
applicable CGST / SGST on its invoice because the said 
transaction amounts to intra-state supply. In respect of the 

transaction relating to import by the applicant, the AAR 
held that until the said goods are not brought to India it 
shall not be construed as import and in case the applicant 
instructs the vendor to scrap it outside India, then such a 
transaction is not liable to GST as ‘out and out sales’ are 
out of the purview of GST. 

goods. This activity takes place at the transaction level 
rather than the entity level which is the case in Income 
Tax. The global apportionment approach / FAR analysis 
adopted for attribution of profits to the PE would not serve 
any purpose for GST.

In summary, it is observed that though both the concepts 
are interconnected at multiple points, there are bound to 
be divergent answers in view of the basic structure of both 
the Income Tax and the GST laws being different. This 

concept would be relevant for outbound as well as inbound 
presence and hence a balanced interpretation of this 
concept is essential from the perspective of all stakeholders. 
In any case, the attempt should be to identify the last point 
in the value chain where the consumption actually takes 
place. This destination principle, though unwritten in the 
law, is the core of the GST system in place and violation 
of this principle at the cost of legal interpretation may 
cause chaos in the economic distribution of the wealth of 
the nation. 

  DECODING GST Continued from Page 64 

Further, if one analyses the definition of book profits as 
contained in Explanation 3 to section 40(b), it refers to 
‘net profit, as shown in the profit and loss account for the 
relevant previous year…’  Therefore, clearly, the intention 
is only to consider the profit of the relevant year and not 
factor in adjustments permissible against such profits 

relating to earlier years, such as unabsorbed depreciation.

The better view, in our considered opinion, therefore 
is that the brought-forward depreciation should not be 
deducted while computing the book profit for the purpose 
of section 40(b). 

  CONTROVERSIES Continued from Page 53
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SECURITIES LAWS

IS BEING A PROMOTER A ONE-WAY STREET 
WITH NO EXIT OR U-TURN?

BACKGROUND – CONCEPT OF FAMILY / 
PROMOTER-DRIVEN COMPANIES IN 
INDIA
A peculiar and important feature of Indian companies and 
even businesses in general is that the ownership and 
management is largely ‘promoter’-driven. There is usually 
a ‘founder’, an individual who starts a business which is 
then continued by his children / extended family for many 
generations. The founder family (which may be more than 
one) usually holds controlling stake, often more than 50%. 
The company and group entities are usually referred to as 
the ‘X group’ with X representing such family. This is unlike 
most companies in the West where, even if founded by an 
individual whose family may continue to hold substantial 
shareholding, the management is often ‘professional’.

Securities laws in India have rightly acknowledged this 
feature and there are a multitude of provisions specifically 
recognising them and creating an elaborate set of 
obligations for them. These persons are called promoters 
and the various entities (family members, investment 
companies held by them, etc.) are called the ‘Promoter 
Group’. Thus, for example, Independent Directors are 
by definition those who are not from or associated with 
the Promoter Group. The promoters may be treated 
as insiders and their trades in shares of the company 
regulated. The ‘Promoter Group’ is required to have 
a minimum shareholding (at the time of a public issue) 
and also a maximum shareholding. It cannot occupy 
more than a certain number of Board seats. It has to 
make regular disclosure of its shareholding. Indeed, the 
‘Promoter Group’ would generally be deemed to be in 
charge of the company and the buck for any violation of 
laws will usually stop at them.

However, there is one curious and difficult area: How can 
a person / entity, once designated a promoter, cease to 
be a promoter? How does he get an exit and reclassify 
himself as a non-promoter? As we shall see, and as 
particularly highlighted by a recent ‘informal guidance’ 

by SEBI, it is relatively easy to become a promoter but 
extremely difficult to stop being one.

WHO IS A PROMOTER AND WHO 
BELONGS TO THE PROMOTER GROUP?
There is an elaborate definition of the terms ‘Promoters’ 
and ‘Promoter Group’ prescribed in the SEBI (Issue of 
Capital and Disclosure Requirements), 2018. The Group 
includes the promoter family and even many members of 
the extended family. It also includes specified investment 
entities / group companies / entities. Over time, this list 
can turn quite long as the family expands and various 
new entities are formed and which are covered by 
the definition.

The Promoter Group usually gets defined and identified 
when a public issue is made, leading to listing of the 
shares of the company and all those who are in control 
of the company are included. Their specified relatives 
and group entities are also included. However, as 
time passes, new relatives and new entities would get 
added. But as we will see later, while inclusion is easy 
and even automatic, removing even one person is 
extremely difficult.

REASONS FOR GETTING OUT OF THE 
PROMOTERS CATEGORY
It has been seen above how easy and automatic it is to 
become a promoter. Just being born in the promoter family 
or otherwise being related in any of the specified ways 
could be enough. However, for several reasons, a person 
(or an entity with which he is associated in specified 
manner) may desire not to be part of the Promoter Group 
and be saddled with several obligations and liabilities. 
There is, of course, the liability of compliance and even of 
violations that he remains subject to just by the fact that 
he is on the promoter list. If he is in control of the relevant 
company, this cannot be escaped.

But there are various reasons why a person may want to 

JAYANT M. THAKUR
Chartered Accountant
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be excluded. He or she may have left the family and may 
be in employment elsewhere or carrying on a separate 
independent business. He may have actually had disputes 
with the company and thus no more be part of the core 
group. He or she may have married and now not be 
connected with the company. He may not be holding any 
shares or holding insignificant shares and have no say in 
the company. In fact, even the whole Promoter Group or 
a sub-group thereof may have reason to be excluded if 
they are reduced to a minority with someone else taking a 
higher stake. There would, of course, be the obvious case 
where a new promoter acquires most or all of the existing 
group’s shareholding in a transparent way (usually by an 
open offer) and thus takes control of the company.

There can be many more situations. The question is can 
an existing promoter get his name removed from the list 
of promoters? If yes, how and what are the conditions?

CONCERNS OF SEBI IN ALLOWING 
PROMOTERS TO LEAVE THE 
CATEGORY
Certain obligations are imposed on promoters who are 
in control of the company. If a person who is otherwise in 
control of the company or closely connected with persons 
who are, and is allowed to represent himself as not a 
promoter, he would escape this liability. Shareholders, 
too, perceive a particular group as the promoters and 
take decisions accordingly. Thus, generally, the regulator 
would want sufficient assurance before allowing the 
exclusion of a person from the Promoter Group. However, 
as we will see below, the conditions placed are extremely 
stringent and it may often be difficult for persons to 
exclude themselves even for bona fide reasons.

ONCE A PROMOTER, ALMOST ALWAYS 
A PROMOTER
As mentioned earlier, a person and entities related to him 
are required to be declared as promoters at the time of 
a public issue. Many entities / persons connected with 
him in specified ways would also be deemed to be part 
of the Promoter Group. Death would do him apart, but 
then the successors to his shares would be deemed to be 
promoters. Thus, the person to whom shares are willed 
or even gifted during the (deceased’s) lifetime would 
become a promoter.

REQUIREMENT FOR 
RECLASSIFICATION FROM PROMOTER 
TO PUBLIC
The requirements relating to reclassification from promoter 

to public category are contained in Regulation 31A of the 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (‘the LODR Regulations’). These 
are the outcome of several changes over time and 
also the consequence of several discussion papers / 
committee deliberations. The Kotak Committee’s report 
of 2017 on corporate governance had also made detailed 
suggestions. SEBI is in the process of proposing yet 
another round of revision of the requirements.

There are several conditions that a promoter has to 
comply with to be allowed to be reclassified into the public 
category. Some of these are obvious and make sense. 
Such a person (and persons related to him) should not 
be holding more than 10% shares in the company. He 
should not exercise control, directly or indirectly, over the 
company. He should not be a director or key managerial 
person in the company. He should also not be entitled to 
any special rights with respect to the company through 
formal or informal arrangements.

However, there are further stringent conditions and 
requirements if he seeks reclassification. The promoter 
needs to apply to the company and needs to demonstrate 
that he has complied with the other conditions (i.e., 
holding 10% or less, not being a director, etc.). The Board 
of the company then has to consider this request and 
place the reclassification request before the shareholders 
with its comments. The matter has to be placed before the 
shareholders after three months but before six months 
of the date of such Board meeting. At such meeting of 
shareholders, the promoter seeking reclassification 
and promoters related to him cannot vote. An ordinary 
resolution has to be passed by the remaining shareholders 
approving such reclassification. Once so approved, the 
stock exchanges would then consider the application 
and if the requirements are duly complied with, approval 
would be granted for reclassification.

Thus, the primary onus and even the decision have 
been placed on the Board and the shareholders. 
In principle, the safeguards may appear warranted. 
Leaving the matter to internal decisions also ensures 
avoidance of an arbitrary decision by the regulator and 
also smooth implementation in many cases. However, 
the elaborate requirements can make ordinary cases for 
exclusion difficult. A family member, for example, may 
move out of India and yet he would continue to be a 
promoter and hence in control unless this procedure is 
followed.

Continued on page 83  
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ALLIED LAWS

Securitisation and Reconstruction of Financial 
Assets and Enforcement of Security Interest 
(SARFAESI) Act, 2002, sections 2(c) and 5(c), 
Banking Regulation Act, 1949, sections 5(b) 
and 6(1) – Co-operative banks – Definition of 
‘banks’ – SARFAESI Act – Power of the Central 
Government to legislate

Pandurang Ganpati Chaugule vs. Vishwasrao Patil 
Murgud Sahakari Bank Limited; Civil Appeal No. 
5674 of 2009 (SC); Date of order: 5th May, 2020
Bench: Arun Mishra J., Indira Banerjee J., Vineet 
Saran J., M.R. Shah J., Aniruddha Bose J.

FACTS
A question arose with respect to the legislative field covered 
by Entry 45 of List I, viz. ‘Banking’ and Entry 32 of List II 
of the Seventh Schedule of the Constitution of India, 
consequentially the power of the Parliament to legislate and 
the applicability of the SARFAESI Act to co-operative banks.

HELD
The Supreme Court held that the co -operative banks 
under the State legislation and multi -state co- operative 
banks are ‘banks’ u/s 2(1)(c) of the SARFAESI Act and 
while state laws might regulate co-operative societies 
regarding their incorporation, regulation and winding up, 
the Parliament was competent to enact laws to regulate 
their banking function.

Further, recovery is an essential part of banking; as such, 
the recovery procedure prescribed u/s 13 of the SARFAESI 
Act, a legislation relatable to Entry 45 List I of the Seventh 
Schedule to the Constitution of India, is applicable. 
Parliament has legislative competence under Entry 45 of 
List I of the Seventh Schedule of the Constitution of India 
to provide additional procedures for recovery u/s 13 of the 
SARFAESI Act with respect to co-operative banks.

Covid-19 – Period of limitation – Applicable 
to Arbitration & Conciliation Act, 1996, and 
Negotiable Instruments Act, 1881

Suo Motu Writ Petition by the Hon’ble Supreme 
Court; Suo Motu Writ Petition No. 3 of 2020 (SC); 
Date of order: 6th May, 2020
Bench: Chief Justice S.A. Bobde, Deepak Gupta J., 
Hrishikesh Roy J.
Counsel: K.K. Venugopal, Tushar Mehta

FACTS
The Hon’ble Supreme Court had in the same petition 
vide order dated 23rd March, 2020 held that to ease the 
difficulties faced by the litigants and their lawyers across 
the country in filing their petitions / applications / suits / 
appeals, irrespective of the limitation prescribed under 
the general law or Special Laws whether condonable 
or not, shall stand extended w.e.f. 15th March, 2020 till 
further order/s to be passed by the Court in the present 
proceedings. A clarification was sought with respect to the 
applicability of the order to the Arbitration and Conciliation 
Act, 1996 and the Negotiable Instruments Act, 1881.

HELD
The Supreme Court has clarified that all periods of limitation 
prescribed under the Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996 
and u/s 138 of the Negotiable Instruments Act, 1881 shall 
be extended with effect from 15th March, 2020 till further 
orders.

It further held that in case the limitation has expired after 
15th March, 2020, then the period from 15th March, 2020 till 
the date on which the lockdown is lifted in the jurisdictional 
area where the dispute lies or where the cause of action 
arises, shall be extended for a period of 15 days after the 
lifting of the lockdown. 

Partnership Act, 1932, sections 37 and 42 – 
Partnership firm – Only two partners – Retirement 
of one partner – Dissolution – Accounts to be settled 
accordingly

Guru Nanak Industries vs. Amar Singh (deceased) 
through LR
Civil Appeal No. 6659-6660 of 2010 (SC); Date of 
order: 26th May, 2020
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Bench: Sanjiv Khanna J., N.V. Ramana J., Krishna 
Murari J.

FACTS
The firm had two partners and one of them agreed to 
retire. The dispute arose as to whether the same 
amounted to ‘dissolution of a partnership firm’ or 
‘retirement of a partner’ as the same would have a direct 
bearing on the accounting treatment for settling of the 
accounts.

HELD
The Supreme Court held that there is a clear 
distinction between ‘retirement of a partner’ and 
‘dissolution of a partnership firm’. On retirement of the 
partner, the reconstituted firm continues and the retiring 
partner is to be paid his dues in terms of section 37 of 
the Partnership Act. In case of dissolution, the accounts 
have to be settled and distributed as per the mode 
prescribed in section 48 of the Partnership Act. In 
the present case, there being only two partners, the 
partnership firm could not have continued to carry on 
business as a firm. A partnership firm must have at least 
two partners. When there are only two partners and one 
has agreed to retire, the retirement amounts to dissolution 
of the firm. 

Indian Evidence Act 1872, sections 65 and 66 – 
Wills – Existence of a Will – Secondary evidence 
to establish its existence

Jagmail Singh vs. Karamjit Singh; Civil Appeal No. 
1889 of 2020 (SC); Date of order: 13th May, 2020
Bench: Navin Sinha J., Krishna Murari J.

FACTS
During the pendency of a land dispute, an application 
under sections 65 and 66 of the Evidence Act was moved 
by the appellants seeking permission to prove a copy 
of a Will dated 24th January, 1989 by way of secondary 
evidence. The application was made on the ground that 
the said original Will was handed over by the appellants 
to revenue officials for sanctioning the mutation in their 
favour. The revenue officials were issued notice for 
production of the original Will dated 24th January, 1989 
but they failed to produce the said Will. The application 
was then dismissed.

HELD
The Supreme Court held that a perusal of section 65 
makes it clear that secondary evidence may be given 

with regard to the existence, condition or the contents 
of a document when the original is shown or appears to 
be in possession or power against whom the document 
is sought to be produced, or of any person out of reach 
of, or not subject to, the process of the Court, or of any 
person legally bound to produce it, and when, after notice 
mentioned in section 66 such person does not produce it. 
It is a settled position of law that for secondary evidence 
to be admitted foundational evidence has to be given 
being the reasons as to why the original evidence has not 
been furnished.

Further, during cross-examination the (revenue) officials 
did not unequivocally deny the existence of the Will and 
the scribe of the Will and another witness had admitted 
the existence of such a Will. Therefore, the appellants 
would be entitled to lead secondary evidence in respect 
of the Will in question. However, such admission of 
secondary evidence does not automatically attest to 
its authenticity, truthfulness or genuineness which will 
have to be established during the course of the trial in 
accordance with law.

Covid-19 – General law – Service of notices, 
summons and exchange of pleadings / documents

Suo Motu Writ Petition by the Hon’ble Supreme 
Court; Suo Motu Writ Petition No. 3 of 2020 (SC); 
Date of order: 10th July, 2020
Bench: Chief Justice S.A. Bobde, R. Subhash 
Reddy J., A.S. Bopanna J.
Counsel: K. K. Venugopal, Tushar Mehta

FACTS
Service of notices, summons and exchange of pleadings 
/ documents is a requirement of virtually every legal 
proceeding. Services of notices, summons and pleadings 
etc. have not been possible during the period of lockdown 
because this involves visits to post offices, courier 
companies or physical delivery of notices, summons and 
pleadings. The Supreme Court took cognisance of this 
fact.

HELD
The Hon’ble Supreme Court held that such services 
may be effected by e-mail, FAX, commonly used instant 
messaging services, such as WhatsApp, Telegram, 
Signal, etc. However, if a party intends to effect service by 
means of said instant messaging services, the party must 
also effect service of the same document / documents by 
e-mail simultaneously on the same date. 
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LAWS AND BUSINESS

RELIGIOUS CONVERSION & SUCCESSION

DR. ANUP P. SHAH
Chartered Accountant

INTRODUCTION
Inter-community / inter-faith marriages are increasing 
in India. It is becoming common to see a Hindu woman 
marrying a person professing Islam or Christianity. 
Subsequently, she converts to Islam or to Christianity.

In all such cases, a question often arises: whether the Hindu 
woman who has converted to another religion would be 
entitled to succeed to the property of her parents? Would 
she be a member of her father’s HUF? Further, what would 
be the position of her children – would they be entitled to 
succeed to the property of their maternal grandfather? Let 
us examine these tricky issues in some detail.

SUCCESSION TO PARENTS’ PROPERTY
Let us first consider what would be the position of a 
Hindu woman who has converted to Islam / Christianity 
in relation to her parents’ property. If the parent has made 
a Will, then she can definitely be a beneficiary. This is 
because a Will can be made in favour of any person, even 
a stranger. Hence, the mere fact that the daughter is no 
longer a Hindu would not bar her from being a beneficiary 
under the Will.

However, what is the situation if the father dies intestate, 
i.e., without making a Will? In such a case, the Hindu 
Succession Act, 1956 would apply. The Class I heirs of the 
father would be entitled to succeed to the property of the 
Hindu male dying intestate. The daughter of a Hindu male 
is a Class I heir under the Hindu Succession Act. Now 
the question that would arise is whether the subsequent 
religious conversion of such a Class I heir would disentitle 
her from succeeding to her father’s estate.

The Gujarat High Court had occasion to grapple with this 
interesting problem in the case of Nayanaben Firozkhan 
Pathan vs. Patel Shantaben Bhikhabhai, Spl. Civil 
Appln. 15825/2017, order dated 26th September, 2017. 
In this case, the child of a Hindu wanted to get her name 
entered in the Record of Rights of an ancestral land 

held in the name of her deceased father. The Collector 
allowed the mutation in favour of all children except one 
daughter who had converted to Islam. It was held that her 
conversion disentitled her from succeeding to her father’s 
estate. The matter reached the Gujarat High Court. The 
Court observed that section 2 of the Hindu Succession Act 
provides that the Act applies only to Hindus and to persons 
who were not Muslims, Christians, Parsis, Jews or of any 
other religion. However, this section only provides a class 
of persons whose properties will devolve according to the 
Act. It is only the property of those persons mentioned in 
section 2 that will be governed according to the provisions 
of the Act. Section 2 has nothing to do with the heirs. This 
section does not lay down as to who are the disqualified 
heirs.

The Court further analysed the provisions of section 4 
which envisages that any other law in force immediately 
before the commencement of the Act shall cease to apply 
to Hindus insofar as it is inconsistent with any of the 
provisions contained in the Act. While a number of Central 
Acts were repealed as a consequence of this section, one 
Act which has not been repealed is the Caste Disabilities 
Removal Act, 1850. This is a pre-Independence Act 
which consists of one section which states that:

‘So much of any law or usage which is in force within India 
as inflicts on any person forfeiture of rights or property, 
or may be held in any way to impair or affect any right of 
inheritance, by reason of his or her renouncing, or having 
been excluded from the communion of, any religion, or 
being deprived of caste, shall cease to be enforced as 
law in any Court.’

The Gujarat High Court held that a change of religion 
and loss of caste was at one time considered as grounds 
for forfeiture of property and exclusion of inheritance. 
However, this has ceased to be the case after the passing 
of the Caste Disabilities Removal Act, 1850. The Caste 
Disabilities Removal Act provides that if any law or 
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(customary) usage in force in India would cause a person 
to forfeit his / her rights on property or may in any way 
impair or affect a person’s right to inherit any property, 
by reason of such person having renounced his / her 
religion or having been ex-communicated from his / her 
religion, or having been deprived of his / her caste, then 
such law or (customary) usage would not be enforceable 
in any court of law. Thus, the Caste Disabilities Removal 
Act intends to protect the person who renounces his / her 
religion.

Further, the Division Bench of the Madras High Court 
in the case of E. Ramesh vs. P. Rajini (2002) 1 MLJ 
216 has also taken the same view. It held that the Hindu 
Succession Act makes it clear that if the parents are 
Hindus, then the child is also governed by the Hindu 
Law or is a Hindu. It held that the Legislature might have 
thought fit to treat the children of the Hindus as Hindus 
without foregoing the right of inheritance by virtue of 
conversion.

Accordingly, the Gujarat High Court concluded that all that 
needs to be seen is whether the daughter was a Class I 
heir? If yes, then her religion had no locus standi to her 
succession to her father’s property.

POSITION OF CONVERT’S CHILDREN
The position of a person who has converted to Islam 
is quite clear. Section 26 of the Hindu Succession Act 
clearly provides that the descendants of the convert 
who are born after such conversion are disqualified from 
inheriting the property of any of their Hindu relatives. 
Thus, the children of a Hindu daughter who converts to 
Islam would be disqualified from inheriting the property of 
their maternal grandfather.

This section was explained by the Calcutta High Court 
in Asoke Naidu vs. Raymond S. Mulu, AIR 1976 Cal 
272. It explained that this section therefore does not 
disqualify a convert. The present Act discards almost all 
the grounds which imposed exclusion from inheritance 
and lays down that no person shall be disqualified from 
succeeding to any property on the ground of any disease, 
defect or deformity. It also rules out disqualification on any 
ground whatsoever except those expressly recognised 
by any provisions of the Act. The exceptions are very 
few and confined to the case of remarriage of certain 
widows. Another disqualification stated in the Act relates 
to a murderer who is excluded on the principles of justice 
and public policy. Change of religion and loss of caste 
have long ceased to be grounds of forfeiture of property. 

The only disqualification to inheritance is found in section 
26 which disqualifies the heirs of a converted Hindu 
from succeeding to the property of their Hindu relatives. 
However, the disqualification does not affect the convert 
himself or herself.

POSITION OF CONVERT IN FATHER’S 
HUF
On the marriage of a Hindu who has converted to 
Islam or Christianity, his continuity in an HUF needs 
to be considered if his marriage is solemnised under 
the Special Marriage Act, 1954. In such a case the 
normal succession laws get disturbed. This would be 
so irrespective of whether or not the Hindu converts. All 
that is required is that the marriage must be registered 
under this Act. Section 19 of this Act prescribes that any 
member of a Hindu Undivided Family who gets married 
to a non-Hindu under this Act automatically severs his 
ties with the HUF. Thus, if a Hindu, Buddhist, Sikh or Jain 
gets married to a non-Hindu under the Special Marriage 
Act, he ceases to be a member of his HUF. He need not 
go in for a partition since the marriage itself severs his 
relationship with his family. He cannot even subsequently 
raise a plea for partitioning the joint family property 
since by getting married under the Act he automatically 
gets separated from the HUF. Taking the example of the 
daughter who converted to Islam, even though she can 
now be a member of her father’s HUF by virtue of the 
Hindu Succession Amendment Act, she would cease to 
be a member due to her marriage being registered under 
the Special Marriage Act.

SUCCESSION TO THE CONVERT’S 
PROPERTY
The last question to be examined is which succession 
law would apply to such a convert’s own property? If she 
dies intestate, would her heirs succeed under the Hindu 
Succession Law (since she was once a Hindu) or the 
Muslim Shariya Law (since she died a Muslim)? Section 
21 of the Special Marriage Act is by far the most important 
provision. It changes the normal succession pattern laid 
down by law in case of any person whose marriage is 
registered under the Act. It states that the succession to 
property of any person whose marriage is solemnised 
under the Act and to the property of any child of such 
marriage shall be regulated by the Indian Succession Act, 
1925.

Section 21 makes the Indian Succession Act, 1925 
applicable not only for the couple married under the Act 
but also for the children born out of such wedlock. Thus, 
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for such a convert whose marriage is registered under the 
Special Marriage Act, the succession law would neither 
be the Hindu Succession Law nor the Muslim Law but the 
Indian Succession Act. The same would be the position for 
her children. Of course, if she were to make a valid Will, 
then the Will would prevail over the intestate succession 
provisions of the Indian Succession Act.

CONCLUSION
Till such time as India has a Uniform Civil Code, succession 
laws are bound to throw up such challenges. It would be 
desirable that the succession laws are updated to bring 
them up to speed with such modern developments and 
issues so that legal heirs do not waste precious time and 
money in litigation. 

There may be disputes within the family and thus persons 
seeking exclusion may find their efforts being sabotaged, 
even if in principle their requests have to be processed. 
The 10% shareholding requirement is also too low. At 
10% holding, a person / group has practically no say in 
the running of the company.

In a recent case (in re: Mirza International Limited, 
Informal Guidance dated 10th June, 2020) it was 
seen that a promoter gifted shares aggregating to 
more than 10% to his daughters who were married and 
otherwise not involved with the company. This made them 
part of the Promoter Group. An informal guidance of SEBI 
was sought whether such persons could be reclassified 
as public instead of being included in the promoter / 
Promoter Group. SEBI opined that the fact that they 
held more than 10% shares went against the condition 
prescribed and hence they could not be reclassified 
as public.

CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY
There are several businesses that have seen 
multiple generations. The businesses may have 
been divided. Off-spring may not be interested in the 
family-controlled companies. There may be disputes. 
There may be members of the family who have no say 
or even interest in the company. The stringent 
requirements and procedures are elaborate and have 
hurdles which seem unjustified when the primary 
facts may show that a person does not have any control 
or even say in the company. Indeed, they may not 
even hold a single share. Thus, many persons may 
continue to be deemed to be promoters and bear the 
burden of liability in matters in which they have no say. 
Such persons may not be promoters by choice and 
have no easy avenue to get out. It is high time that the 
requirements are changed to make them simple and 
practical; it is hoped that the coming set of proposed 
revisions ensures this. 

  SECURITIES LAWS Continued from Page 78
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FROM PUBLISHED ACCOUNTS

DISCLOSURES RELATED TO 
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

COMPILER’S NOTE
For the year ended 31st March, 2020 many companies 
have considered losses related to Covid-19 and other 
losses / gains as ‘Exceptional’ and made corresponding 
disclosures. Given below are ‘Exceptional Disclosures’ by 
a few companies.

RELIANCE INDUSTRIES LTD. 
(CONSOLIDATED)
From Notes to Financial Statements
EXCEPTIONAL ITEM

Covid-19 has significant impact on business operations 
of the Company. Further, there is substantial drop in 
oil prices accompanied with unprecedented demand 
destruction. The Company based on its assessment has 
determined the impact of such exceptional circumstances 
on its financial statements and the same has been 
disclosed separately as ‘Exceptional Item’ of Rs. 4,245 
crores, net of taxes of Rs. 99 crores, in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss for the year ended 31st March, 2020 [also 
read with Note C(J) of Critical Accounting Judgements 
and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty above]. 
In addition to the above, the Group has also recognised 
Rs. 53 crores against erstwhile subsidiary GAPCO liability 
and Rs. 146 crores (net of tax Rs. 49 crores) for Adjusted 
Gross Revenue (AGR) dues of Reliance Jio Infocomm 
Limited, as part of exceptional item.

HINDUSTAN UNILEVER LTD. 
(CONSOLIDATED)
From Notes to Financial Statements
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (NET)

(Rs. in crores)
Year ended

31st March, 2020
Year ended

31st March, 2019
i) Profit on disposal of surplus 

properties
46 -

HIMANSHU V. KISHNADWALA
Chartered Accountant

Year ended
31st March, 2020

Year ended
31st March, 2019

ii) Fair valuation of contingent 
consideration payable (refer 
Note 42) (not reproduced)

26 -

Total exceptional income (A) 72 -
i) Fair valuation of contingent 
consideration payable (refer 
Note 42) (not reproduced)

- (57)

ii) Acquisition and disposal 
related cost

(132) (30)

iii) Restructuring and other 
costs

(140) (141)

Total exceptional 
expenditure (B)

(272) (228)

Exceptional items (net) 
(A+B)

(200) (228)

ADANI ENTERPRISES LTD. 
(CONSOLIDATED)
From Notes to Financial Statements
36. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

(Rs. in crores)
Particulars For the year 

ended 31st March, 
2020

For the year ended 
31st March, 2019

Write-off of unsuccessful 
exploration project 

[Note (a)]

(129.73) -

Price escalation claim 
and interest thereon 

[Note (b)]

328.48 -

Net gain on sale 
of investments in 

subsidiaries / associates 
/ jointly controlled 
entities [Note (c)]

- 537.82

Impairment of non-
current assets [Note (d)]

- (670.80)

Stamp duty expense (e) - (25.00)
198.75 (157.98)

(a)  During the current year ended 31st March, 2020 one 
of the subsidiaries which is engaged in oil and natural gas 
exploration business had written off one of its blocks due 
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to commercial unviability of the project.

(b)  During the current year ended 31st March, 2020 the 
Company has received a favourable order from the 
Hon’ble Supreme Court with respect to its claim of price 
escalation in mining business. Pursuant to the favourable 
order, the Company recognised cumulative revenue and 
interest thereon since the financial year 2013-14.

(c)  As decided in the Board meeting dated 23rd February, 
2019 and as subsequently approved by shareholders, the 
Company has divested its investment in agri-logistics and 
thermal energy entities in order to consolidate operations 
within single business segment of Adani Group and bring 
in more focus of efficient operations. Accordingly, the 
Company has completed sale of its investment in these 
entities on 28th March, 2019 and has recognised net 
gain of Rs. 510.26 crores. The gain is recognised after 
adjusting impairment of non-current assets of Rs. 464.63 
crores in energy business entities as per independent 
valuation reports. During the previous year, the Company 
also recognised gain of Rs. 27.56 crores on sale of 
investment in other subsidiaries / associates / jointly 
controlled entities.

(d)  During the previous year, two subsidiaries in Australia 
have recognised impairment of non-current assets of 
Rs. 670.80 crores due to continuous delay in regulatory 
approval process and various legal challenges.

(e) During the previous year, stamp duty of Rs. 25 
crores was paid on account of Composite Scheme of 
Arrangement for the demerger of the renewable power 
undertaking from the Company.

BRITANNIA INDUSTRIES LTD. 
(STANDALONE)
From Notes to Financial Statements
NOTE 34 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS [(INCOME) / EXPENSE]

(Rs. in crores)
Particulars 31st March, 2020 31st March, 2019

Reversal of provision 
for diminution in value 

of investments in 
subsidiaries [Refer note 

below]

(35.00) -

Provision for diminution 
in value of investments 
in subsidiaries [Refer 

note below]

16.00 -

(19.00) -

Note: During the year, in accordance with Ind AS 36 – 
Impairment of Assets, the Company has, based on its 
assessment of the business performance of Britannia and 
Associates (Mauritius) Private Limited and its step-down 
subsidiaries in the Middle East, reversed Rs. 35 crores 
provision for diminution in the value of investments in 
equity shares. Further, the Company has provided Rs. 16 
crores for diminution in the value of investments in equity 
shares of Ganges Valley Foods Private Limited which 
has shut down its factory operations and announced a 
Voluntary Retirement Scheme (VRS) for its employees.

BRITANNIA INDUSTRIES LTD. 
(CONSOLIDATED)
From Notes to Financial Statements
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS pertain to voluntary retirement 
cost incurred in one of the subsidiaries of the Company.

GLAXO SMITHKLINE 
PHARMACEUTICALS LTD. 
(CONSOLIDATED)
From Notes to Financial Statements
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (NET)

(Rs. in lakhs)
Particulars Year ended 

31st March, 2020
Year ended 

31st March, 2019
Profit on sale of property 546,30.28 43,39.13

Impairment of assets 
[Refer note 3(b)]

(637,42.85) -

Associated cost to impairment 
[Refer note 3(b)]

(40,33.00) -

Provision for product recall 
[Refer note (a) below]

(108,08.80) -

Redundancy costs 
[Refer note (b) below]

(76,14.63) (20,07.75)

Impairment of capital 
work-in-progress

(26,31.00) -

Sale of brands 50.69 5,38.53
(341,49.31) 28,69.91

Notes:
(a) The Ultimate Holding Company has been contacted 
by regulatory authorities regarding the detection of geno-
toxic nitrosamine NDMA in ranitidine products. Based 
on the information received and correspondence with 
regulatory authorities, the Ultimate Holding Company 
made the decision to suspend the release, distribution 
and supply of all dose forms of ranitidine hydrochloride 
products to all markets, including India, as a precautionary 
action. The Group manufactures Ranitidine Hydrochloride 
IP Tablets 150 mg. and 300 mg. (Zinetac) for supply to 
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the Indian market. Further, as a precautionary action, the 
Group made the decision to initiate a voluntary pharmacy 
/ retail level recall of the Zinetac products from the Indian 
market.

Consequently, the Group recognised provisions of Rs. 
108,08.80 lakhs relating to estimates of loss on account 
of sales returns, stocks withdrawn and inventories held 
including incidental costs thereto and other related costs.

(b) Rs. 59,14.63 lakhs (previous year Rs. 20,07.75 
lakhs) is on account of restructuring of manufacturing 
and commercial organisation and Rs. 17,00.00 lakhs is a 
charge on account of outstanding litigation matter.

TATA CHEMICALS LTD. (STANDALONE)
Discontinued Operations

(I)  Disposal of consumer products business
The National Company Law Tribunal (‘NCLT’), Mumbai 
and NCLT, Kolkata on 10th January, 2020 and 8th 
January, 2020, respectively, sanctioned the Scheme of 
Arrangement amongst Tata Consumer Products Limited 
(formerly Tata Global Beverages Limited) (‘TCPL’) 
and the Company and their respective shareholders 
and creditors (‘the Scheme’) for the demerger of the 
Consumer Products Business Unit (‘CPB’) of the 
Company to TCPL. The Scheme became effective on 
7th February, 2020 upon filing of the certified copies 
of the NCLT Orders sanctioning the Scheme with 
the respective jurisdictional Registrar of Companies. 
Pursuant to the Scheme becoming effective, the CPB 
is demerged from the Company and transferred to and 
vested in TCPL with effect from 1st April, 2019, i.e., the 
Appointed Date.

As per the clarification issued by Ministry of Corporate 
Affairs vide Circular No. 09/2019 dated 21st August, 
2019 (MCA Circular), the Company has recognised the 
effect of the demerger on 1st April, 2019 and debited the 
fair value as at 1st April, 2019 of demerged undertaking, 
i.e. fair value of net assets of CPB to be distributed 
to the shareholders of the Company, amounting to 
Rs. 6,307.97 crores to the retained earnings in the 
Statement of Changes in Equity as dividend distribution. 
The difference in the fair value and the carrying amount 
of net assets of CPB as at 1st April, 2019 is recognised as 
gain on demerger of CPB in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss as an exceptional item, amounting to Rs. 6,220.15 

crores (net of transaction cost) during the year ended 
31st March, 2020. Accordingly, the operations of CPB 
have been reclassified as discontinued operations 
for the year ended 31st March, 2020. Accordingly, 
the operations of CPB have been reclassified as 
discontinued operations for the year ended 31st March, 
2019 and comparative information in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss account has been restated in accordance 
with Ind AS 105.

TATA CONSUMER PRODUCTS LTD.
Exceptional Items (Net)

(Rs. crores)
Particulars 2020 2019

Expenditure
Expenses in connection with acquisition 

of businesses (Refer note 40)
51.81 -

51.81 -

IIFL FINANCE LTD. (STANDALONE)
Exceptional Items

(i)  During the year ended 31st March, 2020 the Company 
has transferred its mortgage loan business undertaking 
with its respective assets and liabilities as a going concern 
on a slump sale basis to IIFL Home Finance Limited 
(formerly known as ‘India Infoline Housing Finance 
Limited’), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
w.e.f. 30th June, 2019. The profit on sale aggregating to 
Rs. 15.04 million has been disclosed as exceptional item.
(ii)  During the year ended 31st March, 2020 the Company 
has transferred its microfinance business undertaking 
with its respective assets and liabilities as a going concern 
on a slump sale basis to Samasta Microfinance Limited 
as a subsidiary Company w.e.f. 31st October, 2019. The 
profit on sale aggregating to Rs. 31.02 million has been 
disclosed as exceptional item.
(iii) During the previous year ended March, 2019 the 
Company executed definitive agreement for the sale of 
its ‘vehicle financing business’ as a going concern on 
a slump sale basis to IndoStar Capital Finance Limited 
(‘Indostar’). The profit on sale aggregating to Rs. 1,153.30 
million has been disclosed as an exceptional item. In 
terms of the business transfer agreement, the Company 
will be receiving the outstanding purchase consideration 
of Rs. 20,177.78 million from Indostar in 12 (twelve) equal 
monthly instalments from the closing date 31st March, 
2019 with interest. 
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CORPORATE LAW CORNER

Foseco India Limited vs. Om Boseco Rail 
Products Limited
C.P. (IB) No. 1735/KB/ 2019
Date of order: 20th May, 2020

Section 9 read with Notification dated 24th March, 
2020 – The Notification raises the pecuniary limit 
of the Tribunal for initiating CIRP from Rs. 1 lakh to 
Rs. 1 crore – The said Notification is prospective 
in nature and does not apply to applications which 
have been filed but are yet to be admitted

FACTS
F Co (the ‘Operational Creditor’) was a company engaged 
in the business of manufacturing and supply of chemical 
and allied products related to foundry and steel industries. 
OB Co (the ‘Corporate Debtor’) regularly purchased 
foundry and other chemicals from F Co on credit basis 
wherein the credit period was 30 days and which was 
relaxed for a further 15 days beyond the usual credit 
period mentioned in the invoices.

The corporate debtor failed to make payments of 
several invoices raised by the operational creditor from 
3rd December, 2018 to 11th July, 2019 for supply of 
materials. The total outstanding debt receivable from 
the corporate debtor was Rs. 90,00,919.10 (principal 
amount of Rs. 78,52,663 + interest Rs. 11,48,256.10) 
on the basis of which a demand notice was issued on 
1st August, 2019. But the corporate debtor did not 
reply to the said notice. The operational creditor therefore 
filed an application for initiating Corporate Insolvency 
Resolution Process (CIRP) against the corporate 
debtor.

On two consecutive events (17th January, 2020 and 3rd 

February, 2020), the corporate debtor chose not to file 
a reply without assigning any valid reason. The matter 
was then posted for hearing on 13th March, 2020. The 
corporate debtor then requested for a period of seven days 
for settlement of the matter with the operating creditor. 
The time was granted and the order was reserved. But 
owing to the onset of the coronavirus pandemic, there 
was a delay in pronouncement of an order.

The corporate debtor, citing the Notification dated 24th 
March, 2020 which introduced the proviso to section 
4 of the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016, filed 
a submission before the NCLT on 13th May, 2020. The 
proviso enhanced the minimum amount of default from Rs. 
1 lakh to Rs. 1 crore for initiating CIRP against corporate 
debtors from small and medium-scale industries. The 
issue before the National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT) 
was whether the Notification u/s 4 of the Code would 
apply to applications pending for admission.

HELD
NCLT heard both the parties. It observed that the 
corporate debtor had always accepted and agreed to 
make payment of outstanding debt without raising any 
dispute. The Tribunal observed that it was a well-settled 
law that a statute is presumed to be prospective unless it is 
held to be retrospective either expressly or by necessary 
implication. Further, the Notification did not mention that 
its application would be retrospective. The amendment 
was, therefore, held to be prospective.

It was submitted that the invoices did not mention any 
terms stipulating the payment of interest. Accordingly, 
NCLT held that since there was no objection raised by 
the corporate debtor, a sum for supply of materials less 
any interest was due. The claim of the operational creditor 
was found due and sustainable in law. The Tribunal 
passed an order admitting the application and laid down 
necessary directions, including declaration of moratorium 
and appointment of a resolution professional.

DLF Ltd. vs. Satya Bhushan Kaura
[2020] 113 taxmann.com 363 (NCLAT)
Date of order: 13th January, 2020

It was found that company in their correspondence 
with legal heirs had accepted to issue shares to 
them as per their entitlement on production of 
court orders, affidavit and indemnity bond and 
on payment of Rs. 1.20 lakhs being consideration 
amount of 60,000 shares – Where Letter of 
Administration for succession was submitted by 
legal heirs, insisting on affidavit and indemnity 

POOJA PUNJABI OBERAI  I PRAMOD S. PRABHUDESAI 
Chartered Accountants

8

9
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bond again and again was harassing poor 
investors and therefore, penalty was imposed 
on company and they were directed to register 
transfer of 60,000 shares to legal heirs which 
were due to them on rights basis by appellant 
company

FACTS
The Late DNK, a deceased shareholder of ‘D Ltd’, held 
150 equity shares of Rs. 10 each of the company. The 
said 150 equity shares of Rs. 10 each were subsequently 
converted into 6,000 equity shares of Rs. 2 each after 
giving effect to split and bonus issues. DNK had expired 
on 27th August, 1987.

On 29th December, 2005, D Ltd came out with a Rights 
issue which remained open till 18th January, 2006. The 
offer was available to all the existing shareholders as on 
18th November, 2005.

The legal heirs of DNK did not approach D Ltd for 
transmission / transfer of the original 150 shares (being 
6,000 shares of Rs. 2 each) held by DNK in their favour; 
neither did they claim to be his legal heirs nor did they 
inform D Ltd about his demise for about 20 years. On 25th 
May, 2007, for the first time the legal heirs informed that 
DNK had expired on 27th August, 1987. Thereafter, by 
their letter dated 1st June, 2007, the legal heirs requested 
for transfer of 66,000 equity shares. In response to the 
said letter, D Ltd requested the legal heirs to submit the 
requisite documents, including the succession certificate 
and demand draft of Rs. 1.20 lakhs on or before 26th 
September, 2007 in order to be eligible for allotment of 
shares on Rights basis.

The legal heirs after the cut-off date (26th September, 
2007) for the first time vide their letter dated 16th October, 
2007 applied for Letter of Administration in respect of 
the will of DNK and after the lapse of five years, vide 
their letter dated 1st June, 2012, enclosed the Letter of 
Administration granted by the District Court (North) in 
respect of the Will of DNK.

On appeal, the NCLT vide its order directed D Ltd 
to register the transfer and the legal heirs were 
directed to make payment for 60,000 shares at Rs. 2 

per share to the promoters. The legal heirs were also 
directed that on transfer of 60,000 shares in their 
name, they will execute the transfer deed to the extent 
of entitlement of the legal heirs in accordance with the 
terms of the Letter of Administration issued by the District 
judge.

The matter went in appeal before the Appellate Tribunal.

HELD
D Ltd in its correspondence with the legal heirs has 
already accepted to issue shares to the legal heirs 
as per their entitlement on production of court orders, 
affidavit and indemnity bond and on payment of Rs. 1.20 
lakhs being the consideration amount of 60,000 shares. 
During the course of arguments, D Ltd was asked why, 
when the Letter of Administration had been submitted 
by the legal heirs, did it insist on affidavit and indemnity 
bond? When the Letter of Administration has been 
issued, it means that the legal heirs are discharged from 
their liability. On this, D Ltd offered its apologies.

It is to be noted that D Ltd is a listed company in real 
estate and is well aware of legal formalities. By insisting 
on affidavit and indemnity bond again and again in spite 
of the Letter of Administration, it was clear that D Ltd is 
harassing the poor investors. The act of D Ltd deserves 
some penal action. It is also noted that the legal heirs are 
entitled to 60,000 shares as per entitlement on payment 
of consideration.

In view of the foregoing discussions and observations, 
the following directions were issued:

The legal heirs will make payment of consideration to D 
Ltd within 15 days from the date of receipt of the order 
and they will be entitled to the benefit of the membership 
from the date of payment.
D Ltd will transfer / arrange for transfer of 60,000 shares 
to the legal heirs within 30 days from the date of receipt 
of payment.
A sum of Rs. 5 lakhs as costs is imposed on D Ltd to 
be deposited with the National Defence Fund within 15 
days from the date of the order. Proof of depositing the 
same will be submitted to the Registrar of the Appellate 
Tribunal within a week thereafter. 

कृरघने नाससर तनषकृतरः
There is no atonement for one who is ungrateful. 

— (Valmiki Raamaayan 4.34.12)
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As per Schedule II read with Regulation 4(b) of the FEM 
(Establishment in India of a Branch Office or a Liaison 
Office or a Project Office or any Other Place of Business) 
Regulations, 2016 [FEMA 22(R)], an LO in India of a 
person resident outside India is permitted to carry out the 
following limited activities:
(i)  Representing the parent company / group companies 
in India.
(ii)  Promoting export / import from / to India.
(iii) Promoting technical / financial collaborations between 
parent / group companies and companies in India.
(iv) Acting as a communication channel between the 
parent company and Indian companies.

Thus, an LO is not permitted to carry out, directly or 
indirectly, any trading or commercial or industrial activity 
in India. The LO can operate only out of inward remittance 
received from the parent company in India. When a 
foreign company operates through an LO in India, there 
is no income that is taxable in India as it is not permitted 
to earn any income here. The activities mentioned above 
are essentially of a preparatory or auxiliary nature.

2. WHETHER AN LO CONSTITUTES A 
PE IN INDIA?
As mentioned above, as per the prevailing FEMA 
regulations, an LO cannot carry on any activity in India 
other than activities permitted as per FEMA 22(R). 
However, in practice it is observed in some cases that LOs 
carry out activities which may not be limited to acting as 
a communication channel between the parent company 
and Indian companies.

Thus, time and again doubts arise in respect of the 
business activities carried out by a foreign company in 
India through an LO and whether the said activities can 
be taxable in India. The actual activities could vary from 
case to case. It may be difficult to presume that an LO 
will not constitute a PE merely because RBI has given 
permission for setting up an LO in India on specific terms 
and conditions.

A liaison office (LO) has been an important mode of entry 
into India of many foreign entities wishing to do business 
and make investments here.
A dispute has been going on for quite some time about 
whether an LO has to be considered as a Permanent 
Establishment (PE) of the non-resident in India and be 
subjected to tax.
In this article we have discussed various aspects relating 
to the taxability of an LO in India, including the recent 
decision of the Supreme Court in the case of the U.A.E. 
Exchange Centre.

1. BACKGROUND
In many cases, an enterprise usually tests the waters 
outside its domestic jurisdiction in an endeavour to expand 
business. In the initial phase of establishment of business 
in the host country, a multinational corporation (MNC) 
conducts market research, develops strategies to explore 
the foreign market, formulates plans, maintains liaison 
with the government officials, etc. After such preliminary 
activities, it commences operations in the foreign market, 
controlled or managed either from the home country or in 
the foreign host country.

To undertake such exploratory or precursory activities, 
MNCs establish an LO in the host country. The RBI 
also permits this, subject to the condition that it is 
venturing into certain limited areas of permitted 
activities only. Undertaking any activity beyond 
the rigours of the permitted activities requires an 
application for conversion of such LO into a Branch Office 
or Project Office, or any other body corporate, as the case 
may be.

Thus, an MNC / foreign company can do business in India 
either by opening an LO or a branch office, or a limited 
liability partnership firm, or a subsidiary or wholly-owned 
subsidiary, depending upon its business requirements in 
India. Each of the above modes of setting up business 
presence in India is governed by the Foreign Exchange 
Management Regulations.

INTERNATIONAL TAXATION
MAYUR B. NAYAK | TARUNKUMAR G. SINGHAL | ANIL D. DOSHI

Chartered Accountants

TAXABILITY OF THE LIAISON OFFICE OF 
A FOREIGN ENTERPRISE IN INDIA
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To determine whether an LO constitutes a PE and 
consequent taxability of the same in India, it is very 
important to examine whether it is carrying out an 
important part of the business activities of the foreign 
company, or only the preparatory and auxiliary activities 
as permitted under FEMA 22(R).

3. RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF THE 
INCOME-TAX ACT, 1961 AND THE 
DOUBLE TAXATION AVOIDANCE 
AGREEMENTS (DTAAs)
Section 9 of the ITA, 1961 contains provisions relating to 
income deemed to accrue or arise in India and includes all 
income accruing or arising, whether directly or indirectly, 
through or from any business connection in India. 
Explanation 1(a) to section 9(1)(i) provides that in case 
of a business of which all the operations are not carried 
out in India, the income of the business deemed u/s 9(1)
(i) to accrue or arise in India shall be only such part of 
the income as is reasonably attributable to the operations 
carried out in India.

Further, Explanation 1(b) to section 9(1)(i) provides that in 
the case of a non-resident, no income shall be deemed to 
accrue or arise in India to him through or from operations 
which are confined to the purchase of goods in India for 
the purposes of export.

Under Article 5(1) and (2) of the DTAAs, an LO may be 
treated as ‘fixed place of business’ and accordingly a PE 
in India. However, relief is provided under Article 5(4) to 
exclude the activities which are ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ 
in nature.

4. PREPARATORY OR AUXILIARY 
ACTIVITIES TEST – OECD 
COMMENTARY
The terms 'preparatory' or 'auxiliary' have not been 
defined under the ITA or under the DTAAs. Various 
judicial decisions have attempted to define the same. 
The term 'preparatory' has been explained to mean 
something done before or for the preparation of the 
main task. Similarly, the term ‘auxiliary’ has been 
interpreted to mean an activity 'aiding' or supporting the 
main activity.

The OECD Commentary on the Model Tax Convention 
on Income and on Capital dated 21st November, 2017 
in relevant paragraphs 59, 60 and 71 deals with various 
aspects of preparatory auxiliary activities. The said 
paragraphs read as under:

‘59.  It is often difficult to distinguish between activities 
which have a preparatory or auxiliary character and 
those which have not. The decisive criterion is whether 
or not the activity of the fixed place of business in itself 
forms an essential and significant part of the activity of 
the enterprise as a whole. Each individual case will have 
to be examined on its own merits. In any case, a fixed 
place of business whose general purpose is one which is 
identical to the general purpose of the whole enterprise 
does not exercise a preparatory or auxiliary activity.
 
60.  As a general rule, an activity that has a preparatory 
character is one that is carried on in contemplation 
of the carrying on of what constitutes the essential 
and significant part of the activity of the enterprise as 
a whole. Since a preparatory activity precedes another 
activity, it will often be carried on during a relatively short 
period, the duration of that period being determined by 
the nature of the core activities of the enterprise. This, 
however, will not always be the case as it is possible 
to carry on an activity at a given place for a substantial 
period of time in preparation for activities that take place 
somewhere else. Where, for example, a construction 
enterprise trains its employees at one place before 
these employees are sent to work at remote work sites 
located in other countries, the training that takes place 
at the first location constitutes a preparatory activity 
for that enterprise. An activity that has an auxiliary 
character, on the other hand, generally corresponds 
to an activity that is carried on to support, without 
being part of, the essential and significant part of the 
activity of the enterprise as a whole. It is unlikely that an 
activity that requires a significant proportion of the assets 
or employees of the enterprise could be considered as 
having an auxiliary character.

71. Examples of places of business covered by sub-
paragraph e) are fixed places of business used solely 
for the purpose of advertising or for the supply of 
information or for scientific research or for the servicing of 
a patent or a know-how contract, if such activities have a 
preparatory or auxiliary character. Paragraph 4 would not 
apply, however, if a fixed place of business used for the 
supply of information would not only give information but 
would also furnish plans, etc. specially developed for the 
purposes of the individual customer. Nor would it apply 
if a research establishment were to concern itself with 
manufacture. Similarly, where the servicing of patents 
and know-how is the purpose of an enterprise, a 
fixed place of business of such enterprise exercising 
such an activity cannot get the benefits of paragraph 
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4. A fixed place of business which has the function 
of managing an enterprise or even only a part of an 
enterprise or of a group of the concern cannot be 
regarded as doing a preparatory or auxiliary activity, 
for such a managerial activity exceeds this level. If 
an enterprise with international ramifications establishes 
a so-called “management office” in a State in which 
it maintains subsidiaries, permanent establishments, 
agents or licensees, such office having supervisory and 
coordinating functions for all departments of the enterprise 
located within the region concerned, sub-paragraph 
e) will not apply to that “management office” because 
the function of managing an enterprise, even if it only 
covers a certain area of the operations of the concern, 
constitutes an essential part of the business operations of 
the enterprise and therefore can in no way be regarded as 
an activity which has a preparatory or auxiliary character 
within the meaning of paragraph 4.’

In order to determine whether an LO of an MNC constitutes 
its PE in India, an in-depth analysis is required to be done 
based on the factual information available, for example, 
considering the nature of the activities undertaken by the 
LO, the business of the MNC and the overall facts and 
circumstances of the case. In this it is very important to 
consider the various judicial precedents on the subject.

5. INDIAN JUDICIAL PRECEDENTS
On the issue of whether an LO constitutes a PE in India, 
there are mixed judicial precedents, primarily based on 
the facts of each case.

In a few cases, the Tribunals and Courts have held 
that an LO does not constitute a fixed place PE in 
India because the LO was carrying on activities 
/ operations within the framework of permitted 
activities by the RBI, i.e. preparatory or auxiliary 
activities. In this regard, useful reference can be made 
to the following cases:
• IAC vs. Mitsui & Co. Ltd. [1991] 39 ITD 59 (Delhi)(SB);
• Motorola Inc. vs. DCIT [2005] 95 ITD 269 (Delhi)(SB);
• Western Union Financial Services Inc. vs. ADIT [2007] 
104 ITD 40 (Delhi)
• Sumitomo Corporation vs. DCIT [2008] 114 ITD 61 
(Delhi);
• Metal One Corporation vs. DDIT [2012] 52 SOT 304 
(Delhi);
• DIT vs. Mitsui & Co. Ltd. [2018] 96 taxmann.com 371 
(Delhi);
• Nagase & Co. Ltd. vs. DDIT [2019] 109 taxmann.com 
288 (Mumbai-Trib.);

• Kawasaki Heavy Industries Ltd. vs. ACIT [2016] 67 
taxmann.com 47 (Delhi-Trib.).

However, in a few other cases, Tribunals / Courts have, 
based on the specific facts of the cases, held that an 
LO constitutes a fixed place PE in India because it 
was carrying on certain activities which were in the 
nature of commercial / core activities of the taxpayer. 
A list of such cases is given below:
• U.A.E. Exchange Centre [2004] 139 Taxman 82 (AAR);
• Columbia Sportswear Co. (AAR) [2011] 12 taxmann.
com 349 (AAR);
• Jebon Corporation India vs. CIT(IT) [2012] 19 taxmann.
com 119 (Karnataka);
• Brown & Sharpe Inc. vs. ACIT [2014] 41 taxmann.com 
345 (Delhi-Trib.) affirmed in Brown & Sharpe Inc. vs. CIT 
[2014] 51 taxmann.com 327 (All.);
• GE Energy Parts Inc. vs. CIT(IT) [2019] 101 taxmann.
com 142 (Delhi);
• Hitachi High Technologies Singapore Pte Ltd. vs. DCIT 
[2020] 113 taxmann.com 327 (Delhi-Trib.).

Some other relevant judicial precedents in this regard are 
as under:
• Gutal Trading Est., In re [2005] 278 ITR 643 (AAR);
• Angel Garment Ltd., In re [2006] 287 ITR 341(AAR);
• Cargo Community Network PTE Ltd., In re [2007] 289 
ITR 355 (AAR);
• Sojitz Corporation vs. ADIT [2008] 117 TTJ 792 (Kol.);
• Mitsui & Co. Ltd. vs. ACIT [2008] 114 TTJ 903 (Delhi);
• K.T. Corpn. [2009] 181 Taxman 94 (AAR);
• IKEA Trading (Hong Kong) Ltd. [2009] 308 ITR 422 
(AAR);
• Mondial Orient Ltd. vs. ACIT [2010] 42 SOT 359 (Bang.);
• M. Fabricant & Sons Inc. vs. DDIT [2011] 48 SOT 576 
(Mum.);
• Nike Inc. vs. ACIT [2013] 125 ITD 35 (Bang.);
• Linmark International (Hong Kong) Ltd. vs. DDIT (IT) 
[2011] 10 taxmann.com 184 (Delhi);
• CIT vs. Interra Software India (P.) Ltd. [2011] 11 taxmann.
com 82 (Delhi).

6. A BRIEF ANALYSIS OF SOME OF THE 
DECISIONS based on the nature of the 
activities of the LOs is given below to 
understand the judicial thinking on the 
subject.
(A) Routine functions of LO
Earlier, the ITAT, Mumbai considering the specific facts 
in the case of Micoperi Spa Milano vs. DCIT [2002] 82 
ITD 369 (Mum.) had held that maintenance of a project 
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office in India and incurring expenses for maintaining 
such office, cost of postage, telex, etc., indicates that the 
MNC has a PE in India.

However, where routine functions are performed by the 
LO in India and for the purposes of performing such 
routine functions the LO has been given limited powers, it 
cannot be held that a MNC has a PE in India in the form 
of its LO.

In Kawasaki Heavy Industries Ltd. vs. ACIT [2016] 67 
taxmann.com 47 (Delhi- rib.), the ITAT held that:
(a) The powers / rights granted by an MNC to its LO 
in India such as (i) Signing of documents for renting of 
premises, equipment, services with any person, including 
Municipal bodies, governments, etc., as may be required 
for the operation of the LO; (ii) Execution of contracts for 
purchase of items for operation of the LO, etc. are specific 
to the operations of the LO and the stand of the A.O., 
that the power of attorney is an 'open document' giving 
unfettered powers to the LO, would be outside the scope 
of the initial approval granted by the RBI.
(b) Prima facie, a reading of the power of attorney does 
not demonstrate that the employees of the assessee at 
the LO are authorised to do core business activity or to 
sign and execute contracts, etc.
(c) The A.O. has not brought on record any material, 
other than his interpretation of the terms of the power 
of attorney, to demonstrate that the LO is carrying on 
core business activity warranting his conclusion that the 
assessee has a PE in India.

Thus, in respect of routine functions of the LO, the same 
may not be considered as constituting a PE in India.

(B)  Purchase activities for the purposes of exports
Under Explanation 1(b) of section 9(1)(i), purchase 
functions or a part thereof, performed by an LO in India 
has been consistently held as outside the purview of such 
LO having any taxable income in India.

In Ikea Trading (Hong Kong) Ltd. [2009] 308 ITR 422 
(AAR), the AAR has held that where the LO's activities 
are confined only to facilitate the purchase of goods in 
India for the purposes of export outside India, such 
activities are covered by restriction / relief provided 
under Explanation 1(b) to section 9(1)(i) of the Act and, 
accordingly, no income is deemed to accrue or arise in 
India with respect to the operations carried out by the LO 
in India. A similar view has been taken in ADIT (IT) vs. 
Tesco International Sourcing Ltd. [2015] 58 taxmann.

com 133 (Bang.-Trib.).

The Karnataka High Court in Columbia Sportswear Co. 
vs. DIT (IT) [2015] 62 taxmann.com 240, reversing the 
decision of the AAR in Columbia Sportswear Co. [2011] 
12 taxmann.com 349 (AAR), held that all the activities 
undertaken by the LO of an MNC such as designing, 
manufacturing, identifying vendors, negotiating with 
vendors, ensuring quality control of the products 
manufactured by vendors, quality assurance, on-time 
delivery, acting as a conduit or 'go between' between 
the vendors in India / Egypt / Bangladesh and the MNC 
situated outside India, are 'activities necessary' for 
carrying out a purchase function in India, as otherwise 
the goods purchased from India would not find any 
customer outside India. Accordingly, such activities are 
not the 'activities other than sale of goods' as held by 
AAR, rather, they are an extension / necessary part of 
the purchase function itself, so carried out by the LO in 
India. Accordingly, appropriate relief as provided under 
Explanation 1(b) to section 9(1)(i) of the Act is required to 
be extended to the taxpayer.

(C) Information collection, research and aiding 
activities
Initial research, information collection and preliminary 
advertising undertaken by an LO in India has been held 
to be in the nature of 'preparatory' or 'auxiliary' activity, 
and thus it has been held that the LO does not constitute 
the PE of its MNC in India.

The AAR in the case of K.T. Corporation [2009] 181 
Taxman 94 (AAR) held that the activities in the nature of:
(i)   Holding seminars, conferences;
(ii) Receiving trade inquiries from the customers;
(iii) Advertising about the technology being used by the 
MNC in its products / services and answering the queries 
of the customers;
(iv) Collecting feedback from the customers / prospective 
customers, trade organisations and not playing any role 
in pre-bid survey, etc., before entering into the agreement 
with its customers, nor involving itself in the technical 
analysis of the products / services, are in aid or support 
of the 'core business activity' of the MNC and, thus, fall 
under the exclusionary clauses (e) and (f) of Article 5(4) of 
the DTAA between India and Korea. It is pertinent to note 
that the AAR also noted that the LO is confined to carrying 
out preparatory or auxiliary activities only.

The AAR also said, ‘However, we may add here that if 
the activities of the liaison office are enlarged beyond 
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the parameters fixed by RBI or if the Department lays 
its hands on any concrete materials which substantially 
impact on the veracity of the applicant's version of facts, 
it is open to the Department to take appropriate steps 
under law. But, at this stage, we proceed to give ruling on 
the basis of facts stated by the applicant which cannot be 
treated as ex facie untrue.’

Similarly, the Delhi High Court in the case of Nortel 
Networks India International Inc. vs. DIT [2016] 69 
taxmann.com 47 held that where the Indian subsidiary of 
the MNC negotiated and entered into contracts with the 
customers of the MNC, the LO of the same MNC could 
not be held to be a PE of the MNC in India, especially 
when the tax authorities had not brought on record any 
evidence that the LO had participated in the negotiation 
of the contracts.

The ITAT, Mumbai in the case of Nagase & Co. Ltd. vs. 
DDIT [2018] 96 taxmann.com 504 (Mum.-Trib.) held 
that in the absence of any material or evidence brought 
on record by the Revenue authorities to the effect that the 
LO was executing business or contracts independently 
with the customers in India, the plea of the assessee 
that it was engaged in carrying out only preparatory or 
auxiliary activities needs to be accepted and, accordingly, 
the taxpayer's LO in India did not constitute its PE in India.

(D) Marketing activities
Where the LO undertakes the preliminary activities of 
advertising, identification of customers, attending to 
queries of customers, such activities would fall within the 
ambit of preparatory / auxiliary activities and, accordingly, 
the LO would not qualify as a PE of the MNC in India.

However, where such activities cross the 'thin-line' 
of preparatory / auxiliary activities and venture into 
performing income-generating activities, such activities 
would require the LO to be treated as the PE of the MNC 
in India.

The Karnataka High Court in the case of Jabon 
Corporation India vs. CIT (IT) [2012] 19 taxmann.com 
119 (Karnataka), while upholding the decision of ITAT, 
Bangalore in the case of DDIT (IT) vs. Jebon Corpn. 
India [2010] 125 ITD 340 (Bang.-Trib.) that the LO has 
to be treated as the PE of the Korean parent, held as 
follows:

‘10. It is on the basis of the aforesaid material, the 
Tribunal held that the activities carried on by the liaison 

office are not confined only to the liaison work. They are 
actually carrying on the commercial activities of procuring 
purchase orders, identifying the buyers, negotiating with 
the buyers, agreeing to the price, thereafter, requesting 
them to place a purchase order and then the said 
purchase order is forwarded to the Head Office and then 
the material is dispatched to the customers and they 
follow up regarding the payments from the customers and 
also offer after-sales support. Therefore, it is clear that 
merely because the buyers place orders directly with 
the Head Office and make payment directly to the 
Head Office and it is the Head Office which directly 
sends goods to the buyers, would not be sufficient 
to hold that the work done by the liaison office is 
only liaison and it does not constitute a permanent 
establishment as defined in Article 5 of DTAA. In fact, 
the Assessing Officer has clearly set out that what was 
discovered during the investigation and the same has 
been properly appreciated by the Tribunal and it came 
to the conclusion that though the liaison office was set 
up in Bangalore with the permission of the RBI and in 
spite of the conditions being stipulated in the said 
permission preventing the liaison office from carrying 
on commercial activities, they have been carrying on 
commercial activities.

11. It was further contended that the RBI has not taken 
any action and therefore such interference is not justified. 
Once the material on record clearly establishes that the 
liaison office is undertaking an activity of trading and 
therefore entering into business contracts, fixing price 
for sale of goods and merely because, the officials of the 
liaison office are not signing any written contract would not 
absolve them from liability. Now that the investigation 
has revealed the facts, we are sure that the same will 
be forwarded to the RBI for appropriate action in the 
matter in accordance with law. But merely because no 
action is initiated by RBI till today would not render the 
findings recorded by the authorities under the Income-tax 
Act as erroneous or illegal.

12. We are satisfied from the material on record that 
the finding recorded by the Tribunal is based on legal 
evidence and that the finding that the liaison office is a 
permanent establishment as defined under Article 5 of the 
DTAA and therefore, the business profits earned in India 
through this liaison office is liable for tax is established.’

The Allahabad High Court in the case of Brown & Sharpe 
Inc. vs. CIT [2014] 51 taxmann.com 327 (All.) held that 
the activities such as:
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(i) Explaining the products to the buyers in India;
(ii) Furnishing information in accordance with the 
requirements of the buyers;
(iii) Discussions on the commercial issues pertaining 
to the contract through the technical representative, 
after which an order was placed by the Indian buyer 
directly to the Korean HO, would be something more 
than 'preparatory' or 'auxiliary' activities and, accordingly, 
the LO was a PE of the MNC in India. Further, the 
incentive plan designed for remuneration of the employees 
of the LO indicated that the LO was undertaking not 
just the 'advertising' activities, rather such activities 
traversed the actual marketing of products of the MNC in 
India as it was only on the basis of the orders generated 
that an incentive was envisaged / organised for the 
employees.

In GE Energy Parts Inc. vs. CIT (IT) [2019] 101 taxmann.
com 142 (Delhi), the Delhi High Court held that the LO 
of GE Energy Parts Inc. (GE US), established to act as 
a communication channel, was carrying out core activity 
of marketing and selling highly-sophisticated equipments 
of the US company, and hence the LO was a fixed place 
PE of the assessee company in India. The GE LO was a 
fixed place PE of GE due to the fact that (a) There was 
a fixed place of business; (b) The fixed place of business 
was at the disposal of the employees of the LO, more 
so when GE had not contested that activities of 'some 
form' were not carried out from such premises and thus it 
was reasonable to assume that the activities were carried 
through such premises; (c) Though the final word with 
respect to the pricing of the products was with the HO, 
however, that won't mean that the LO was for mute data 
collection / information dissemination. The LO discharged 
the vital responsibilities or at least had a prominent role 
in contract finalisation, viz., extensive negotiations with 
its customers, customisation of the products with respect 
to the requirements of the customers, negotiating the 
financial parameters of the products and not allowing the 
overseas entity to alter such terms without the consent 
of GE India, etc. Accordingly, the LO was not performing 
merely liaising activities. Defining the terms preparatory 
or auxiliary activities as 'something remote from the 
actual realisation of the profits', the Court held that the 
activities performed by the LO would not fall within the 
exception provided under Article 5(3)(e) of the India-USA 
DTAA.

The Court also held that GE's overseas entity had agency 
PE for the following reasons: (a) Where the expatriates 
/ employees performed activities for different entities 

of the same group, then it could not be construed that 
activities had been performed for a single enterprise. 
Accordingly, the GE India (through the employees of the 
LO and Indian subsidiary), constituted a dependent agent 
of GE overseas MNC; (b) Relying on the decision of the 
Italian Court it held that the active and major participation 
/ involvement of the employees / representatives in the 
negotiations / meetings with the customers indicated that 
the agents had 'authority to conclude contracts', even if 
final contracts were concluded by the GE HO.

7. FUND REMITTANCE SERVICES – 
Decision of the Supreme Court in 
the case of Union of India vs. U.A.E. 
Exchange Centre
In respect of fund remittance services, the Supreme Court 
in Union of India vs. U.A.E. Exchange Centre [2020] 
116 taxmann.com 379 (SC) held that an Indian LO of a 
United Arab Emirates (UAE) company did not constitute 
a PE in India.

U.A.E. Exchange Centre (the assessee), a company 
incorporated in the UAE, is engaged, inter alia, in 
providing to non-resident Indians in UAE the service of 
remitting funds to India. For its India-centric business, the 
assessee had set up four LOs in Chennai, New Delhi, 
Mumbai and Jalandhar after obtaining prior approval from 
the RBI u/s 29(1)(a) of the erstwhile Foreign Exchange 
Regulation Act, 1973.

As per the business practice followed by the assessee, 
the funds collected from the NRI remitters are remitted to 
India by either of the following two modes:
(i) Telegraphic transfer: Under this mode the amount is 
remitted telegraphically by transferring directly from the 
UAE through normal banking channels to the beneficiaries 
in India and the LOs have no role to play except attending 
to complaints regarding fraud, etc.
(ii) Physical dispatch of instruments: Under this mode, 
on a request from the NRI remitter, the assessee sends 
instruments such as cheques / drafts through its LOs to 
beneficiaries in India. For this purpose, the LOs download 
the particulars of the remittance (while staying connected 
to the server in the UAE), and print and courier the 
instruments to beneficiaries in India.

In this case, the contract pursuant to which the funds are 
remitted to India is entered into between the assessee 
and the NRI remitter in the UAE. Moreover, the funds for 
remittance as well as the commission are collected in the 
UAE.



95BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT  JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

 639 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ

From A.Y. 1998-99 to 2003-04, the assessee was filing 
Nil returns in India on the basis that no income had 
accrued or deemed to have been accrued in India under 
the ITA or the India-UAE DTAA. However, owing to some 
doubt expressed by the Revenue, the assessee filed 
an application for advance ruling before the Authority 
for Advance Rulings (AAR) in 2003 seeking a ruling on 
‘whether any income is accrued / deemed to be accrued 
in India from the activities carried out by the company in 
India’.

AAR decision
The AAR ruled that the income of the assessee was 
deemed to have accrued in India on the basis that it 
had a ‘business connection’ in terms of section 9(1) of 
the ITA insofar as activities concerning physical dispatch 
of instruments was concerned. The AAR observed that 
without the activities of the Indian LOs, the transaction 
of remittance would not be complete. Further, the 
commission earned by the assessee covers not only the 
activities carried out in the UAE, but also the activities 
carried out by the LOs in India.

The AAR also held that the ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ 
exception to formation of a PE under the India-UAE DTAA 
would not be applicable in respect of physical dispatch of 
instruments. This was on the basis that a transaction for 
remittance would not be completed without the activities 
of the Indian LOs. Specifically, the AAR noted that the role 
of the LOs’ physical dispatch of instruments is ‘nothing 
short of performing the contract of remitting the amounts 
at least in part.’

Delhi High Court decision
The assessee challenged the AAR ruling by way of a writ 
petition in the Delhi High Court. The High Court noted 
that the AAR’s discussions and findings on the ‘business 
connection’ test under domestic law were unnecessary, 
considering the scope of section 90 of the ITA which 
allows for tax treaties to override domestic law provisions. 
Accordingly, the High Court restricted its analysis to the 
applicable provisions of the India-UAE DTAA, i.e., Articles 
5 and 7.

The Court held that although an LO comes within the 
inclusive list of fixed places of business under Article 5(2)
(c), it is subject to exclusions under Article 5(3), including 
fixed places of business maintained solely for carrying 
out activities which are ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ in nature. 
While relying on the common meaning of the terms 
‘preparatory or auxiliary’ under Black’s law dictionary 

(i.e., activities which aid / support the main activity), the 
Court concluded that the activities performed in respect of 
physical dispatch of instruments were merely ‘preparatory 
or auxiliary’ in nature. It observed that the error committed 
by the AAR was to read the test of ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ 
which permits making a value judgment on whether the 
transaction would or would not have been completed 
without the activities of the LOs and were, therefore, 
significant activities. The Court indicated that the test of 
‘preparatory or auxiliary’ is not a function only of whether 
the activities under consideration led to completion of the 
transaction.

In arriving at its conclusion, the High Court applied the 
judgment of the SC in DIT (IT) vs. Morgan Stanley & 
Co. [2007] 162 Taxman 165 (SC) and accorded a liberal 
and wide interpretation to the exclusionary clause of PE. 
The reason for this was that by invoking clauses of PE, 
income which otherwise neither accrues / arises in India 
becomes taxable in India by virtue of a ‘deeming fiction.’

Supreme Court judgment
An SLP was filed by the Revenue against the High Court 
decision. The core issue before the Apex Court was 
whether the activities carried out by the LOs in India 
would qualify the expression ‘of preparatory or auxiliary 
character’ as mentioned in Article 5(3)(e) of the India-
UAE DTAA.

In confirming the finding of the High Court that the activities 
conducted by the LOs were ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ and 
hence excludable from the purview of PE, the Supreme 
Court also referred to the limited permission granted 
by the RBI under FERA to the assessee regarding the 
activities to be conducted by the LOs.

The Supreme Court noted that as per the nature of 
activities allowed for under the RBI permission, the 
LOs were only allowed to provide incidental service of 
delivery of cheques / drafts drawn on a bank in India. 
They were not allowed to perform business activities 
such as (i) entering into a contract with any party in India; 
(ii) rendering consultancy or any other service directly or 
indirectly with or without consideration to anyone in India; 
(iii) borrowing or lending any money from or to any person 
in India without RBI’s permission. Thus, it was amply 
clear that the LOs in India were not to undertake any other 
activity of trading (commercial or industrial) or enter into 
any business contracts in its own name in India. On this 
basis, the Supreme Court concluded that the nature of 
activities conducted by the LOs as circumscribed by the 
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RBI constituted ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ in character, and 
hence outside the purview of PE.

The Court noted further that through the LOs the assessee 
was not carrying on any business activity in India, but 
only dispensing with the remittances by downloading the 
information from the UAE server and printing the cheques 
/ drafts. The LOs could not even charge commission / fee 
for their services. Therefore, no income actually accrued 
to the LOs u/s 2(24) of the ITA.

The Supreme Court further held that the activities of the 
LO of the taxpayer in India are limited activities which are 
circumscribed by the permission given by the RBI and 
are of preparatory or auxiliary character and, therefore, 
covered by Article 5(3)(e). As a result, the fixed place 
used by the respondent as LO in India would not qualify 
the definition of PE in terms of Articles 5(1) and 5(2) of the 
DTAA on account of non-obstante and deeming clause in 
Article 5(3) of the DTAA. Hence, no tax can be levied or 
collected from the LO of the taxpayer in India in respect of 
the primary business activities concluded by the taxpayer 
in the UAE.

The Supreme Court also observed that after the 
enactment of the Finance Act, 2003, Explanation 2 to 
section 9(1)(i) of the Act was inserted which defined 
business connection as business activity carried out by 
a person on behalf of a non-resident. In this regard, the 
Court held that even if the stated activities of the LO of 
the taxpayer in India are regarded as business activity, 
the same being ‘of preparatory or auxiliary character’, by 
virtue of Article 5(3)(e) of the DTAA, the LO of the taxpayer 
in India which would otherwise be a PE, is deemed to be 
expressly excluded from being so. Since, by a legal fiction, 
it is deemed not to be a PE of the taxpayer in India, it is 
not amenable to tax liability in terms of Article 7 of the 
DTAA.

At present, there are few precedents which provide 
guidelines for the ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ test such as 
(i) to check whether the activities performed in the fixed 
place of business form an essential and significant part 
of the enterprise as a whole as held in Western Union 
Financial Services Inc. vs. ADIT [2007] 104 ITD 40 
(Delhi); (ii) whether the activities performed in the fixed 
place of business form part of the core business activities 
of the enterprise, as held in Angel Garments Ltd. [2006] 
287 ITR 341 (AAR).

After analysing the facts, the Supreme Court held the 

activities of the LOs to be of ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ 
nature without setting out guidelines for the application 
of the ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ test. It would have been 
extremely helpful if the Supreme Court would have 
laid down detailed guidelines for the application of 
the ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ test.

The above ruling is quite relevant for money remittance 
companies and potentially other businesses which 
are primarily operated from outside India with some 
preparatory or auxiliary activities in India.

It is to be noted though that India has introduced an 
equalisation levy of 2% on certain non-resident service 
providers providing services to customers in India, and 
its application with respect to the specific facts may need 
evaluation.

Further, the above decision is a welcome decision, 
wherein along with providing comments on the meaning 
of ‘preparatory or auxiliary character’, the Court has re-
affirmed the guiding principle of ‘treaty override’ which 
forms the pillar of the international tax law in India.

The Supreme Court has laid emphasis on bringing out the 
characteristics of what can be termed as ‘of preparatory 
or auxiliary character’ which shall be relevant for future 
cases. Further, the Court has defined the rationale of 
taxability due to which the judgment shall hold persuasive 
value for similar cases.

The decision seems to lay down a broad guideline 
that where the activities of an LO are restricted to the 
approvals granted by the RBI, such activities should 
qualify as preparatory or auxiliary in nature and should 
not constitute a PE in India.

8. PRECAUTIONS REGARDING LOs FOR 
NOT BEING CONSIDERED AS PEs
The important point here would be to restrict the activities 
of the LO to preparatory or auxiliary work only. Further, 
the LO should not venture into or towards activities 
which could be viewed as commercial or core activities 
undertaken on behalf of the foreign entity or its group 
entity. If it does so, not only could the LO trigger a PE risk 
in India, but it could also be seen as going beyond the 
domain of the activity permissions granted by the RBI. 
Further, appropriate documentation should be maintained 
to prove that the activities of the LO are preparatory or 
auxiliary in nature such as, for instance, the RBI approval 
letter in the case of the U.A.E. Exchange Centre, which 
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reflected that the activities of the LO were mere support 
services to the foreign parent entity.

In our view, one should not presume that an LO or place 
of business will not constitute a PE merely because the 
RBI or a government body has given permission for 
its establishment in India. To determine the Indian tax 
implications, it is critical to examine whether the LO is 
carrying out an important part of the business activity of 
the foreign company (i.e., a commercial activity which is 
core income-generating), or whether it is merely aiding or 
supporting activities of the main business.

9. BEPS ACTION 7 AND MULTI-
LATERAL INSTRUMENT (MLI)
While analysing the ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ activities, one 
may additionally need to be mindful of the BEPS Action 
Plan 7 and Article 13 of the MLI which deal with the issue 
of artificial fragmentation of activities between various 
group companies to avail the benefit of ‘preparatory or 
auxiliary’ activities.

Specific activity exemption
In relation to tax treaties to which the provisions of MLI 
regarding specific activity-based exemption apply, it will 
become important to demonstrate that the stated activity 
in the exclusion clause (advertising, storage, delivery, 
etc.) is indeed ‘preparatory or auxiliary’ in nature. As the 
world moves towards complex and innovative business 
models which rely on limited physical presence in the 
country where the customers reside, foreign players must 
assess, based on the facts, whether their Indian presence 
can still be said to be merely aiding the core business in 
order to avail exemption under the respective tax treaty.

Anti-fragmentation rules
Article 13 is incorporated in the MLI with a view to address 
the issue of artificial avoidance of the PE status through 
fragmentation of activities between closely-related 
enterprises. Thus, businesses carrying out more than 
one activity in a country which earlier individually were 
getting covered under the term ‘preparatory or auxiliary 
character’ and hence were not forming a PE in India, 
could be subject to the provision of Article 13 of the MLI. 

Accordingly, such activities may thus form a PE in India if 
the activities performed when seen cumulatively exceed 
what can be considered as of ‘preparatory or auxiliary 
character’.

However, one would have to first check whether Article 13 
of the MLI applies to the relevant DTAA in question.

With MLI coming into force and India being a signatory 
thereto, going forward the business models would need 
to be independently examined under the provisions of the 
MLI for ascertaining whether or not a PE is established. 
Now, with implementation of BEPS and signing of MLIs, 
litigation on this issue may further intensify as the Indian 
tax authorities would now have additional ammunition to 
target the LOs.

India has opted for Option A and anti-fragmentation 
rules. Accordingly, in India no specific exemption would 
be available unless the activities are preparatory or 
auxiliary in nature and also there should not be artificial 
fragmentation of activities within the group.

10. CONCLUSION
Whether or not the activities of LOs constitute a PE of 
the non-resident entity is a very fact-specific and vexed 
issue. In the past, where an LO has exceeded its scope of 
permitted activities, courts have held that such an LO can 
constitute the PE of the foreign entity in India. Therefore, 
it is important to ensure at all times that an LO in India 
operates within the limits set out by RBI.

The determination of the question as to whether any 
activities of an LO qualify as preparatory or auxiliary in 
nature would depend upon the facts of each case and the 
nature of business of the taxpayer. In order to decide the 
status of the LO, a functional and factual analysis of the 
activities performed by it needs to be undertaken.

It is very important to keep in mind that all the 
aforementioned judicial precedents should be critically 
analysed in the light of BEPS Action Plan 7, MLI and 
changes in the OECD Commentary, before applying the 
same on the factual matrix of a particular case. 

द:ुखिरः सुखिरो िावप सखरुतन्यतरं सिा गतरः।
 Whether in sorrow or in happiness, a friend is always a friend’s support.

— (Valmiki Raamaayan 4.8.40)
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HISTORY OF RCM IN INDIA
Reverse Charge Mechanism or RCM is not a new concept 
in the Indirect Tax arena. It was first introduced in India in 
1997 on services provided by Goods Transport Agency 
and Clearing and Forwarding Agent. Even the erstwhile 
Sales Tax and VAT Laws in some states had a tax similar 
to RCM, the purchase tax wherein the buyer or recipient 
of goods had to pay tax on purchase of specified goods; 
for example, Maharashtra levied a purchase tax on cotton. 
The current GST regime has only taken this forward, 
bringing in some more categories of goods and services 
under the net of RCM.

India is not the only country with RCM provisions; most 
of the developing and developed nations have RCM 
provisions including EU VAT, Australia, Singapore, etc. The 
underlying reason for introducing RCM in India was to map 
the unorganised sector and shift the compliance liability 
regarding the same to the organised recipients. It was 
believed that this would lead to increase in tax revenue 
and make administration of the small unorganised sector 
easy.

From an economy’s perspective, RCM is a robust check 
mechanism to ensure that all supplies are taxed and there 
is minimal evasion. However, the concept has certain flaws 
and repercussions that need to be dealt with.

RCM UNDER GST
RCM under GST is governed by sections 9(3) and 9(4) 
of the CGST Act, 2017 which essentially lay down the 
following:
(a)  9(3): Supply of specified categories of notified goods 
and / or services attract GST under RCM where the 
recipient is liable to pay tax on such goods and / or services;
(b) 9(4): Supply made by an unregistered person to a 
registered person, wherein the registered recipient shall be 
liable to pay tax.

Further, Notification No. 13/2017-CT (Rate) dated 28th 
June, 2017 notifies the categories of supplies which shall 

attract GST under RCM u/s 9(3) of the CGST Act, 2017. 
Considering that under the RCM provisions the recipient 
pays tax instead of the supplier, the recipient is eligible to 
avail Input Tax Credit (ITC) of the tax so paid. However, 
as per section 17(3) of the CGST Act, 2017 the value of 
exempt supply shall include reverse charge supplies and 
therefore ITC on the inputs and / or input services used 
for making such reverse charge supplies is not available. 
Accordingly, the ITC pertaining to such supplies stands 
unutilised and blocked.

While the recipient certainly bears the brunt of the 
compliance burden on RCM supplies, he remains 
financially unaffected as the tax paid can be availed as 
credit (subject to his taxable and exempted supplies). 
However, this provision proves to be prejudicial against the 
supplier who is unable to avail ITC pertaining to inputs or 
input services used for supplying RCM supplies and also 
leads to double taxation.

Moreover, if such supplier is engaged only in a single 
business (i.e., RCM supplies), the entire ITC paid becomes 
a cost to him. Let us understand this with the help of a 
numeric example as given below:

Sr. 
No.

Particulars Under normal or 
forward charge 

mechanism

Under reverse 
charge 

mechanism
1 Value of inputs and 

/ or input services 
used by the supplier

100 100

2 GST paid on 1 
above @ 18%

18 18

3 Value addition made 
@ 30%

30 30

4 Cost of production 
(COP)

130 130

5 Profit @ 30% of 
COP

39 39

6 Selling price 169 169
7 GST on selling price 

@ 18%
30.42 30.42 (paid by 

recipient)

JIGAR DOSHI
Chartered Accountant

IS IT FAIR TO TREAT RCM SUPPLIES 
AS EXEMPT?
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Sr. 
No.

Particulars Under normal or 
forward charge 

mechanism

Under reverse 
charge 

mechanism
8 ITC available for 

set-off
18 -

9 Net GST paid 
by the supplier

12.42 18

10 ITC available to 
recipient

30.42 30.42

In the above example, it is evident that although the 
recipient in both cases is eligible to avail the same ITC, it 
is the supplier who faces iniquitous treatment.

Under GST, there are exempt, zero-rated, taxable and 
non-GST supplies. For supplies that are either taxable 
or zero-rated, ITC is available to the supplier. However, 
for exempt and non-GST supplies such as essential 
items, reverse charge supplies, petroleum, alcohol, etc., 
the suppliers suffer as they pay GST on the inward side 
but fail to avail the set-off of the same as their outward 
supplies are not taxed. When GST was being rolled out, 
the GST Council had received several representations 
from sectors such as pharma, poultry, education, etc. 
to examine the problem of accumulated ITC on account 
of exempt supplies. However, the problem remains 
unaddressed till now as far as RCM is concerned.

During the Covid-19 outbreak, the Supreme Court 
dismissed various pleas which had sought exemption 
from GST for masks, ventilators, PPE kits and other 
Covid-19-related equipment on the premise that granting 
exemption to these would result in blocked ITC, thereby 
increasing the manufacturing cost and occasioning a 
higher price for consumers.

The Council has in the past taken steps to address the issue 
of inverted duty structure. However, the businesses which 
deal in exempted supplies are still reeling from the impact 
of accumulated credits. The Council needs to deliberate on 
the probable solutions to the above-mentioned concerns. 
The immediate actions could include:

(i) Taking stock of items which are exempt supplies, 
including the RCM supplies;

(ii)  Evaluating the inward supplies used by such suppliers;
(iii)  Exempting the inward supplies for the entire chain of 
suppliers if feasible, or providing a mechanism of refunds 
to such suppliers;
(iv)   If not feasible, then classifying the outward supplies 
as zero-rated supplies so that ITC is available to the 
suppliers;
(v)  An option can be provided to the RCM sellers: 
whether to be classified as an RCM supplier or not. This 
will give an alternative to sellers to evaluate the trade-off 
between the cost of compliance and credit lost. Suppliers 
with substantial credit can avail the ITC and carry out 
the compliances themselves as against the small 
suppliers who would not like to get into the compliance 
hassle. Similarly, this can be indicated in the tax invoice 
so as to inform the buyer about whether or not to levy 
GST under RCM on the basis of the option chosen by the 
supplier.

CONCLUSION
Is it fair for the RCM suppliers to endure the unwarranted 
loss of credit for the simple reason that their products 
or services, viz. sponsorship services, legal services, 
security services, GTA services, cashew nuts, silk yarn, 
raw cotton, etc. are covered by the said mechanism?

As discussed above, RCM is a tax concept meant for 
the small and unorganised sector. Therefore, shouldn’t 
the government be extra vigilant about any financial 
hardships being caused to these small traders and 
businesses by the tax mechanism? Every business 
incurs certain non-avoidable expenses including rent, 
audit fees, housekeeping, business promotion, etc. All 
these input services are exigible to GST and constitute 
a large chunk of the expenditure in the supplier’s profit 
and loss account. The GST pertaining to these expenses 
not being allowed as ITC gives rise to superfluous 
adversities.

One of the most prominent objectives of GST was to 
eliminate cascading effect and double taxation. While 
the government has, to a large extent, been able to meet 
this objective, it remains to be seen whether the RCM 
suppliers will also experience the benevolence of the 
Good and Simple Tax soon enough! 

मनत्मू्लं च विजरं प्रिदसनर मनससिनः
Wise men say that the root of victory is in consultation with the wise. 

—  (Valmiki Raamaayan 6.6.5)
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STATISTICALLY SPEAKING
AKSHATA KAPADIA I PARTH DESAI 

Chartered Accountants

1.  Registration of foreign portfolio investors in India going downhill

Source: Prime Database
Note: July, 2020 figures considered up to 15th July, 2020
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Source: Accenture report on system resilience in times of 
unprecedented disruption

Source: International Monetary Fund
Note: Reserves for China are for the month of April, 2020. The rest 
are for May, 2020

Source: Statista
Note: Excludes YouTube’s own channels

Source: National Association of Software and Services Companies 
(NASSCOM) report on IoT: Driving the Patent Growth Story in India

2.  Systems resilience before Covid-19

4.  India’s foreign exchange reserves is the 
world’s fifth largest (in billion $)

5.  YouTube channels with most subscribers

3.  IoT patents filed in India from 2009 to 2019
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ETHICS AND U

Arjun: Hey Bhagwan, you have a habit of staying too 
close to your Bhaktas (devotees). But I request you to 
please keep yourself a little away from me.

Shrikrishna (smiling): Why? Anything wrong with me? Or 
with you?

Arjun: No. But better to maintain social distancing in this 
corona pandemic.

Shrikrishna: Arrey Arjun, this pandemic has occurred only 
because you people have kept ME at a distance. Come 
close to ME and you will be free from all worries.

Arjun: Really? But you keep on causing headaches to us 
by talking about this Code of Ethics. You were telling me 
about the New Code of Ethics. Good that the New Code 
has come now.

Shrikrishna: Oh, surprising! You were always cursing the 
Code of Ethics and how is it that even without knowing 
about the New Code, you say it is good?

Arjun: Yes. As it is we never studied the old code 
seriously. Whatever we learnt at the time of the exam, 
we have forgotten. Now we can directly go for the New 
Code.

Shrikrishna (smiling): No, Arjun. The New Code is not 
replacing the old code. It is in addition to the existing 
code, with some changes.

Arjun: Oh my God! Actually, I am fed up with these virtual 
meetings of study circles. Every alternate day they are 
boring us with this New Code.

Shrikrishna: Last time I had started telling you about the 
New Code, and you wanted to know more.

Arjun: Yes. Instead of listening to those lectures, it is 
better that you tell me about it. I register there just to 
get CPE.

Shrikrishna: That is unethical, Paarth. You are not truthful 

to yourself!

Arjun: Anyway, tell me, the New Code has become 
effective from 1st of July, right?

Shrikrishna: Yes. But the good news for you is that some 
of the aspects have been deferred.

Arjun: Arrey waah! Very good. So no need to know about 
them! What are those topics?

Shrikrishna: Last time I told you about NOCLAR.

Arjun: Yes, non-compliance of Laws and Regulations.

Shrikrishna: Yes. Basically it was applicable only to the 
listed companies. But it has been deferred.

Arjun: What next?

Shrikrishna: The one of your interest is about the taxation 
services to audit clients.

Arjun: Good. And what was that 15% fees point?

Shrikrishna: If out of your total fees, more than 15% 
is received from one single audit client for two 
successive years, then you need to communicate it to 
that client.

Arjun: And what will the client do? Will he remove us? 
What is the logic?

Shrikrishna: See, you should not be independent but 
appear to be independent. If you are heavily depending 
on one single client, you are likely to compromise on the 
quality of audit. It is a self-interest threat.

Arjun: True. You need to broad-base your practice.

Shrikrishna: So, for example, your major fee, say 60 to 
70%, is from one audit client, you are supposed to tell 
this to that client and demonstrate that you are truly 
independent.

C.N. VAZE 
Chartered Accountant
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Arjun: What else is postponed?

Shrikrishna: The non-audit services like management 
consultancy services to the audit client. Similarly, under 
Indian circumstances, auditors are commonly rendering 
taxation services. So that is also deferred.

Arjun: Any more postponement so that we don't need to 
bother about it?

Shrikrishna: The independence standards which were 
adapted from the International Ethical Standards have 

also been deferred.

Arjun: Good. Now next time please tell me what is 
immediately implemented. We will keep that in mind while 
doing this year's audit.

Shrikrishna: Yes, dear. Surely, I will.

Om Shanti!

Note: This dialogue is based on implementation of the 
New Code of Ethics w.e.f. 1st July, 2020. 

मुमुषू्यणाम ्रु सियेषाम ्रतपथरं रनन रोचरे
One who is bent on courting his death will not take kindly to 

sage counsel given by his well-wishers 
—  (Valmiki Raamaayan 3.53.17)
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REGULATORY REFERENCER

DIRECT TAX

1. CBDT further extends tax compliance, other due 
dates under the Taxation and Other Laws (Relaxation of 
Certain Provisions) Ordinance, 2020. [Notification No. 35 
of 2020 dated 24th June, 2020.]

2. Income-tax (13th Amendment) Rules, 2020 – 
Rule 2BB amended to prescribe exemptions which 
can continue to be claimed by an assessee opting for 
the new taxation regime prescribed u/s 115BAC of 
the Act. [Notification No. 38 of 2020 dated 26th June, 
2020.]

3. Income-tax (16th Amendment) Rules, 2020 – 
Rule 31A amended. It notifies amendments in 
TDS statement under Form 26Q with respect to 
sections 194A, 194J, 194K, 194LBA, 194N, 194-O, 
197A and 200. [Notification No. 43 of 2020 dated 3rd July, 
2020.]

4. CBDT further relaxes the time frame prescribed 
under second proviso to section 143(1) and directs 
that all validly-filed returns up to A.Y. 2017-18 with 
refund claims, which could not be processed u/s 143(1) 
and have become time-barred, subject to the exceptions, 
can be processed now with prior administrative 
approval of Pr. CCIT/CCIT by 31st October, 2020. 
[F No. 225/98/2020ITA-II dated 10th July, 2020.]

5. One-time relaxation granted for verification of 
returns for A.Ys. 2015-16, 2016-17, 2017-18, 2018-19 
and 2019-20, which were uploaded electronically by 
the taxpayer within the time allowed u/s 139 of the 
Act and which have remained incomplete due to non-
submission of ITR-V Form for verification. Such returns 
can be verified by sending a duly signed physical copy of 
ITR-V to CPC, Bengaluru through speed post or through 
EVC/OTP modes. Such verification process must be 
completed by 30th September, 2020. CBDT further directs 
that such returns shall be processed by 31st December, 
2020 and intimation of processing of such returns shall 
be sent to the taxpayer. [Circular No. 13/2020 dated 13th 
July, 2020.]

ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT

A. The timeline for submission of financial results 
for the quarter / half-year / financial year ending 
31st March, 2020 by listed entities (Regulation 33 of 
the LODR Regulations) has been further extended by 
a month to 31st July, 2020 on account of the pandemic. 
[SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD1/CIR/P/2020/106 
dated 24th June, 2020.]

B. Guidance Note on The Companies (Auditor’s 
Report) Order, 2020 – The ICAI has issued a Guidance 
Note on CARO, 2020 (applicable for audits of F.Y. 2020-
21 and onwards) to enable auditors to comply with its 
reporting requirements. [ICAI Guidance Note issued on 
1st July, 2020.]

C. Applicability of the revised edition of Code of 
Ethics – The following provisions of Volume – I of Code 
of Ethics, 2020 is deferred till further notification: (a) 
Responding to NOCLAR; (b) Fees – relative size; and (c) 
Taxation services to audit clients. [ICAI announcement 
dated 1st July, 2020.]

D. Extension of timeline for finalisation of audited 
accounts by applicable NBFCs – Applicable NBFCs shall 
finalise their balance sheet within a period of three months 
from the date to which it pertains, or any date as notified 
by SEBI for submission of financial results by listed entities. 
[RBI Notification No. RBI/2020-21/11 dated 6th July, 2020.]

E. Guidance on Accounting for expenditure on CSR 
Activities – The ICAI has issued a Technical Guide 
on Accounting for Expenditure on Corporate Social 
Responsibility Activities with the objective of providing 
guidance on related recognition, measurement, 
accounting, presentation and disclosures aspects. [ICAI 
Technical Guide issued on 6th July, 2020.]

F. Extension of the last date of filing Form NFRA-2 
– The time limit for filing Form NFRA-2 for F.Y. 2018-19 
will now be 270 days from the date of deployment of the 
form on the NFRA Website. [MCA General Circular No. 
26/2020 dated 6th July, 2020.] 

SONALEE GODBOLE I VINAYAK PAI 
Chartered Accountants
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MISCELLANEA
JHANKHANA THAKKAR I CHIRAG CHAUHAN

Chartered Accountants

I. Business News

An emoji is worth a thousand words

On the day dedicated to the little pictures that save a 
thousand characters on phone and computer keypads – 
17th July – hopefully, people remembered that thanks to 
emojis the world is going back to the days of unfettered, 
unlettered visual communication. Language has come full 
circle from our most ancient ancestors’ parietal art to the 
graphic novels and emojis of our times, obviating the need 
for letters, numbers and punctuation marks. As emojis 
make further inroads into our written communication, 
the only people who may have reason to grumble are 
grammarians and pedants, as this mode disregards all 
rules and, indeed, language itself.

The purists could conceivably have retained some 
clout if emoticons had prevailed as they use letters, 
numbers and punctuation marks. But they are now 
increasingly irrelevant as in the expanding emoji 
world there is simply no need to know words such 
as hippopotomonstrosesquippedaliophobia or its 
correct spelling, much less devise a pictographic 
equivalent for it.

Esperanto has been trying for 133 years to become the 
world’s preferred auxiliary language, but in one-eighth 
of that time – especially since 2010 – emojis have 
already found their way into well over 90% of online 
communication. With its ability to express emotions as 
well as an idea, emojis are clearly the text-best thing to 
verbal conversation.

(Source: ET Bureau – 18th July, 2020)

II. Business

Global real estate investment plunged by 33% in 
first half of the year

KEY POINTS
(1) The largest decline was seen in the Asia Pacific 
region, down 45%,

(2) By sector, investments in hotels suffered the steepest 
drop, down 59% on a global basis,
(3) Industrial properties showed the most resilience, with 
investments slipping by only 4%.

Cross-border investments in global real estate plunged 
by 33% in the first half of the year compared to the first 
half of 2019, according to a report released by Savills, 
the London-based global real estate services provider.

The largest declines were seen in the Asia Pacific region, 
down 45%, and the Americas, down 36%.

By sector, investments in hotels suffered the steepest 
drop, down 59% on a global basis. Investments in retail 
properties and office spaces plunged 41% and 40%, 
respectively.

Industrial properties showed the most resilience, with 
investments slipping by only 4%.

Interestingly, investments in residential properties in 
Asia Pacific actually surged by 105% – partly boosted 
by the purchase of a Japanese apartment portfolio by 
Blackstone Group for about $3 billion in February, 2020.

‘Overall, the global 33% fall in real estate investment 
activity so far this year is less than the decrease at the 
start of the global financial crisis in the first half of 2008, 
when real estate investment volumes across the world 
fell by 49% and continued falling until mid-2009,’ said 
Sophie Chick, Director of Savills World Research team. 
‘Unsurprisingly, those asset classes that have been most 
[affected] by social distancing measures have been hit 
hardest, while industrial and residential, which is a long-
term income play, have been impacted least.’

By region, Europe, the Middle East and Africa, or EMEA, 
saw only a 19% decline in investments.

‘The huge increase in entity-level deals in EMEA has 
helped insulate that market from the biggest falls as 
some buyers have used this period for opportunistic 
M&A or equity deals,’ Chick explained.

20
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Simon Hope, Savills’s head of global capital markets, 
added, ‘Volumes are expected to remain well below pre-
pandemic levels for the rest of 2020 as investors wait for 
market clarity. However, certain sectors are expected to 
outperform as investors focus on secure assets, namely 
logistics, residential and life sciences.’

Hope also noted that looking ahead, ‘there seems to be 
general consensus across G8 governments around the 
world to build their way out of this downturn, turning on 
a tap of capital for infrastructure projects. This generally 
bodes well for the real estate industry as it potentially 
creates more assets to invest in as well as reducing 
unemployment rates.’

(Source: International Business Times – By Palash 
Ghosh, 20th July, 2020)

III. Financial accounting news

How U.K. audit scandals pushed Big Four toward 
split: QuickTake

A spate of scandals has put accounting firms in the 
U.K. on the back foot. The collapse of Carillion Plc and 
subsequently Thomas Cook Group Plc, have been among 
cases that raised questions about auditing standards at 
the so-called Big Four firms. In response, Deloitte, Ernst & 
Young, KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers have agreed 
to separate their auditing and consulting departments by 
2024 to avert possible conflicts of interest, a move that 
critics say does not go far enough.

1. How bad have things got?
Bad enough that the U.K. government promised to reform 
the audit industry after a Parliamentary report two years 
ago into the collapse of Carillion, a major outsourcing 
company. The report panned Carillion’s accounting 
methods, KPMG’s soft audits and weak accounting 
regulation. Sidetracked by Brexit, a general election 
and the coronavirus pandemic, the government has yet 
to follow through. In the meantime, the accounting firms 
have taken action along with the regulator, the Financial 
Reporting Council, partly to pre-empt government moves.

2. What have they agreed to?
The plan, announced on 6th July, to split consultants from 
auditors aims to ensure the Big Four won’t baulk at tough 
audits so as not to jeopardise lucrative consulting contracts 
at the same companies. In the regulator’s words, the firms 
need to do a better job of backing ‘auditors making tough 

decisions.’ The deal is a significant concession by the Big 
Four, which fiercely opposed splitting auditing functions. 
However, it doesn’t convincingly address conflicts of 
interest between supposedly independent auditors 
selling consulting work to their clients. Under the deal, the 
auditors can still earn close to half of their revenues from 
consulting, staff can switch between audit and consulting 
positions, and auditors are under the control of the firm’s 
chief executive officer who also oversees the consulting 
divisions.

3. Will it work?
Unlikely. Richard Murphy, an accountant and economics 
professor at City University in London, says this is a 
cosmetic exercise designed to make the Big Four look 
more independent but ignores the lack of independence 
and competition that have blighted audit quality in the 
U.K. Critics say the voluntary agreement lacks regulatory 
muscle and will not be enforceable. Some groups 
have said that it will fail to stimulate competition from 
smaller firms or make auditors more independent of their 
clients.

4. What about the regulator?
The FRC has powers to sanction firms and individual 
accountants for deficient auditing, and does so. 
Without legislation, however, the agreement isn’t legally 
enforceable and has been criticised for allowing the big 
firms to continue offering consulting services. The move 
was taken partially to pre-empt lawmakers from weighing 
in with their own, likely tougher, solution.

5. Why the need for reform?
The Carillion collapse in 2018 that shocked lawmakers 
into action came after the government refused to bail 
it out, costing almost 3,000 jobs and leaving 30,000 
suppliers and sub-contractors with 2 billion pounds ($2.5 
billion) in unpaid bills. Administrators liquidating its assets 
believe KPMG’s auditing was negligent in relation to its 
long-term construction contracts and goodwill. Thomas 
Cook collapsed in September, 2019, leading to 9,000 
job losses in the U.K. and leaving 150,000 tourists stuck 
overseas. That also sparked an investigation by the FRC 
into auditor Ernst & Young.

6. Have things improved since then?
No. Middle Eastern hospital operator NMC Health 
Plc, listed in London, started unravelling this year after 
unearthing undisclosed debt amid allegations of fraud, 
leading to the departure of top executives. The FRC 
opened a probe into Ernst & Young’s auditing of NMC’s 
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financial statements. And in Germany the admission by 
payments company Wirecard AG in June that 1.9 billion 
euros ($2.2 billion) it had reported as assets probably 
never existed led to the resignation of Chief Executive 
Officer Markus Braun and his subsequent arrest, with the 
company filing for court protection from creditors. Ernst 
& Young’s refusal to greenlight Wirecard’s long-delayed 
2019 financial report followed reports by the Financial 
Times raising questions about Wirecard’s accounting 
practices. Ernst & Young called it an ‘elaborate’ fraud that 
even a very rigorous probe may not have discovered.

7. What will the government do?
The U.K. government has promised to replace the FRC 
with a new regulator, the Audit, Reporting and Governance 
Authority, as recommended by an independent report in 
2018. Unlike the FRC, this will be a statutory body with 
legal powers granted by Parliament to regulate the big 
accounting firms directly. The government still says it will 
act on the findings of three reports it commissioned after 
Carillion’s collapse. Beyond the accounting-consulting 
split, the recommendations included requiring large listed 
companies on the FTSE 350, such as Aviva Plc and Tesco 
Plc, to use joint auditors to help bring other firms into the 
market and creating a distinct auditing, as opposed to 
accounting, profession. All these moves would require 
legislation, however, and Parliament may not have the 
time to pass the necessary laws.

8. Does this sound familiar?
Yes, it’s reminiscent of regulatory action taken in 
Washington almost two decades ago. Since 2002, auditors 
of publicly-traded companies in the U.S. operate under 
strict rules that bar them from providing most consulting 
services to their audit clients. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
was part of Congress’s response to accounting scandals 
that brought down Arthur Andersen LLP and its clients 
Enron Corp. and WorldCom Inc. It also imposed audit 
regulations and created the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board, which enforces standards and annually 
inspects the largest firms. U.S. regulators are increasingly 
concerned about the patchwork of regulations in force 
around the world. Securities and Exchange Commission 
chief Jay Clayton said in December that he wants more 
financial reporting and audit uniformity worldwide.

9. What’s next in the U.K.?
The Big Four have promised to submit plans to the FRC 
by October next year, before a split effective in 2024. That 
gives the government time to pass legislation and audit 
reform proposals may be released in the coming months. 
Though legislation would supersede the agreement, there 
is speculation the government could use this pact as a 
reason to put audit reform on the back burner.

(Source: Bloomberg Tax – By Guy Collins, Hugo Miller, 
17th July, 2020) 
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The 71st Annual General Meeting of the BCAS was, for the 
first time, held online on Monday, 6th July, 2020.

The President, Mr. Manish Sampat, took the chair and 
called the meeting to order. All the business as per the 
agenda contained in the notice was conducted, including 
adoption of accounts and appointment of auditors.

Mr. Samir Kapadia, Hon. Joint Secretary, announced 
the results of the election of the President, the Vice-
President, two Honorary Secretaries, the Treasurer and 
eight members of the Managing Committee for the year 
2020-21.

OFFICE-BEARERS
President Mr. Suhas Paranjpe
Vice-President Mr. Abhay Mehta
Joint Secretary Mr. Mihir Sheth
Joint Secretary Mr. Samir Kapadia
Treasurer Mr. Chirag Doshi

COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Mr. Anil Doshi Mr. Anand Bathiya
Mr. Ganesh Rajgopalan Ms Divya Jokhakar
Mr. Jagdish Punjabi Mr. Rutvik Sanghvi
Mr. Kinjal Shah Mr. Mandar Telang

CO-OPTED MEMBERS
Mr. Bhadresh Doshi Mr. Zubin Billimoria
Mr. Vaibhav Manek Mr. Hardik Mehta
Ms Kinjal Bhuta Mr. Shreyas Shah

EX-OFFICIO
(Outgoing President) Mr. Manish Sampat
Member (Editor - BCAJ)  Mr. Raman H. Jokhakar

The ‘Jal Erach Dastur Awards’ for the Best Articles and 
Features appearing in the BCAS Journal during the year 
2019-20 were also presented on the occasion.

For Best Article the Award went to CA Bangaru Ishwar 
Teja, CA Nitish Ranjan and CA Dinesh Chawla for their 
Article: Income Tax E-Assessments – Yesterday, Today 
and Tomorrow. The Award for Best Feature went to CA 
Jayant Thakur for Securities Laws.

The July special issue of the BCA Journal was e-released 
by Mr. Deepak Parekh. It carried special articles on ‘Risk 
and Technology Challenges for Professionals’ in addition 
to the regular articles and features. An e-book, 'MLI - 
DECODED', authored by CA Ganesh Rajgopal, was also 
released.

Before the conclusion of the AGM, members, including 
Past Presidents of the BCAS, were invited to share their 
views and observations about the Society.

The Founding Day lecture was delivered at the end of the 
formal proceedings of the AGM. It was an outstanding oration 
by CA Deepak Parekh, Chairman of HDFC, who spoke on 
the topic ‘Chartered Accountants in Uncharted Times’. 
It was attended online by more than 3,000 professionals on 
Zoom and the YouTube channel of the BCAS.

OUTGOING PRESIDENT’S REPORT

MANISH SAMPAT: I feel very proud 
and satisfied as I rise for the last 
time as President of our illustrious 
Society. It is an honour and a 
privilege to have led the Bombay 
Chartered Accountants’ Society 

during a memorable and unprecedented year. We continue 
to march ahead and strive to achieve greater heights of 
performance year after year by building on the excellent 
work done by all previous Presidents. The last three 
months have been challenging and unmatched for us in 
terms of conducting our normal activities of education, 
training and spreading knowledge. But we converted all 
the challenges that came our way into opportunities and 
continued with our endeavour of spreading knowledge with 
even more vigour and zeal.

I would like to begin with where I had ended my installation 
speech. I had mentioned then that the BCAS is a collective 
organisation and the President, by chance, gets one year 
to head it. And now, after a year, I am fully convinced about 
this fact. What I did in the year gone by was the collective 
effort of the entire team and I was just fortunate to lead 
this team. As it is said in cricket parlance –‘the captain is 
as good as the team’. So, you be the judge and you will 

71ST ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND 
72ND FOUNDING DAY, 6TH JULY, 2020
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value system, our processes and the entire structure.

Imagination and innovation do not come with an age limit 
and have no expiry date. At our Society, we benefit from the 
diversity in thinking, perspectives, experience and age. We 
serve our members through expertise developed through 
experience as well as innovative ideas from the youth. We 
need a balance between both and cannot do away with any 
one of them. That is why we remain relevant, committed 
and respected even today.

During the year we attempted some experiments and did 
away with some past practices – we tried to do things 
differently rather than doing different things. I am satisfied 
and happy to announce that most of our experiments 
were successful and were appreciated by members. As 
we move forward we continue to have the same vision of 
continuing to grow and transform ourselves for the benefit 
of all our stakeholders who have trusted us and had faith 
in us. Some of the initiatives include LM in the suburbs, 
increasing the number of joint programmes with other 
organisations, industry bodies, outstation programmes, 
sector- and industry-specific events, Women’s Day LM, 
Bapu@150, IA RSC, etc. to name a few.

On the financial front, let me be honest. Some may not 
like this, but I would like to mention it. From the beginning 
of the year I had decided and aimed for building on our 
coffers and strengthening our financial position. And our 
financial performance for F.Y. 2019-2020 speaks for 
itself. No doubt this year we benefited from an increase 
in subscription income (without any fall in membership) 
but this year had other challenges such as the load of two 
budget meetings in a year, loss of revenue from a couple 
of well-paying programmes during the last ten days of 
March and falling interest rates. However, due to strategic 
efforts on identifying avenues for raising revenue (without 
overcharging our members), bumper sale of the Referencer, 
calendar and pocket dairies, financial prudence, cost-
cutting measures and avoiding wasteful expenditure, we 
were able to achieve a financial performance that will come 
handy on a rainy day.

Things are going to change for me from tomorrow. I cross 
the floor and go back to the other side. From tomorrow I 
once again become a common member. The question is 
what will I miss from tomorrow?

My affair with BCAS comes to an end; but it’s like a nasha 
– the more you get involved, the greater is the intoxication. 
Some of the things that will change are:

know just who is worthy of credit for all the good things that 
took place during the year. But I take responsibility for the 
debits, if any, that might have accumulated.

In my acceptance speech I had also mentioned that I am 
indebted and owe a lot to this organisation because it has 
had a significant role and contribution in my professional 
development. Contributing to it by heading it was my 
chance to repay our Society. But I feel that this did not 
happen. Just like a mother always gives to her children 
and does not accept anything in return, it was BCAS that 
kept on giving me more and more during the year rather 
than me repaying my debts.

It taught me lessons in life, management and leadership.
I learnt how to deal with people and difficult situations.
I have learnt that along with power comes responsibility 
and you need to be humble and considerate when you are 
in a position of power.
I learnt management lessons of collective leadership – if 
you want to be a successful leader you can’t be running 
alone and you need to take everyone along with you.
By the end of my tenure, I matured as a person and as a 
leader. I learnt how to be patient and understanding and 
learnt people management.

But it is nature’s law that in the circle of life you should 
never take more than what you can give. So I have tried my 
best and sincerely put in all my efforts in whatever I did as 
President, to maintain and build upon the goodwill, ethos 
and value systems of our Society.

Such is the greatness and selfless nature of the institution. 
It always gives, gives and gives.

I started my journey as President with anxiety, not knowing 
how the year would pan out but I go back with so many 
beautiful memories and with wonderful, long-lasting friends 
made on the way. During the year I also got a lot of support 
from everyone, at times even from unexpected sources. 
No doubt, personal relations count but I think the support 
was more for the Society rather than for me personally. 
Yes, personally, I became close friends to many Past 
Presidents, Managing Committee members, Conveners 
(whom I had just known) and this is going to last for a long 
time to come.

So far we have been successful and are in meaningful 
existence for more than seven decades; this in itself is 
testimony and shows that we have got something right. 
There is something strong and positive in our DNA, our 
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• Checking multiple email IDs in the inbox.
• Many seniors addressed me as ‘President’– so I will 

become Manish Sampat again from tomorrow.
• Many of my contemporaries were addressing me 

with the suffix ‘bhai’. Removing ‘Bhai’ from my 
name, so that I go back to being just Manish for all 
of you.

• My WhatsApp status line before my term was ‘Not 
responsible for delay in reply’ which I had changed 
after taking over as President. I hope to go back to 
my earlier status.

• I will miss the lessons in MLI, digital economy and EL 
that I used to compulsorily get from the International 
Taxation Committee.

• Writing twelve President’s Columns, month on 
month (in time) was a real challenge. It was like 
having twelve deliveries in the year.

• Most importantly, now I will not be able to make 
excuses both at home and at office about being busy 
with BCAS work, which I have got so used to now.

• There are many more such instances, but I can’t list 
all of them here.

I need to thank quite a few people who have tolerated all 
my whims and tantrums during the year.

First, my family – The situation at home is such that I have 
been completely written off. Initially, I was asked whether I 
would make it for a late night movie and I was included in 
the dinner plans; but since the past couple of years I have 
never been consulted, my ticket is never bought and I have 
not been a part of any plans by the family. So much so, 
that on birthdays my wife continues to get surprise birthday 
cakes and other such gifts and I get a yoga mat as my 
birthday gift!

My CNK family, partners, staff and more particularly my 
team... I always had this privilege in office and I was 
relieved from any responsibilities as I had the excuse of 
being busy with the BCAS Presidentship, but now I go 
back and don’t have any excuses left with me. Thank you, 
CNK family and all my partners and staff for supporting me, 
for tolerating my weird time schedules and temper at times. 
But I know that since I have four Past Presidents with me at 
CNK, they would understand me. Shariqbhai, Gautambhai, 
Himanshubhai and Sanjivbhai were always there whenever 
I needed any advice. I must make a special mention of 
Praful and all others in my team who ensured that work 
continued smoothly even without my physical involvement.

A big thank you to all the Past Presidents who showered 

their blessings on me and were always available 
whenever I called upon them. I hope I have lived up to 
their expectations and the faith and responsibility they had 
bestowed on me.

All the Chairmen and Co-Chairpersons of the 
Committees – I had said that these are the captains of 
the tournament and found each and every one of them 
working harder than anyone else. I believe that since they 
are all Past Presidents, they know the Society better than 
anyone else. They can’t go wrong. The entire credit for the 
success of all the events goes to them and my contribution 
is limited to giving them a free hand and never getting 
involved or interfering with their working. Even today, as 
I speak, a representation has been sent by the Taxation 
Committee.

In my Management Committee, I got the most wanted 
support. My thanks to all the Committee members for their 
active and constructive participation. I was blessed with 
a very vibrant and vocal Managing Committee and many 
new ideas and initiatives emerged from it. I believed in 
empowering it and involving them in the decision-making 
process because the future leadership of BCAS will evolve 
and emerge from here. We have to ensure that they are 
groomed and ready for taking up leadership positions.

As for my Office-Bearers, there was continuous 
consultation with them and all decisions were taken 
collectively and unanimously.
• In Suhas we have a silent worker who does not like to 

make any noise but contributes in his own style; he was 
always available and a big supporter.

• In Abhay we have a very mature and able administrator 
– custodian of our financial resources, he ensured that 
we got more than the adequate surplus which I had 
targeted.

• In Mihir we have a perfect communicator, observant 
and very good at all the Committee and back office 
paperwork.

• Samir (my old buddy) again is a very silent, dedicated 
worker, technologically savvy and loyal to the institution 
to the core.

• I can say that my ‘wolf pack’ rocked and we had a great 
time together.

• I also thank the support staff at the BCAS, Upendra, 
Shreya, Javed and their team. I might have been harsh 
on them at times, but I was just acting as a trustee and 
in the interest of the Society and had no other intentions. 
I also thank all our vendors, printers and others for their 
support throughout the year.
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Finally, a big Thank You to each and every member. 
Whatever was achieved during the year is only because of 
the faith and the patronage of all of you. I got unprecedented 
support from members every time and for every event. We 
did not have to cancel even a single programme due to 
insufficient enrolment. I was lucky that in all the LM, events, 
workshops, RRCs we had very good attendance and the 
feedback was very encouraging. Even at live streaming of 
the budget there was record attendance, better than in the 
recent past.

All new initiatives executed during the year have been 
mentioned in detail in the Managing Committee report so I 
would not like to repeat them; but I would now like to speak 
about the developments in the last three months.

Speaking today, I think that the pace at which the activities 
of the BCAS were being carried out, only an external force 
or an act of God could have stopped them.

It is said that necessity is the mother of invention. So 
far we were only talking about and planning to go 
digital with our activities. But the circumstances since 
March have forced us to reinvent ourselves. I am happy 
to inform you that we quickly transited to an online 
platform and were able to reach a much wider audience 
and get high profile and knowledgeable speakers for 
BCAS programmes. To our immense satisfaction, our 
internal assessment actually shows that we have been 
successful in delivering more man-hours of training by 
way of live attendance and follow-up hits on our YouTube 
channel. We managed to clock almost half of the man-
hours of training (during the three months of lockdown) 
than we were usually clocking in in an entire year through 
physical meetings.

There a few misses also during the year, some incomplete 
agenda which I could not complete:

The BCAS mobile App.
The Professional Accountants’ course.
Organising a cricket tournament – the BCA Premier 
League.
Naming the junction outside our office as BCAS Chowk.
Having a core team in place to start planning and working 
towards our 75th anniversary.

At times I took time to take a decision and left it till the 
last, but that perhaps is my working style. I take too much 
pressure at the end but ultimately deliver. But frankly, I 
think I enjoy this pressure.

I think you require strong administrative and people 
management skills to run an organisation and this is what I 
have benefited from and gained.

Online events are here to stay and this brings a different 
set of challenges – will we require the administrative set-
up that we currently have? We need to reorganise and 
restructure our internal operations and infrastructure which 
should be the focus in the coming year.

To conclude, my biggest take-away from my term as 
President is what I realised and learnt: That difference 
of viewpoints is healthy for an organisation to grow and 
remain dynamic. There could be different and completely 
opposite strong views but all volunteers are working in the 
interest of the institution and the leader is responsible for 
building consensus, finding a balance and coming out with 
a win-win solution acceptable to all.

With these words, I wish the incoming team of Suhas, 
Abhay, Mihir, Samir and Chirag all the very best. I have 
worked with them so I am very confident of their capabilities 
and abilities to have a super successful year ahead.

Now I say a final goodbye and a big thank you and gratitude 
for all your love, support and affection. I vacate this office 
with a lot of satisfaction and a sense of achievement.

Thank you.

INCOMING PRESIDENT’S SPEECH

SUHAS PARANJPE: This is a very 
humble, sentimental and responsible 
moment for me as I take up the 
responsibility as President of this 
august body, the Bombay Chartered 
Accountants’ Society, BCAS.

Before I start, let me first remember and thank all those 
who have been part of my journey both in my career and 
at BCAS.

First and foremost, thank you from the bottom of my heart to 
all the respected Past Presidents who have contributed so 
much to this Society. I am humbled that they all considered 
me fit and proper for this position. The list of all my mentors 
and guides at BCAS is too long to quote and I just don’t 
have the words to thank them.

However, since we have just observed the auspicious day 
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of Guru Purnima, let me take this opportunity to seek all 
your blessings with folded hands and this prayer:
त्वमे्व माता च पिता त्वमे्व ।
त्वमे्व बन ध्ुशच सखा त्वमे्व ।
 
Thank you, all Past Presidents and my seniors.

Today, I would like to remember and thank my father, the 
late Shri Shivaram Paranjpe who always gave me a good 
perspective and directions at the right time and put me in 
the right hands which shaped my career. Thank you, Baba.

My mother Smt. Shalini and my wife Swati had full 
faith and confidence in me and supported and encouraged 
me throughout this journey. Swati plays the important role 
of critic for my all-round improvement. Our son Aarav 
is too young to understand about BCAS and though he 
entered into our life as per his convenience, he gave us 
the purpose, the focus and better directions. Thank you, 
my family.

My sincere thanks go out to the late CA Dr. Rashmibhai 
Zaveri. It was because of his relations with my father that 
I got connected with my partners. Thank you, Rashmibhai, 
and I am sure you are happy and smiling today.

CA Mayurbhai Vora and CA Bharatbhai Chovatia, who 
have been my partners and mentors for the past three 
decades, have always been the force behind me in my 
journey as a professional. They are like the magic stone 
पारस (paras) that converts things into gold. Their families 
always treated me as their own member. My younger 
partners, Kinnari and Bhakti Vora, Ronak Rambia, Vinit 
Nagda and our enthusiastic but matured youth brigade in 
the office have always stood behind me. Thank you, my 
office friends and colleagues.

My special thanks to outgoing President Manish for his 
guidance and for always making himself available to me for 
help and assistance. Under your Presidentship, Manish, 
you could carry out many activities and kept the BCAS flag 
flying high.

Your year was a combination of Physical + Virtual. With 
all-round support this year, we could plan for the year 
2020-21 an equally vibrant and innovative plan of action, 
full of experiments and possibilities for the future. As I 
understand it, the year ahead would be Virtual + Physical. 
I must say that you have ensured an excellent foundation 
in the last three months for the Virtual part of the year 
ahead. We wish you good luck and happy times ahead – 

both professionally and personally. However, I wish you will 
continue to be a guiding force for the BCAS in the years to 
come. Thank you, Manish.

Let me now move ahead.

Since mid-March, 2020, the whole world has been 
living in challenging times due to the Covid pandemic. 
The long lockdown has given each one of us a different 
perspective to life, work, relationships – the challenges 
and opportunities. All of us have now experienced different 
situations like Work from Home, Work for home (without 
domestic help), strict social distancing norms, events on 
Zoom, Hangout, etc. We are now all familiar with these 
‘new normals’.

Let me share with you two situations – (on a lighter note) 
to give you a different perspective over and above the ‘new 
normals’ as mentioned above. It relates to the game of 
lawn tennis, which is my favourite.

We did not see a tennis court for more than three months 
– an unprecedented situation. As you are aware, in tennis 
we are allowed to play only singles games and not doubles 
due to social distancing. In singles, since you do not enjoy 
the support of a doubles partner, you have to be far more 
fitter with a lot more stamina. This is the current situation 
and (I hope) it would change in future.

Secondly, there are no ball boys on the courtside as of 
now to help the players, they have all gone to their native 
places or disappeared. When we play, other players 
become ball boys and vice versa. This is self-help on the 
tennis court – and it can be termed as an aatmanirbhar 
experience.

Now let me move to more serious business, to give you a 
brief of the BCAS Theme for 2020-21 and also our annual 
plan.

Our focus areas for this year will be:

(1) Higher reach and scalability – all around – to the 
members and the profession at a reasonable cost;
(2) Hand-holding for MSME / SME businesses and 
practitioners for a sustainable future;
(3) Digital and technology transformation with experienced 
hands and youth force.

These focus areas have been articulated in three ideas 
condensed in three headings, viz.



113BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT  JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

 657 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ



114 BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

658 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ 



115BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT  JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

 659 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ

‘Tradition – Transition – Transformation’

In the above logo, the sign of the pen represents 
‘TRADITION’. And the six squares at the top represent the 
digital medium.

1. TRADITION: OUR FOUNDATION
At BCAS, our core values, our ethical practices, our 
governance, our tradition of hand-holding by seniors 
are our foundation and shall continue to guide us during 
the phase of transition and transformation. BCAS has 
always been and would continue to be a principle-
centred, learning-oriented institute with quality services 
as its benchmark. In the last three months, BCAS and its 
dedicated team of volunteers have demonstrated that even 
in the time of lockdown, BCAS is proactive and adaptable 
to the changing situations. In other words, TRADITION AS 
FOUNDATION CONTINUES TO GUIDE US.

2. TRANSITION
Transition is a process of change. It could be a short-term 
phase but it is crucial. World organisations and practices 
cannot just transform themselves tomorrow morning. They 
have to go through the crucial phases of transition. In 
nature, there are some of the best examples of transition, 
such as the metamorphosis of a caterpillar into a beautiful 
butterfly, or an eagle which starts the process of change at 
a later stage in life for survival.

Why only nature, we also have Indian corporates transiting 
from a single textile mill to petrochemicals, to oil and gas, 
to retail and digital platforms, and with much more to come. 
You will agree with me that it makes all Indians proud to be 
a part of such a transition.

In our profession in general, and on the BCAS platform in 
particular, there are CAs who started as proprietors and 
transited themselves into bigger / larger personalities and 
firms consolidating and becoming Indian giants. There are 
several in-house examples.

This year, with large corporates finalising their accounts 
with virtual audits, with AGM’s being conducted online, 
including our own, our events, including RRCs, were 
and would be conducted online. This is the conceptual 
change of new experiments and experiences beyond our 
imagination. In other words, 
THIS IS THE YEAR OF CHANGE / TRANSITION.

3. TRANSFORMATION:
Transformation is an outcome of change or transition.

Today, we are in the era of digital transformation. This 
will help us to enhance our reach and scalability without 
boundaries and at reasonable costs. Apart from this, it 
could help us to reach out to the MSMEs / SMEs and our 
large family of BCAS members by hand-holding them for 
a sustainable future. Yes, there would be less personal / 
human touch. But I am sure technology will evolve itself and 
adopt a human face with innovation and creativity. Sitting in 
your office or home, ease of technology would give you an 
experience of being in Vizag or in Kodaikanal or in Bali. It 
looks like this would be our Residential Refresher Course 
module this year.

In view of the economy taking a big hit, it has become much 
more crucial for Chartered Accountants, including the small 
and medium PR actioners to transform themselves into the 
role of business advisers apart from helping their clients in 
compliances.

On the healthcare front which is so critical now, it has 
become so important to transform ourselves to different 
levels of body immunity to deal with this virus or other kinds 
of diseases in future. Each and every one of us should 
follow a specific fitness and meditation regime to stay 
healthy and safe – both physically and mentally.

Yes, we need to avoid an overdose of webinars. But 
with the outstanding quality of our contents, faculties 
and administrative discipline and capabilities, digital 
transformation would give us an opportunity to take BCAS 
to new heights. It would be easier and cost-effective to 
connect with sister organisations and different regional 
organisations and their members. There are possibilities 
that with innovative initiatives we can reach the 10,000 
membership mark which has been in our bucket list for a 
long time.

In the next generation, youth force would be the torch-
bearers of this transformation under the guidance and 
support of experienced mentors. The youth are the 
technology anchors and are better equipped to handle 
it. This year all the Committees have added more youth 
power with the specific aim of giving them opportunities to 
perform and excel.

A robust and secured technology platform and infrastructure 
is the backbone of this transformation arena. We might 
have opted for a particular platform today, based on 
technical inputs of the Committees, but we would try to be 
vigilant in respect of the strength and security parameters 
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of the tech platforms. Suggestions and guidance from time 
to time would be welcome to keep us on track.

This is the ANNUAL PLAN.

BCAS is a dynamic platform to perform. It also gives 
you the power to perform.

Let me share with you two personal experiences. First, 
when I was nominated as Vice-President for 2019-20, one 
of the senior Past Presidents and my BCAS mentor told 
me that this position offers a kind of power to perform for 
a purpose and for the profession. How true these words of 
wisdom have turned out to be when I look back to the year 
which has just passed by.

The second experience is more than an observation. For 
the first time in my BCAS journey, I was fortunate enough 
to make six contributions to the BCAJ in the year 2019-
20 by way of Namaskaar, Book Review, an Article and the 
column Is it Fair. It is like shooting from 0 to 6 – just as in 
tennis you win a set at 6-0!

For me it was self-appraisal and not self-praise. I only 
wish to bring to the notice of the next generation that the 
power of the BCAS platform always encourages you to 
perform but you need to be focused and maintain self-
discipline.

Now a small note on financials.

I wish to state that this year would be financially challenging 
for businesses, professionals, employees and even to the 
Government. Similarly, at BCAS it appears as though there 
would be our usual fixed costs with lesser revenue. But I 
am confident that my Office-Bearers, Managing Committee 
members, Committee Chairmen and the entire Core Group 
would come up with out-of-the-box thinking and present 
ideas both to augment our revenues and also to increase 
membership.

To conclude, I wish to assure all of you that with the support 
of all the Past Presidents and seniors, along with the Office-
Bearers, Managing Committee members, the youth power 
and the assistance of the BCAS staff, we would perform 
and deliver our best in these challenging times in the year 
ahead. Please continue to share your thoughts and guide 
me in this journey.

As I take up the new position, I would like to release the 
E-Core Group Diary with 250 Core Group members who are 
the lifeline of our Society. It is a part of digital transformation 
that we release it today in E-version. I acknowledge the 
contribution of our Past President Narayan Pasari who 
always signs off this diary with his eye for detail. Thank 
you, Narayanji.

We would print it and send it to members in due course 
when logistics improves.

I thank you for your patient hearing. 
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7TH YOUTH RESIDENTIAL REFRESHER 
COURSE

The 7th YRRC was organised by the Human Resource 
Development Committee of the Bombay Chartered 
Accountants’ Society from 29th to 31st May, 2020. 
Considering the unusual circumstances of the nationwide 
lockdown due to the Covid-19 pandemic, a unique online 
RRC was conceptualised, wherein a wide variety of topics 
was organised across five sessions and ten hours over a 
three-day refresher course – all this from the comfort of 
the participants’ homes.

‘Seven Chakras of the Professional World’, the theme 
of the event, was meant to cover seven different aspects 
of the profession – World, Nation, Business, Network, Me, 
Mind and Soul. A perfect blend of knowledge, the YRRC 
provided a great opportunity to all the participants to 
expand their horizons. It sought to present different online 
networking activities for interaction amongst the global 
participants.

A glimpse into the events of the YRRC.

The YRRC covered 14 different topics addressed by a 
stellar line-up of speakers from across the world as under:

Topic Speaker

1 Leadership Niranjan Hiranandani, 
Mumbai

2 Entrepreneurship David Wittenberg, Mumbai
3 The world has tipped: Are you 

prepared?
Raj Nair, Mumbai

4 Story of a shy boy from Gujarat to 
senior position in BCAS

Kanu Doshi, Mumbai

5 World economics H.E. Zulfiquar Ghadiali, 
Abu Dhabi

6 Indian economics Dr. Shubhda Rao, Mumbai
7 The role of development finance 

institutions and how to access 
funding for projects in emerging 
markets

Jeffery Stoddard, 
Washington D.C.

Topic Speaker

8 Networking from home Manoj Gurshahani, 
Mumbai

9 Is work your identity? Avatar Lila, Mumbai

10 Image management Mihika Bhanot, Pune
11 Voice improvement & modulation Dr. Manisha Soni, Mumbai
12 Sustainability of happiness Padma Shri T.N. 

Manoharan, Chennai
13 Building resilience Shubhika Bilkha, Mumbai
14 Living with the unknown - 

Anecdotal renderings from a 
lifetime experience of the unknown

Lt.-Gen. Syed Ata 
Hasnain, New Delhi

The content and the presentations by the speakers were 
clearly a class apart. They delivered their points and ideas 
with great clarity. They got the participants thinking on 
whether to be an entrepreneur or do a job in an industry or 
become an ‘intrapreneur’ (a new concept well explained). 
The participants obtained a better understanding of what 
skills one must possess to be a leader and how world 
economies play their role in shaping one's life. We are 
all now at least aware of how to be ready for the world 
that has already tipped. One of the key learnings for the 
participants was ‘How to Network Digitally’, especially in 
the times of Covid and in our lives thereafter. They also got 
a glimpse into the concepts of voice modulation and image 
management as well as their importance in our personal 
and professional lives. The participants were given deep 
insights into and made aware of the importance of being 
prepared for any unforeseen situation, be it a war-room 
or a boardroom.

Their sensitivities tickled, the participants came up with 
interesting questions that were addressed extensively 
by the speakers, and yet left everyone wanting more. 
In fact, all the scheduled breaks between speakers 
were invariably used in extracting even more out of the 
knowledgeable speakers.

The event had over 150 participants from 26 cities across 
the world, with technology diminishing the distance 
between their locations.

SOCIETY NEWS
MIHIR SHETH I SAMIR KAPADIA 

Hon. Jt. Secretaries



118 BOMBAY CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT JOURNAL  AUGUST 2020

662 (2020) 52-A  BCAJ 

Agra Bhilwara Jaipur Mumbai Porbandar

Ahmedabad Birganj (Nepal) Jamnagar Nagpur Pune

Aurangabad Chennai Nairobi Nashik Thane

Bangalore Coimbatore Lucknow Navi Mumbai Vadodara

Bareilly Hyderabad Margao Navsari Varanasi

The participants also took active part in the after-hours 
sessions like the ‘People Tambola’; ‘Lost on the Island’ 
– a strategy game; and a Relay Video challenge called 
‘YRRC’s Got Talent’. Though there was no physical 
interaction between the people, all these activities 
ensured optimum networking. At the end of the 

YRRC, everyone had made some new friends in the 
profession whose support they could draw upon at 
any time. For participation in these networking 
activities, the participants were divided into six teams 
and points were awarded to the teams for the different 
activities.

At the closing session, participants were already asking 
about the next YRRC! They truly appreciated the concept 
and execution of the event. It was an event that was 
truly ‘By the Youth, Of the Youth and For the Youth’. The 
participants bid farewell to one another and promised to 
stay connected digitally.

YRRC WALL OF FAME: OUR SPEAKERS

Dr. Niranjan Hiranandani

H.E. ZulfiquarGhadiali

Avatar Lila

Raj Nair

Dr. Manisha Soni

Lt.-Gen. Syed Ata Hasnain

David Wittenberg

Dr. Shubhda Rao

Mihika Bhanot

Shubhika Bilkha

Kanu Doshi

Manoj GurshahaniJeffery Stoddard

Padma Shri T.N. Manoharan
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GLIMPSES FROM THE SESSIONS

After-hours games and networking sessions (below)
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Top L-R: Ankit Gudhka, Prajit Gandhi, Namrata Dedhia, 
Anand Kothari
Middle L-R: Namrata Shah, Virag Shah, Dhruv Shah, 
Kinjal Bhuta
Bottom L-R: Sneh Bhuta, Naushad Panjwani
In Circle: Gaurav Save

DEEPAK PAREKH DELIVERS FOUNDING 
DAY LECTURE

For the first time in the history of the Bombay Chartered 
Accountants’ Society, the Founding Day lecture was 
delivered online before a virtual audience. It was the 72nd 

Founding Day and the programme lined up for the evening 
was a mouth-watering one – a talk by the inimitable 
Mr. Deepak Parekh, Chairman of HDFC and a qualified 
Chartered Accountant.

Organised with the help of the software called ZOOM, 
the meeting was held on 6th July and was witnessed by 
135 online viewers – plus another 2,500 enthusiasts who 
watched it on YouTube.

The subject itself was intriguing, ‘CAs in Uncharted 
Times’, and the speaker was a stalwart in every sense 
of the term.

President Manish Sampat performed three functions. 

The Team - Behind the Scenes He welcomed the speaker, gave the viewers a brief 
background of the activities of the BCAS and also 
introduced the speaker.

Mr. Parekh started his talk by complimenting the Society 
on its leadership in the profession and said that 72 years 
was indeed a very long time for an institution to sustain its 
reputation and retain its values. He also lauded BCAS for 
the illustrious speakers that it had invited for its Founding 
Day lectures in previous years.

He pointed out that the world was going through 
unprecedented times with no past model against which to 
benchmark it. In such times, decision-making was difficult 
because the future was just not predictable. Therefore, the 
need of the hour was ‘inclusive leadership’ which could 
help institutions to sail through. This would be possible 
only through collaboration and the free flow of information 
between individuals and institutions rather than by working 
in silos.

Recalling an oft-repeated dictum, he said that there 
were decades when nothing happened and then there 
were weeks when decades happened. Therefore it was 
imperative to understand that the time had come to 
reset skills. At the same time, there was a silver lining 
in the current situation – it was time to accept the reality 
of staying at home and using that as an opportunity to 
develop patience and to spend quality time with near and 
dear ones.

In such unchartered times, CAs, especially auditors, 
would have to be willing to meet the challenges in respect 
of internal controls and possibly redefine their work so 
that scams do not get uncovered later. Several recent 
experiences of large-scale frauds had pointed to the 
need for auditors to become more intuitive and ensure 
that valuations are conservative and the concept of ‘going 
concern’ in the changed paradigm is not compromised. 
This would go a long way to help protect the interests 
of all stakeholders. India, despite its much acclaimed 

Mr. Deepak Parekh
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developments on many fronts, had not made much 
progress on human health economy to tackle crises of 
such enormity and scale as posed by the coronavirus 
pandemic.

Mr. Parekh said that India was seeing its fourth recession 
in recent times. But unlike the previous recessions which 
were due to agricultural failure, the current recession 
was of a different dimension. The fiscal deficit was 
high, corporate performance was subdued and the 
realty sector was saddled with stock that was difficult to 
liquidate. However, the positive aspect was that India 
could see some green shoots thanks to the bumper crop, 
current account surplus, and maintenance of investment 
grade status by credit rating agencies, low interest rates 
and increased FII inflows resulting in a robust foreign 
exchange reserve balance.

He lamented the fact that rating agencies were being 
unfair to India in not giving due credence to these facts. 
Liquidity was returning to NBFCs, global crude rates 
were at their lowest and GST collections were showing 
steady signs of returning to normal levels. Under these 
circumstances, there were sufficient new opportunities 
such as Environment Social Governance (ESG) and 
technology-oriented new areas such as Data Analytics, 
IT Audit, Artificial Intelligence and Big Data for small and 
medium CA firms and the CAs must make efforts to adopt 
them. The vast data collected and available will need 
analysis and none better than CAs would be able to do 
justice to it. He firmly believed that there was enough 
room for the SME sector to co-exist with the ‘Big 4’. He, 
however, agreed that there was need to improve the 
compensation standards for CAs to ensure better quality 
work and to justify the responsibilities, risks and liabilities 
that they undertake.

Overall, Mr. Parekh exuded an aura of positivity, 
asserting that India and its CAs had a very bright future. 
A significant difference would be made by the resilience 
of the Indian people and the strength and ability of domestic 
consumption to help the economy to bounce back.

The vote of thanks was proposed by Hon Jt. Secretary 
Mihir Sheth.

VIRTUAL TALK ON ‘INSPIRED LIVING’

Dr. Mayur B. Nayak conducted an inspiring virtual 
session ‘Inspired Living’ for the Study Circle of the Human 
Resource Development Committee on 14th July.

He started by pointing out that the human body is made up 
of five basic elements of nature, namely, earth, water, fire, 
air and space known as Panch Mahabhutas in Sanskrit. 
These exist in different proportions. For example, our 
body consists 72% of water.

Balancing these five elements is of utmost importance 
for good health. Such a balance can be attained by the 
practice of yoga / exercises, mudras, pranayama, through 
natural sources, diet variations and meditation.

Drawing an analogy, Dr. Mayur pointed out that the five 
elements could be said to be related to five different 
aspects of the human personality, namely, (i) Physical, 
(ii) Mental and Emotional, (iii) Intellectual – Personal and 
Professional, (iv) Social, and (v) Spiritual.

Earth element was linked to the physical dimension 
of one’s personality. Hence it was important to remain 
grounded and physically fit for taking a major leap in life. 
Emphasis was placed on the three key Pranayamas, 
viz., Anulom Vilom, Bhastrika (followed by Sheetali) and 
Kapal Bhati to increase one’s immunity to fight the current 
corona pandemic. By chanting the ‘Omkar’ mantra 
properly, one can control the movement of energy in 
one’s body. Participants were taught the correct way of 
deep breathing to reduce stress and tension.

The second element water was linked to the mental and 
emotional dimensions of one’s personality. One must 
replace fear with faith, hatred with love, and shame 
with freedom to attain emotional maturity. A unique 3A 
constitution of ‘Accept, Adjust and Appreciate’ was shared 
with the participants to help improve the inter-personal 
relationships. ‘Respond and not react’ was given as the 
mantra to control anger.

Fire element was linked to the intellectual dimension of 
one’s personality, leading to personal and professional 
growth. One must ignite the fire of passion to succeed in 
life. The first step is to do a SWOT analysis, followed by 
developing a right attitude in life. Self-belief is the key to 
success. One must try and explore the hidden potential 
within, Dr. Mayur said.

Air element was linked to the social dimension of 
one’s personality. The emphasis was on spreading 
one’s fragrance through good deeds. Giving is the 
nature of the Divine. It was revealed that one can give 
many things apart from money, such as smile, love, 
hope, blessings, support, hugs, moral support, education, 
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time, appreciation, happiness and so on. Covid-19 
had offered a lot of opportunities to give. And for 
giving one must develop love and compassion in one’s 
heart.

Finally, the space element is linked to spiritual growth. 
The difference between spirituality and science / religion 
was explained. Eight steps of Astang Yoga to attain 
nirvana were highlighted. Spirituality as a way of life was 
explained with a detailed elaboration of the spiritual values 
of life. Emphasis was placed on meditation as a panacea 

for balanced growth in all dimensions of the personality to 
live an inspired life.

The talk comprised of an audio-visual presentation, 
followed by a Q&A session.

The speaker, Dr. Mayur Nayak, also gave some lessons 
to be practised at home for ‘Inspired Living’. The Study 
Circle was well attended by over 70 participants. The 
presentation is available on the YouTube Channel of the 
BCAS. 

अनागरविधानं रु कर्यवरं शु्ममच्छरा।
आपदाशंकमानेन पुरुषने विपस्चरा ॥

A wise man should foresee tragedy or misfortune and take action to prevent or 
overcome such tragedy or misfortune well before it strikes. 

Thus only he can enjoy a safe and good life. 
—  (Valmiki Raamaayan 3.24.11)
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